
PLANNING COMMITTEE
10.00 am

ON
THURSDAY

25 JANUARY 2018

COUNCIL CHAMBER 
SHIRE HALL, GLOUCESTER

MEETING PAPERS





PLANNING COMMITTEE
TIME: 10.00 am
DATE: Thursday 25 January 2018
VENUE: Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester

A G E N D A

ITEM TOPIC CONTACT

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE Andrea Griffiths

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
To receive declarations by members of (a) personal interests (including 
their nature) and (b) prejudicial interests under the Code of Conduct. 
Members who have an interest to declare are asked to complete the 
Declarations of Interests form at the back of the chamber.

Andrea Griffiths

3.  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 20) Andrea Griffiths
To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 27th July 2017.

4.  PUBLIC QUESTIONS Andrea Griffiths
To answer any written public questions about matters which are within 
the powers and duties of the Committee.

The closing date/time for the receipt of questions is 10am on 
Thursday 18th January 2018.

To answer any oral question(s) put by members of the public with 
the consent of the Chairperson, where notice of such has been 
given to the Chief Executive (or their representative) by 9.30am on   
Thursday 25th January 2018. 

Depending on the nature of the questions asked it may not be possible 
to provide a comprehensive answer at the meeting, in which case a 
written answer will be supplied as soon as reasonably possible after 
the meeting.

5.  MEMBERS' QUESTIONS Andrea Griffiths
To answer any written members’ questions about matters which are 
within the powers and duties of the Committee.

The closing date/time for the receipt of questions is 10.00am on 



Thursday 18th January 2018.

6.  MEMBERS SITE VISIT (Pages 21 - 30) Sarah Pearse
To receive the notes of the Members Site Visit held on 18th 
January 2018. 

7.  APPLICATION NO: 13/0042/STMAJW SITE: LAND ADJACENT 
TO FOLLY FARM, KINGSWOOD, WOTTON UNDER EDGE, 
GLOUCESTERSHIRE GL12 7QX (Pages 31 - 112)

Sarah Pearse

The Committee is asked to consider the proposal for the 
importation of soils and sub soils to create noise attenuation 
bunds associated with clay pigeon shooting and associated 
landscape works.  

8.  APPLICATION NO: 17/0082/STMAJW SITE: FOURWAYS 
FARM, WATER LANE, OAKRIDGE, STROUD, GLOS GL6 7PH 
(Pages 113 - 174)

Marcus Sparrow

The Committee is asked to consider the proposal to change the 
use of agricultural building to Use Class B2 and installation of 
proposed incinerator for the disposal of equine carcasses.

9.  DELEGATED DECISIONS BETWEEN 14TH JULY 2017 & 10TH 
JANUARY 2018. (Pages 175 - 182)

Sarah Pearse

The Committee is asked to note the report.  

10.  ENFORCEMENT SCHEDULE (Pages 183 - 196) Nick Bainton

The Committee is asked to note the report.  

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1. The Sites Inspection Visit will take place on 18th January 
2018.

Please will members meet in the Members Car Park at 
8.55am

2. The Chairman’s Briefing will take place at 12:45pm

NOTES

MEMBERSHIP –Cllr Phil Awford, Cllr Robert Bird, Cllr David Brown, 
Cllr Dr John Cordwell, Cllr Bernard Fisher, Cllr Terry Hale, Cllr Stephen Hirst, 
Cllr Graham Morgan, Cllr Shaun Parsons, Cllr Alan Preest, Cllr Keith Rippington, 
Cllr Steve Robinson, Cllr Pam Tracey MBE, Cllr Robert Vines and Cllr Simon Wheeler

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Jane Burns 01452 428472
 e-mail: jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the 

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk


meeting. 

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect 
reports relating to any item on this Agenda or have any other general queries 
about the meeting, please contact 
AndreaGriffiths, Democratic Services Unit 
: 01452 324206/fax: 425240
e-mail: andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c) TRAINING/SUBSTITUTION – All members must have received recent training 
(since June 2013) before they can sit on the Committee and take part in 
discussion and vote. Substitution arrangements are as set out on page 67 of the 
Constitution. A list of trained Members is available from your Political Assistant.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the 
meeting please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the 
assembly point which is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  
Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

PLANNING COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on Thursday 27 July 2017 
commencing at 10.00 am.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Phil Awford
Cllr David Brown
Cllr Dr John Cordwell
Cllr Bernard Fisher
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Stephen Hirst
Cllr Graham Morgan

Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr Alan Preest
Cllr Keith Rippington
Cllr Steve Robinson
Cllr Robert Vines
Cllr Simon Wheeler

Apologies: Cllr Robert Bird and Cllr Pam Tracey MBE

8. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made.  

9. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

Resolved 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 16th June 2017 be approved as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.  

10. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

No public questions had been received.

11. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 

No Members questions had been received.  

12. MEMBERS SITE VISIT 

Resolved:
 
That the notes of the Members’ Site Visit on the 20th July 2017 be received as 
a correct record.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

13. APPLICATION NO:16/0120/TWR3MJ  SITE: CLEEVE SCHOOL, TWO HEDGES 
ROAD, BISHOPS CLEEVE, CHELTENHAM, GLOUCESTERSHIRE, GL52 8AE 

A summary of the application was presented by Amanda Baylis, Senior Planning 
Officer, aided by a power point presentation.  (A copy of the presentation is 
attached to the signed Minute book).

The site comprised of the existing Academy school, located on Two Hedges Road, 
Bishops Cleeve. It catered for pupils aged 11 to 18 years of age. Members were 
informed that the site was located in a residential area with a mix of bungalows and 
two storey residential properties. There was a mix of designs within the school site 
itself.

The Committee viewed a slide which depicted the existing view of the site, looking 
south from Two Hedges Road. The existing single storey block to be refurbished 
could be seen as well as the existing sixth form building. It was noted that the 
proposed extensions would be located on the existing Sixth Form car park.

Mrs Baylis explained the dimensions of the extension, these being the 
proposed single storey element, which would be 4.3m in height to the top of the roof 
and the proposed two storey element, was 7.8m in height to the top of the roof. 

The proposal was considered to be an acceptable design for a school building, 
which was not at odds with the appearance of the existing school site and 
surrounding area. 
 
It was noted that no windows were proposed at first floor level on the western 
elevation, apart from those that serve the atrium in the north-western corner. This 
would be a double height room, so people would be unable to stand and look out of 
these windows at first floor level. A condition had been recommended to prevent 
any additional openings/glazing on the western elevation. Glazed windows and 
doors were proposed on the western elevation at single storey level. These had 
been inserted for ventilation and design purposes.

The Committee was informed that at its closest point, at single storey level the 
distance between a neighbour’s property building (101 Two Hedges Road) and the 
proposed extension was 16m.   
 
In addition, at its closest point, at first floor level the distance between a neighbour’s 
property and the proposed extension was 23m (to the red line boundary with 16 
Moreton Close) or 24m to the neighbour’s property building (101 Two Hedges 
Road). 

Mrs Baylis explained that due to the proposed car parking, landscaping and access 
road being located between the extension and bungalows and over 16m at single 
storey level, views out of the building into neighbouring properties would be 
obscured in any event.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

It was considered that the proposals in terms of overlooking or overshadowing, 
would not have a significant detrimental impact on the amenities of the 
neighbouring residents. The proposed 15 car parking bays adjacent to the 
neighbours were no closer than existing. 

The Committee were informed that a lighting plan accompanies the planning 
application and revisions had been made to the original scheme, following local 
concerns being raised. Bollard lighting was now proposed around the parking and 
landscaping areas on the western side of the site, which was considered to be an 
improvement for the bungalows in terms of their amenity. 3m high wall mounted 
lighting was proposed on the actual building. The application was accompanied by 
an ‘Environmental Noise Assessment’ and ‘Classroom Noise Break-Out 
Assessment’. The Environmental Health Officer had raised no objections to the 
scheme subject to conditions. It was considered that the proposals in terms of the 
impact of the building, car parking, lighting and noise levels would not have a 
significant detrimental impact on the amenities of the neighbouring residents.

Member’s attention was drawn to a slide showing the existing view of the site from 
101 Two Hedges Road, which was the closest neighbour to the proposal. The edge 
of the bungalow could be seen on the left and the garden was in the rest of the 
photo. Existing buildings within the school site could already be seen from the 
garden. Mrs Baylis reminded members of the visit to this neighbour’s property on 
the Members Site Visit.  It was noted that a letter of objection has been received 
from this neighbour, which was contained within the Committee Report.

Mrs Baylis explained that the Applicant stated that based on current surveys, 14.9% 
of sixth form students drive to school. Based on the proposed number of sixth form 
students (350), this would create a total parking demand of 53 on street car parking 
spaces. The application was accompanied by a Parking Technical Note that 
assesses on street parking in the vicinity. It illustrated that there were approximately 
256 spaces available within 500m of the school from 8am - 5pm on the date of the 
survey. A County Highways Officer had looked at the proposals and had raised no 
objections, subject to conditions.
  
It was pointed out that the County Highways Officer had commented in the report, 
that the travel plan included targets and measures to reduce pupil drop-offs and 
pick-ups and 6th form drivers by 5%, reducing the estimated additional A.M peak 
movements to 65 and P.M. movements to 63. This combined with a 5% reduction in 
current levels of pupil drop-offs and 6th form drivers would result in there not being 
a significant increase on the network to warrant refusal.

In relation to staff parking, it was proposed that only staff would be permitted to park 
on site. There were 100 existing car parking spaces in the north east of the school 
site.  It was explained that 40 additional car parking spaces were proposed within 
the site. These consisted of 25 new car parking spaces, which were proposed 
between the current drop off area and Two Hedges Road and the remaining 15 
new car parking spaces were between the proposed extension and the neighbours 
of Moreton Close & 101 Two Hedges Rd. 
 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

It was noted that two public bus stops were located outside the school site on both 
sides of Two Hedges Road. There were dedicated school bus services that stopped 
within the school site at the beginning and end of the school day.  The Committee 
were informed that further information on parking could be found in the Transport 
Assessment and Parking Technical Note.  With these conditions, the proposal was 
acceptable in terms of highways safety.

There had been 5 neighbour letters of objection had been received from no’s 70, 
72A, 91 and 101 Two Hedges Road and 15 Moreton Close. The Parish Council and 
County Council Local Member had also raised objections. It was explained that the 
concerns related mainly to on street parking, highways, but also referred to 
landscaping, noise and light pollution, height of the extension, overlooking and 
construction. (The full comments could be viewed in the planning committee report).

It was noted that at paragraph 6.2 of the Committee Report, it was the Borough 
Council Local Member who made comments to Tewkesbury Borough Council, not 
the County Council Local Member.

The Committee were informed with the appropriate planning conditions, the 
proposal was of an appropriate design, landscaping and would not have a 
detrimental impact upon the amenity of neighbouring properties, ecology, 
archaeology, flooding, nor on highway safety. Balanced with this was the 
identification in paragraph 72 of the NPPF that great weight should be given to the 
expansion or alteration of schools.
 
Mrs Baylis concluded that the Officer’s recommendation was that planning 
permission be GRANTED for the reasons set out in the report and summarised in 
paragraphs 7.49 – 7.50 subject to the conditions detailed in section 8 of the report 
and in accordance with Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Regulations) 1992.

The Chairman invited the following to address the Committee: 

Objecting: Sue Hillier-Richardson: 

“Thank you chair for this opportunity of addressing the committee.  I’m Sue Hillier-
Richardson, a local councillor for the ward in which Cleeve School is situated. My 
concerns here are shared by our local County Councillor and by many residents 
and other local councillors.

I’ll get straight to the point and what is now the main issue of concern with this 
application - and this is a huge issue for local residents in Cleeve generally, and 
that is one of parking, increased parking often leads to traffic congestion causing a 
risk to road safety, particularly around schools and to increased dis-amenity to 
residents. 

The application before you does not seem to have addressed this issue of the need 
for parking places associated with a larger Sixth Form Building - an estimated 53 
extra spaces being needed.  We all know that sixth formers will inevitably drive to 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

school and these vehicles will be parked for the duration of the school day and even 
later at times. Many may be older and more heavily polluting contributing to a 
decrease in air quality around the school.

It is not acceptable in my opinion, to displace this parking onto surrounding 
residential streets as indicated by the statement in the Parking Technical note that 
"there is sufficient on-street parking provision to accommodate the potential 
demand for sixth form student car parking”.

I do wonder what sort of Planning Policy is this based on? Surely any proposed 
new building such as this must have an associated sustainable parking plan for the 
users of the building?

Many of these streets whilst being narrow are heavily used and already have many 
parked cars on them, as much of this area was built at a time before the current 
level of use of the private car was envisaged and this will simply increase 
congestion, clearly having an impact on the operation of the local highway network, 
contrary to the NPPF. I am surprised that Highways has not objected to this 
application.

I believe this issue of parking provision needs to be reconsidered and a redesigning 
of the site layout in this application, but I would make two points with regard to this:  

Firstly, the school is on a very constrained site, as I’m sure you saw at the site visit 
and any effort to create car parking at the rear of the school buildings would cause 
considerable dis amenity to residents whose gardens back on to the recreational 
space of the school.  I would not wish to see this as an alternative proposal this 
would also considerably reduce the recreational space for the pupils at the school - 
something already impacted upon as the school has increased in size hugely over 
the years.

I feel the need for this development is understood, but not at the expense of road 
safety, increased congestion and dis amenity to residents.  A more sensitive design 
is needed and I therefore urge you to reject this current proposal”. 

Objecting: Mr Bob Smith (Also speaking on behalf of Mr Richard Bond): 
 
“I would like to thank those members of the committee who attended the site visit 
and viewed the scale of the proposed development from my property. From the 
expressions on some of your faces when the height pole was raised, I believe there 
was a strong appreciation of the overbearing nature of this building due to the close 
proximity to my property and that of Mr Bond's at the proposed heights of both the 
single and two storey extensions. lf this development was next door to your 
property how would you feel.

Noise is a major concern to us both because the foot traffic will be closer and with 
the school stating they have designed a flexible layout to cater for all future needs, 
if windows are opened the transmitted noise will become intolerable. We have 
already experienced many noise issue the most recent being an out of hour rock 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

school between 6-8 one evening a week during last term where we experience 
incessant drum beat from an existing 6 Form room some distance away. This 
demonstrates that stated uses of classrooms may change on a need basis, hence 
levels of noise cannot be guaranteed.

We recognise that a noise study has been carried out but this was conducted 
between 9-10.30am which are quiet times and hence does not reflect everyday 
experience. It was also based on the current building which is an acceptable 
distance away from my boundary. 

The Local Member in his comments dated 5 July emphasised the potential traffic 
issues which is of major concern to all local residents. This is made worse by the 
fact that the area for development currently provides parking for 50 vehicles which 
will have to move to the local streets if planning permission is granted. The 
alternate area defined in the planning notes as being available, is already allocated 
to contractor vehicles and material storage. 

Again, as stated in the planning notes this is not solely 6 Form parking, in fact the 
vast majority are teacher vehicles. In the original consultation there was talk of 
parking in the local football club or in council fields opposite but these have come to 
nothing obviously because the walking distance of less about 0.5 miles is viewed to 
be excessive.

With the school transport policy not coming into effect until after the development is 
completed, for the whole of the development this means there will be teacher, pupil 
and visitor vehicles all using on street parking.

With no parking restrictions on either side of Two Hedges Road, should parking on 
both sides occur, which is likely, traffic congestion is inevitable this being the main 
route through the village. Morton Close which is a cul de sac is also heavily 
impacted because of the close pedestrian walkway to the school. As the Local 
Member suggests the plan should be revised to address the parking issues.

Vehicles also frequently block pavements causing pedestrians to walk in the road, 
which becomes very dangerous and is more acute when parent evenings occur on 
dark nights. The police totally ignore this illegal practice along with parking across 
drop down curbs.

You may have already noticed that I am having to modify my drive to allow for safe 
exit from my property because of the short 8m distance to the lay-by exit and 
Highways refusal to install a ramp to slow traffic down leaving this exit point even 
though I have experienced several near collisions.

By ignoring the issue now when further action is required, which it will, local 
residence will be further inconvenienced to their detriment with the introduction of 
yellow lines and / or zebra crossings.

Another concern is that of landscaping. Where planting exists at present litter which 
although not a planning issue is a consequence we have to live with and where it 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

collects, it can smell when it rots. It also attracts vermin, but the school ignores this 
even though Mr Bond has raised this matter direct. The increased planting plan is 
only going to exacerbate this problem.

I also have an issue because I have requested a 1m gap along the western 
boundary in order to maintain my fence. The school providing no boundary facility in 
this area. I have been told that this is not a planning matter but I fail to understand 
how planting can be, but my request is not. I first approached the school on 9 June 
regarding this matter and despite several reminders I still have no response. 
Therefore, the school should provide its own additional boundary fencing.

Although I understand that the school as the client has a responsibility to liaise with 
neighbours as I have previously reported to the Case Officer, communication 
ceased when I sought planning policy information from GCC mid-January in order 
to submit constructive comments. Perhaps, this is why I can get no decision 
regarding the above. 

I further notice in the planning notes that the planting is to be regularly trimmed so 
as not to impact neighbours amenities but current experience is that this will not be 
adequately maintained with weed penetration and maintenance issues which I am 
having to address, already presenting problems.  Perhaps you can provide me with 
the name of the Enforcement Officer should I need to address future problems. 

In summary, the sheer size of the building extension close to bungalows along the 
western boundary is oppressive, noise based on current experience will become an 
environmental issue, the likely traffic problems are an accident waiting to happen 
due to road safety issues and although the landscaping issues of litter and access 
are not defined as planning matters their material impact will still significantly affect 
adjacent properties.

For these reasons the application should be rejected and parking arrangements 
revised as deemed necessary by the local member.  Thank you for listening to my 
comments and I await your deliberations with interest”.

Applicant: Gareth Vine (GCC: Commissioning Manager SEND): 

“The need for this proposal has arisen out of the significant new housing 
developments which have been approved and developed in the Bishops Cleeve 
area.   

From these local housing developments the council has secured sufficient S106 
contributions from the developers to provide additional capacity to enable the GCC 
to meet its statutory obligation of providing sufficient high quality school places in 
the area of local need.  

The cost of the proposed school expansion will be met by these developer 
contributions secured by the council.

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

The s106 contributions have been secured solely for use for improving capacity at 
Cleeve School to meet the local demand.   They cannot be used at other secondary 
schools.

The additional capacity required to meet the demand for additional places at Cleeve 
will be delivered through the adaptation of existing school accommodation together 
with the provision of a dedicated new sixth form block.

Officers have worked closely with the planning and highways departments in light of 
representations received to the original proposal and have provided amendments 
together with supporting information to enable the proposal to be considered 
acceptable in planning terms so that a recommended for approval subject to 
conditions is proposed.

We are very excited about this proposal as it will provide additional improved 
accommodation to enable Cleeve School to meet the local needs of children and 
young people in the area of Bishops Cleeve”.

County Councillor Rob Bird, Member for Bishops Cleeve Division 
(Cllr Bird was unable to attend the meeting but had submitted a written statement.  
With the Chairman’s permission this was presented by Simon Excell): 

“I contend that the existing scheme proposed here will cause an unduly significant 
and detrimental impact on the local highway network, due to the sizeable 
displacement of sixth form cars (estimated at 53), from existing on-site parking onto 
surrounding residential streets, in particular: Dale Walk, Tobyfield Rd, Linworth Rd, 
Jesson Close, Pagets Rd and Moreton Close, the closest and most accessible 
options for sixth form car users.

The Parking Technical Note is wrong to conclude that simply because spaces are 
available in surrounding streets, it can be demonstrated that the scheme does not 
have a detrimental impact and the NPPF is thereby satisfied.

It is clear that there is space available on site for additional parking bays, in 
particular along the frontage adjoining Two Hedges Rd, if the scheme was re-
designed with this in mind, but it appears that such parking space for sixth form 
usage is specifically not being provided in an attempt to prevent them driving to the 
school. The simple solution of re-designing the scheme to accommodate on-site 
sixth form parking would remove the potential highway safety impact, the 
inconvenience for residential neighbours, and enable the school to better fulfil its 
wider obligations to its surrounding community, and act as a more considerate 
neighbour. 

Additional on-site parking, which the Site Visit and site plans clearly indicated are 
achievable, would make the scheme inherently more sustainable.

Thank you for considering this.”

The Chairman invited further questions from Members following the presentations.  

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

Councillor Robinson wished to know if the lighting on the west side of the building 
was low level and what was the timing frequency?  Mrs Baylis explained that the 
lighting on the building would be wall mounted and bollard lighting would be 
installed in the parking spaces.  It was noted that the timing of the lighting was 
stipulated in condition 4 and would be turned off at 9pm on week days and 6pm on 
weekends.  

Councillor Rippington raised concern over the provision of parking for sixth formers 
and questioned how time sensitive was the application? He added that everyone 
had a view on parking, however the nature of a 17 year-old that had passed their 
driving test is to drive to school.  Councillor Rippington thought it would be 
advisable to see what the parking was like after the first term.  The Chairman 
advised Councillor Rippington that his point was valid, yet probably more suited to 
the meeting debate.  Mrs Baylis replied that the application was time sensitive and 
the applicant was keen to start work as soon as possible.  

Councillor Hale questioned the lighting on the site and surrounding area in relation 
to the safeguarding of children travelling to and from school.  Mrs Baylis clarified 
that element was outside of the Planning remit and could not be considered as part 
of the application.  Councillor Hale felt that the response was unsatisfactory, as the 
surrounding area was tree lined and a potential for danger.  Ms Denness, Principal 
Lawyer, noted the concerns raised, however she advised the Committee that this 
was outside of the planning remit.  

Jamie Mattock, Team Leader, Highways Development Management explained that 
the lighting provision met with current legislative standards and was therefore 
deemed  satisfactory.  The trees could be treated as a maintenance issue if it 
became an issue.  

Councillor Hirst stated that the main problem with the application was that sixth 
formers were not permitted to park on the school site and asked if the site could be 
re-arranged to accommodate on-site parking.  Mrs Baylis reiterated that the 
Committee was being asked to consider the application as presented before them 
and that Highways were content with the application.   Ms Denness advised the 
Committee that they were unable to debate the alternatives, Members were only 
able to either accept or refuse the application before them.  

Councillor Cordwell reiterated that there was no requirement for the school to 
provide sixth form parking spaces.  Mrs Baylis confirmed to Committee that there 
was no Council Sixth Form Parking Policy.  

Councillor Robinson asked if the Committee could be minded in relation to open 
windows and noise pollution.  Mrs Denness explained that a noise condition was 
attached as stated within the report, a condition in respect of keeping windows 
closed was within the remit of Committee however, would be concerned as to 
ventilation issues.    

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

Councillor Preest wished to know if the Highways NPPF, section 32, could be met. 
In addition, he requested to know if any disabled sixth form parking spaces would 
be available on the site.  Mr Simmons explained that there were no changes to the 
access points as such yes section 32 would be met.  Mrs Baylis confirmed there 
would be seven disabled parking spaces available on site for general use.  

The Committee entered into a lengthy and vigorous debate.

Councillor Wheeler understood the need for the building.  He felt that the authority 
had a lot of responsibility due to its lack of oversight in relation to the increased 
demand for secondary school places.  In addition, it was noted that by providing 40 
extra spaces for staff and not for students was unfair.  Councillor Wheeler added 
that sixth form students do drive and it was disappointing that Planning Officers did 
not work with the applicant to accommodate student parking on the site.  However, 
in relation to the building he could not see any issues. 

Councillor Vines felt that this was a poor application, which had not taken in to 
account the removal of student parking spaces.  It was noted that parking at 
schools was chaotic during peak times.  He suggested that the application should 
be deferred and officers should revisit the parking issue, as there was space to 
make adequate parking spaces available at the front or at the rear of the site.  
Councillor Vines stated that of course Highways would say no issue, however the 
reality was that this application would impact greatly on local residents.  

Councillor Fisher reiterated that providing parking at the school was not part of the 
planning application or legislation and therefore shouldn’t be debated in the 
Committee meeting.  He felt it was evident that every school had its parking 
problems, as new developments had created a demand for school places and 
consequently many pupils commuted to school.  Councillor Fisher reminded 
Members that the school did not have to provide any parking spaces for staff or 
students.  It was merely a question of accepting or rejecting the application and that 
parking was not a valid reason to reject the application.  

Councillor Morgan agreed with Councillor Vines and Councillor Wheeler’s 
comments.  He added that it was unfair to local residents to enforce parking issues 
on them.  

Councillor Rippington referred to his earlier question, in relation to deferring the 
application for three months after which time the reality of the parking situation 
would be known.  He suggested a temporary ban on sixth form parking to monitor 
its impact.  

Councillor Cordwell explained that he had read the parking survey in detail, which 
clearly stated there were 280 parking spaces available in the local area.  He did not 
see that parking would present a problem locally.   In addition, Councillor Cordwell 
added if the application were to be deferred and the school became an academy 
any future applications would be referred to the Borough Council for determination.  
Ms Denness confirmed that any future planning application would be determined by 
the Borough Council and that any deferral of this application at this stage would 

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

come back to GCC, given that the application was linked to County Council Section 
106 funding.    

Councillor Hirst felt that the displacement of parking would undoubtedly cause harm 
to the nearby streets in close proximity to the school.  

Councillor Hale agreed that it was important for the school to provide parking on the 
site and it was unfair to impact on local residents.  

Councillor Robinson questioned the noise, windows and ventilation on the west side 
of the building and wished to know if it was possible to include conditions for noise 
after 6pm.  The Chairman explained that the Committee could apply additional 
conditions if they saw fit.  Ms Denness explained that it was not possible to pre-
empt noise going forward, and any condition placed on the application must be 
retrospective to the application.  

Councillor Preest suggested noise reducing fence panels could be installed.  Ms 
Denness explained that this was not a consideration as the noise report had not 
raised any issues and Tewkesbury Borough Council Environmental Health Officer 
had not made any specific recommendations.  

Councillor Fisher wished to know if the Committee were minded to defer the 
application, who would decide what to do next.  Mr Phillips explained that if the 
Planning Committee resolved to defer the application then it would be up to the 
applicant to decide what to do next, as they were looking to have this built for 
September 2018.  Ms Denness reiterated that Members needed to be clear as to 
what the application would need to do, to meet their concerns.  

Councillor Cordwell added that the highest number of sixth formers would pass their 
driving tests during the Spring Term and the impact could be greater then.  

Councillor Rippington felt that the majority of concerns related to the parking of sixth 
form students.  He added that many students would want to park as close to the 
school as possible, as 17/18 year olds didn’t necessarily do what was expected of 
them!

Councillor Wheeler suggested that the developer should be taking care of the 
parking issue, as there was a sufficient amount of scrub land to the rear of the site 
that could be used.  

Councillor Vines proposed that the application be deferred, so that the applicant 
could come back with a revised proposal to facilitate student parking on site.  

Mr Simmons, Highways Development Management, reminded Members that the 
school was not required to provide student parking.  He added that adequate 
measures had been considered, which clearly showed that no displacement would 
occur locally.  There was provision to accommodate the additional 53 student 
parking spaces within on average a three minute walk of the school site.  Therefore 

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

he advised that there were no reasonable reasons on technical parking grounds 
within which to defer to the planning application.  

Ms Denness explained that the Committee needed to be mindful of their actions, as 
they may set a future precedent in respect of parking at other schools.  In addition, 
the applicant in this case had no right of appeal to the Planning Inspectorate.  Once 
again, she asked members to be clear in their request and clearly stated were 
Members seeking 53 parking spaces on site?  

Councillor Vines stated that he took on board the points raised by officers’ but 
proposed to defer the number of 53 spaces or amend the number of parking spaces 
to 100.  Once again, Ms Denness explained that the Committee could only consider 
the application on its merits and not what could happen in the future.  

Councillor Cordwell proposed to accept the officer’s recommendation with an 
informative in respect of parking concerns.  

Highways Development Management officers reiterated that even with the 
displacement of 53 vehicles, over several streets there were over 250 parking 
spaces available during school hours.  

Councillor Hirst was willing to second Councillor Vines’ proposal to defer the 
application until further information was available for parking on site.  

Councillor Wheeler added that members were clearly asking for 53 parking spaces 
on the site, and he would accept Councillor Cordwell’s proposal.  He felt if the site 
were so constrained he would understand, however, he felt it was evident that there 
was space available on the site for parking provision.  He suggested it would be 
advisable for the applicant to consider parking spaces on the site, as GCC was the 
applicant and Members should be listened too.  

Councillor Hale concurred that all parking should be accommodated on the school 
site.  

Councillor Fisher felt that it wasn’t acceptable to defer an application, when parking 
was not a planning consideration for this application.

Councillor Parsons felt there somewhat of dilemma as there was adequate parking 
available off site versus the parking provision available on site.  He added that he 
was leaning towards a deferral at this stage.  

Councillor Morgan referred to the site plan, he stated that there was clearly 
provision for additional parking on site.  In particular, where the construction office 
would be, once this was removed, additional parking provision could be made 
available there. 

Councillor Cordwell stated that an independent parking report had been conducted, 
it was a question of whether members believed it or not.  If there were any parking 
issues locally, then double yellow lines could be installed to prevent such issues 

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

arising.  Ms Denness highlighted that the technical advisors believed that there was 
sufficient parking available locally however, members wanted to defer the 
application, if they did prefer they would need specific reasons and a clear steer 
was required.  

At this point, the Chairman reminded the Committee that it was only possible to 
deal with the application before them.  

 Councillor Wheeler raised the issue of human rights, as staff were permitted to 
park on site and not students.  Mrs Denness informed the Committee that it was not 
pertinent to this application.   

Councillor Vines referred to his previous proposal and requested that the 
application be deferred so the applicant could see if it was possible to facilitate 
additional parking on site for 53 or more vehicles.  He also added that he thought 
the Legal Officer wasn’t assisting members with such reasoning.  

Ms Denness took umbrage at that point, and explained that she was trying to assist 
members however, several members had asked for the deferral on slightly different 
grounds, therefore, members needed to be clear as to what they were deferring the 
item on to allow the applicant to address.  If the applicant said that they could not 
accommodate parking on site, then where would that leave the Committee in its 
deliberations?  She added that members needed to be clear on what they were 
expecting if no parking provision could be found on site.  As parking would be the 
only issue for debate in respect of reconvening the matter.  Councillor Vines 
apologised to Ms Denness for his statement.  

At this juncture, the Committee took a short adjournment.  

The Committee reconvened and Councillor Vines withdrew his proposal for deferral.  
He added he would be mindful to accept the Officer recommendation, if a further 15 
parking spaces could be made available on the school site.  

Councillor Hale added that some members had requested 53 spaces and 15 was 
an insult.  He still felt that it would be detrimental to local residents and could impact 
on the emergency services if access was blocked by parked vehicles and he felt 
this was not acceptable.  

The Chairman advised that through the advice provided by officers from 
Gloucestershire Highways, on street parking was available therefore the Committee 
needed to be reasonable in respect of any request.  

Councillor Wheeler added that he was happier with the more pragmatic approach 
and that he had viewed the site via google and could identify areas to be used for 
parking.  He felt that everything should be done as much as possible to find spaces 
on site.  

Councillor Rippington explained that those students, who currently parked on site, 
would have to also park off site and this would impact local residents further.  

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

Mr Phillips confirmed to the Planning Committee that the planning application 
proposals included no overall reduction of parking spaces.  Therefore car parking 
was effectively a management issue for the school and what level of sixth form car 
parking provision they wished to allow on site.    

Councillor Fisher added that congested streets meant that the vehicle speeds were 
lower, which resulted in less accidents.  

Having considered the application Councillor Vines proposed to accept the Officers 
Recommendation, subject to the additional condition, that a scheme should be 
submitted to provide an additional 15 parking spaces within the site.  The proposal 
was seconded by Councillor Cordwell and on being put to the vote the motion was 
passed (9 in favour, 3 against and 1 abstention).  

The Planning Committee therefore: 

Resolved 

That planning permission be granted for the reasons set out in the Officer’s 
report and summarised in paragraphs 7.49 – 7.50 subject to the conditions 
detailed in section 8 of the report and in accordance with Regulation 3 of the 
Town and Country Planning (General Regulations) 1992, subject to the 
following condition be applied: 
- That a scheme be submitted to provide an additional 15 parking spaces 

within the site

14. APPLICATION NO: 16/0116/TWREG3    SITE: WOODMANCOTE PRIMARY 
SCHOOL, STATION ROAD, WOODMANCOTE, CHELTENHAM, GL54 2EP 

The application was presented by Sarah Pearse, Principal Planning Officer, aided 
by a power point presentation.  (A copy of the presentation is attached to the signed 
Minute book). 

A Planning Application by Property Strategy Lead, Gloucestershire County Council 
for the variation of condition 3 (revision of the elevation drawing from the previously 
submitted drawing 5092-P-600 with drawing number 5092-W-701G) relating to 
planning consent 15/0069/TWREG3 for the development of a new block for 
additional classrooms and toilet facilities. An extension to the existing staff room 
and offices to provide larger space for current staff numbers at Woodmancote 
Primary School, Station Road, Woodmancote, Cheltenham, GL54 2EP

The application site was located within the Parish of Woodmancote. It was 
approximately 1km east of the centre of Bishop’s Cleeve and approximately 6km 
from the centre of Cheltenham. The access to the school is via Station Road, which 
links Bishop’s Cleeve and Woodmancote. The closest residential properties were 
located in Woodmancote Vale.

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 15 -

Members were informed that the existing school was built in the early 1970s and 
extended in the 1980s, 1990s, and in 2016. The main school building and 
extensions were modern, buff brick built, single-storey buildings with a mixture of 
pitched and flat roofs and it was relatively sympathetic to the surrounding residential 
properties, which were predominantly two-storey residential properties.
 
The application site was not within a Conservation Area, the Cotswolds Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) or an archaeologically or ecologically sensitive 
area.
 
It was noted that application number 15/0069 /TWREG3 was granted permission on 
30th October 2015 for the wider development of the school. The classroom block 
building which was the subject of this variation of condition application was located 
on the western side of the school adjacent to Woodmancote Vale, was constructed 
with red brick and had a shallow mono-pitched roof sloping towards the south.

Mrs Pearse explained that this application was for a variation of condition 3 which 
defined the scope of the development and listed the supporting documents and 
approved plans. It arose from the fact that the building was not built in accordance 
with the approved plans in terms of height. The Applicant had acknowledged that 
there was a discrepancy and explained how it came about in section 2 of the 
committee report. It was the impact of the difference in height that was under 
consideration and the impact that change had on the adjoining properties. The 
closest residential property was 44 Woodmancote Vale.

There was a distance of approximately 20 metres as illustrated on the submitted 
cross sections between the wall of the house and the wall of the new classroom 
block, with an intervening close boarded fence and hedge.

The variation of condition 3 which referred to the approved plans had been 
submitted to regularise the difference in height between the building that was 
approved on drawing 5092-P-600 by planning permission number 
15/0069/TWREG3 and that which was actually built. 

It was noted that the height of the building measured using a scale rule from the 
approved plan was 3.3 metres, although that plan was not annotated in terms of 
height. The building measured 3.4 metres on the replacement plan, but was 
annotated as 3.6 metres. The difference in height illustrated on the plans would 
appear to be approximately 30cm. The line thickness of the drawings and printing 
anomalies could also affect the measurements and whether you measure from the 
top of the engineering brick or the surrounding tarmac.   The applicant was 
proposing to substitute the approved drawing with drawing number 5902-W-701 
Revision H, which had the correct as built dimensions.

Mrs Pearse explained having taken into consideration the Consultation responses 
and representations received and the impact on the properties in Woodmancote 
Vale, it was considered that the impact of the building as built was not significantly 
different to the original proposal. Whilst there was no entitlement to a view, the 
views across the school grounds towards Cleeve Hill would have been restricted by 

Page 15



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 16 -

the presence of the existing school building and the new building even at the lower 
height. It was not considered that the loss of outlook outweighs the wider benefits to 
the school and the local community.
 
The County Planning Authority was of the opinion that the increase in height of the 
building would not adversely affect the amenity of neighbouring users beyond what 
was originally approved, when balanced against the requirements of paragraph 72 
of the NPPF in “ensuring that a sufficient choice of school places is available to 
meet the needs of existing and new communities”.

The Chairman invited the following to address the Committee: 

Mr Noel Morgan (Objecting): 
“Thank you for the opportunity of hearing what I have to say today.  My name is 
Noel Morgan and I reside at 44 Woodmancote Vale, it was at our house that you 
visited last week. 

I am sure you will by now have all read the comments / objections and so forth 
related to this application. I feel it is important to stress that we never originally 
objected to the original build – we knew the school had to expand indeed our 
children went there so we know better than most the need for expansion.

When we saw the plans, however long ago that was, which were presented at the 
school we spoke to the architects as we were acutely concerned about the height 
and the proximity of the building to our residence. We were assured at that time that 
the height would remain from a visual perspective, from our side, below or at worst 
level with the original eye line view of the school roof. So any views over and above 
the original school building roof would still be maintained. That though is clearly not 
the case.

The view from our rear garden that you had last week is not really representative of 
the stark brick wall we look at in winter. The hedgerow hasn't been cut back in over 
two/three years now. One of the questions, again right at the outset, concerned 
maintenance of the hedge and we were assured it would be maintained. This hasn't 
happened and allowing it to grow several feet is clearly not the answer. Indeed, I 
understand from our neighbours that they asked the school when it would be cut 
and were told in response that they had been advised not to cut the hedge - WHY 
would that be?... 

To date I don't think we have had one single set of measurements that concur with 
those of any other. How can we trust in or believe anything anyone has told us 
when simple measurements on scale drawing plans just don't add up. To clarify - 
we were told the height elevation was 3.30m but it was built to 3.60m by Mr Steve 
Harris. We were told it was 3.55m but built to 3.80m by Mr Brian Storer.

ln one of Quattro's documents it was advised the difference in height was just 
16cm... SORRY but these people are architects and surveyors and such like, not 
members of the public such as myself but at no time have they once been able to 

Page 16



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 17 -

provide a consistent result. If they can't do measurements properly it does make me 
wonder what else may be wrong that we don't know about.

Quattro provided additional "evidence" indicating the eye line of our house and its 
"non effect" - they have never been to our residence, have never seen the impact 
and ultimately want this matter to go away and be approved. Their comments were 
flawed - our house sits above the school building eye line not level to it, and any 
pictures taken were not commensurate with the hedgerow being maintained so 
saying that the build is masked by the hedge is once again false. 

Ultimately whose fault is this and so who should take the blame and the 
consequences of it? 

The council planning office - well I feel they are partly at fault for, in my opinion, 
initially trying to mask / hide the issue. It was after all mostly due to our 
protestations that this matter became escalated to where we all are now. 

Who else - well ultimately the main guilty party are the Architects"-Quattro Design. 
They made a complete hash of the drawings and elevations and showed a serious 
lack of professional competency on something they should know what to do based 
on their regular exposure to the processes. 

Who isn't at fault - well it certainly isn't the local residents. There have been errors 
made from start to finish in this process but what we fear is that if you allow this 
height adjustment to stand and go through unchecked we as residents are left with 
the cost to bear in terms of value of and saleability of our property.

I am sure one of the main concerns that you as council members have is one of 
cost verses benefit, I do understand that but at the same time consider this, we 
would of protested and objected vehemently to the original building if we knew then 
what we know now. We would not of been alone, the whole neighbourhood are at a 
loss to understand why the building is so high and why that colour of brick was 
used. 

And finally bear in mind who is at fault in this process and then consider who would 
actually have to pay.  

If you, as I reach the same conclusion and consider it to be the fault of the 
architects, then it is the architect's responsibility. And assuming your planning office 
did due diligence on them they would know that they maintain Professional 
Indemnity Insurance for circumstances such as this where they were negligent in 
their ability to carry out their professional duties. Therefore, it would be their 
insurance company who ultimately would responsible for the costs of remedial 
works.  Thank you for your time”.  

Agent: Robert Walder: Quattro Design Architects: 
“Quattro Design were appointed by Gloucestershire County Council to design
new classroom accommodation for the provision of additional primary school
places in light of the new Homelands Farm development in Bishops Cleeve.

Page 17



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 18 -

Across the course of the work undertaken, we met with a number of groups
and individuals to ensure that the project was a not only a viable solution for
the site, but met the needs of the user group, their design aspirations and
organisational strategy for the school. More specifically this included the
school governors, school staff, general public and local authorities.

Some of the more distinctive features that came out of these consultations
were the brickwork and parapet roof detail.

The brickwork was selected to create a uniquely distinguishable classroom
block within the existing setting, whilst giving it a clear identification that pupils
could connect with and aspire to be in. A project principle that the school head
was clear upon from the outset. 

Following completion of the project we received feedback from the School
Head saying that "The new block has proved to be an absolute hit with
children and parents alike. It’s distinct, large open classrooms and central
break out space have given the Year 6 children the feeling that they are
valued and certainly ready for the next step in their learning journey."

In light of this positive feedback, it was certainly regrettable to learn that the
as constructed building was marginally higher than the planning approved
drawing had indicated.

Upon learning this, we have worked diligently with the authority to regularize
the issue through formal channels.

Upon review of the difference between the planning approved and as
constructed building, we support the view of the planning officer in that the
difference is minimal. More specifically the officer’s views that:

- The impact of the building is not significantly different to the original
approved proposal.

- The amenity in terms of light and sunshine have not been
compromised.

- The loss of outlook does not outweigh the wider benefits to the school
 and the wider community.

These comments and the reasoning behind them are laid out in the planning
officers report”.

The Chairman invited further questions from Members following the presentations.  

Councillor Wheeler asked officers to clarify that the only thing which was required of 
the Committee was to consider the height of the building.  Mrs Pearse clarified that 
was correct.  

The Committee entered into debate.

Page 18



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 19 -

Councillor Wheeler was baffled by the mistakes made by the professional 
architects, he felt that they should get it right the first time and therefore had 
sympathy for the neighbours.  He added that the scheme was not grand enough to 
warrant refusal, however consideration should be given to the maintenance of the 
hedge but noted that this wasn’t a planning matter.  

It was noted that Councillor Preest left the Committee meeting at 12:30pm.  

Councillor Rippington thought that the roof had been redesigned to prevent balls 
from staying on the roof, however, at the time of the site visit he observed there 
were 10 or more balls on the roof.  

Councillor Fisher noted that on the site visit a measuring pole was used and the 
building was approximately 3 bricks above the height of the pole.  Councillor 
Cordwell observed there were 5 bricks above the pole.  

The Chairman proposed to accept the Officer’s recommendation.  On being put to 
the vote, the motion was passed.  (11 in favour, 1 abstention)

The Planning Committee therefore: 

Resolved 

That Planning Permission be granted for the reasons summarised in 
paragraphs 7.21-7.23 of the report and subject to the conditions set out in 
section 8 of the report.  

15. DELEGATED DECISIONS BETWEEN 10TH MARCH 2017 - 13TH JULY 2017 

The Committee received the report.

Resolved 

That the delegated decisions made between 10th March 2017 and 13th July 
2017 be noted.  

16. ENFORCEMENT SCHEDULE 

The Committee received the report.  

Councillor Cordwell asked a question in relation to Cheltenham Spa Skips and the 
alleged unauthorised working practices.  Mr Harris explained that an investigation 
had started and the matter was being duly considered.  

Resolved

That the enforcement schedule be noted.  

Page 19



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 20 -

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12.48 pm

Page 20



1

Member Site Visit Meeting

18th January 2018

Weather conditions:  dry; sunny blue sky; chilly 14mph westerly wind; temperature 
was 6oC.

Planning Committee Member Attendance:

Councillors:
AWFORD, Cllr Philip (Chairman)
BIRD, Cllr Robert
BROWN, Cllr David
CORDWELL, Cllr John 
FISHER, Cllr Bernard
HALE, Cllr Terry
HIRST Cllr Stephen 
MORGAN, Cllr Graham

P
Ap
P
P
P
P
Ap
Ab

PARSONS, Cllr Shaun 
PREEST Cllr Alan
RIPPINGTON Cllr Keith
ROBINSON Cllr Steve
TRACEY, Cllr Pamela
VINES, Cllr Robert
WHEELER, Cllr Simon

P*
Ap
Ap
P
Ap
P
Ab

Key: P=present, Ab=absent, Ap= Apologies *Second meeting only.

Officers in attendance: 

Sarah Pearse, (SP) Principal Planning Officer, Kevin Phillips, (KP) Team Manager, 
Marcus Sparrow, Senior Planning Officer (Case Officer) and Carrie Denness, 
Principal Lawyer.

Site 1: Planning Application 13/0042/STMAJW by Bristol Clay Shooting for  the 
importation of soils and sub soils to create noise attenuation bunds 
associated with clay pigeon shooting and associated landscape works on land 
adjacent to Folly Farm, Kingswood, Wotton under Edge, Gloucestershire GL12 
7QX.

Case Officer (CO): Sarah Pearse

Members were joined on site by Mr and Mrs Padfield, from Bristol Clay Shooting, 
Dave Darlow (Hillesley & Tresham Parish Council) and Mary Leonard (Kingswood 
Parish Council).

Start Time: 10:15am

Officer Report

SP introduced those officers present. Procedural notes for conducting MSV were 
read out to those present. The  officer’s report was read out including background to 
the judicial review. SP described the site and location and explained the extent of the 
proposed operation over two adjoining fields. SP pointed out the route of the existing 
public footpath that followed the hedge line and showed members a plan with the 
route of public footpath. SP read out the grounds for peoples objections and the 
reasons given for those in support of the proposal. Consultee comments were read 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



2

out, and SP explained that insufficient technical information had been submitted to 
adequately demonstrate the effectiveness of the noise attenuation created by the 
proposed bunds. SP showed members a plan containing the location and layout of 
the proposed bunds, the proposed access and existing footpath.

Members’ questions:

Cllr Vines asked if the proposed bunds would be landscaped, to which SP replied 
that they would.

Cllr Robinson asked how many trip generations would be generated by the proposed 
importation of material. SP replied that there would be 6 vehicles in and out of the 
site, six days a week over an 18 month/ 2 year period.

Cllr Brown asked if objectors and consultees were re-consulted following the last 
occasion when the application was heard at Planning Committee. SP confirmed that 
they were.

Other questions:

Mary Leonard from Kingswood Parish Council stated that the parish did not feel that 
the proposed bunds would be effective enough to enable the proposed activity to 
meet noise limits. Furthermore, the parish don’t agree to the proposed 8am to 6pm 
timescales.

Dave Darlow is of the opinion that the proposed bunds are insufficient and that noise 
and safety concerns had not been adequately addressed. Mr Darlow expressed 
concern about pellets and broken clays falling across existing public footpath. SP 
remarked to members that it is not illegal to shoot over a footpath provided there are 
marshals operating during a shoot and that markers are erected prior to any shoot.

In his capacity as local member Cllr Cordwell expressed concern over the intended 
haul route, the timings of vehicle movements and the need to avoid peak times. Cllr 
Cordwell also commented that the proximity of surrounding hills would bounce the 
sound around.

Cllr Fisher asked if there were any other managed shoots in the area, to which Cllr 
Cordwell replied that there were further down the valley.

Cllr Vines asked if the proposed bunds formed part of the original permission that 
was quashed at judicial review, to which SP replied that they were.

Other Notes:

SP noted that the land to which the application relates slopes down towards the east.

Members returned to the bus and left the site at 10.53 am to travel to Fourways 
Farm, Stroud.

Page 22



3

Site 2: Planning Application 17/0082/STMAJW by Dr. Watson and S Williams  
for  the change of use of agricultural building to Use Class B2 and installation 
of proposed incinerator for the disposal of equine carcases on land at 
Fourways Farm, Waterlane, Oakridge, Stroud, GL6 7PH.

Case Officer (CO): Marcus Sparrow

Members were joined on site by the Applicant Dr. Tim Watson and his agent, Mr 
Malcolm Hunt. Councillor Parsons arrived on site.

The MSV group stood within the building that will house the incinerator for the CO 
presentation. The incinerator unit was within the building but not connected and no 
flue had been installed. The case officer described the site and the surroundings 
pointing out neighbouring properties, the public right of way (PRoW), and the site 
access.

Members Questions:

Cllr Fisher asked whether the equipment had scrubbing facilities to ensure clean 
emissions.

Dr. Watson explained that the afterburner gets rid of smells and pollutants and there 
is no requirement for an Environment Agency permit. He also advised that the main 
chamber doesn’t fire up until the afterburner gets to 850 degrees. The proposal 
would be subject to strict regulation and certification by the Animal and Plant Health 
Agency (APHA). 

Cllr Vines asked how the carcases would be transported, and would any be 
delivered or brought to the site by the owners.

The CO explained that transport of the carcases would be by a 4WD vehicle and a 
leek proof horse box, and showed a photograph of the vehicle. The horse box was 
stored in the building. 

Dr. Watson explained that all carcases would be collected.

Cllr Robinson asked where the closest incinerator was.

Dr. Watson explained that the only facility for equine disposal was at Fosse Cross 
where they offered an ashes back service, which is much more expensive. There is 
a pet crematorium for domestic pets in Tewkesbury, but larger animals are collected 
and taken to a facility in Cambridge.

Cllr Parsons asked about alternative methods of disposal such as hunt kennels.

Dr. Watson explained that he euthanizes with an injection. Injected animals cannot 
be fed to other animals. Many fallen equines are stored, bulked up and transported 
to Cambridge for disposal.

Page 23



4

Cllr Parsons asked how a carcass would be loaded into the horse box.

Dr. Watson explained that they would use a winch to load a carcass into the 
converted horse box. The horse box would reverse into the incinerator building 
where the carcass would be unloaded.

Mr Hunt explained that the incinerator, loading and unloading would not be visible 
from the public right of way.

The CO pointed out the internal drainage system for the building. There were 
drainage channels and material was collected in a sump. Any waste water is then 
pumped out and fed into the afterburner and evaporated. There is little or no leakage 
from the carcases unless there is an injury.

Cllr Hale asked what happens to the ash produced.

Dr. Watson explained that there is approximately 7kg of non-hazardous ash and 
bone pieces left after incineration. It is removed into a sealed bin, collected by a 
contractor and taken to landfill. 

Cllr Fisher asked whether ashes were given back.

Dr. Watson said that there are no proposals to return ashes. A cremulator would be 
required to grind larger fragments to ash. Cremulators are noisy and are not 
proposed for this site.

Members moved outside of the building to view the external appearance of the 
building and where the CO pointed out other salient features such as the likely 
position of the flue.

Cllr Hale asked about the collection of stock.

Dr. Watson explained that Waterlane Equine Vets is an ambulatory equine practice 
that only collect stock from client’s premises. The practice at Fourways Farm 
consists of an office and laboratory with no surgery. No animals are treated on site.

Members were shown the position of the access track and bridleway on a map.

Whilst Members were on site, a peaceful group of objectors gathered on the PRoW. 
At the close of the meeting, the MSV lead officer welcomed the objectors and briefly 
explained what Members had been looking at and that the MSV would now travel by 
coach through the Hamlet of Waterlane. The public were thanked for their 
attendance and invited to attend the Planning Committee on the 25th January.

Close of meeting: 12:15

Sarah Pearse
19/01/2018

Page 24



2018 Extra Objections and responses

Objections

34. The Applicant has not followed the advice of his own Solicitor in that he has offered no further 
analysis on the effectiveness of the bunds.
- We have responded to this in a previous correspondent.  No theoretical study would conclusively 
prove what level would be in reality achieved.  Three diffirent noise consultants have said we can 
achieve the desired level. Albeit the last one who said WITH conditions

35. The bunds as outlined in the various plans submitted by the Applicant do not allow for sufficient 
space for shooting ranges to meet the CPSA regulation.
- A Senior Safety Range Officer from the CPSA was consulted and submitted a letter stating that 
the bunds are accurate (all this is in the report)

36. The addition of the small bore shooting indicates that the “down the line” ranges would not 
meet the CPSA requirements for competitive shooting.
- The rrange in question could be used for either activity.  We are not removing the DTL layout but 
adding a small bore rifle range for diversity.

37. For small bore shooting, the bunds would not be needed, a simple low bank would suffice that 
could easily be removed by the Applicant at a later date to restore the land to its current state.
- The small bore rifle range association (SBRA) states the safety backstops needed and these are the 
same as the bunds in the application.  To say a low backdrop is adequate is nonsense.  The low back 
drop would not be unacceptable for either the SBRA or Police. For an objector who is keen on 
SAFETY to state the above is ridiculous.  SBRA bund heights have been submitted.

38. The applicant has exceeded the 28 days shooting and enforcement action is being sought 
through Stroud District Council.
- This is untrue and we are currently in contact with Stroud District Council regarding the matter 
and no action is being taken by SDC

39. No evidence of the Police Safety reports has been submitted in support of the application. Such 
reports indicating that it is acceptable to allow overshooting of private land would need to be 
escalated to a higher authority.
- The police do not get involved in safety reports for either clay pigeon shooting or small bore rifle 
shooting.  No such report exists to furnish the council with.

40. As the site is so very obviously not suitable for Clay Pigeon shooting, it follows that if allowed, 
it would in reality simply be for the creation of a very lucrative tip.
- The site is obviously suitable as we have been operating on the site for the past 12 years.  Had the 
complainants not applied for a Noise Abatement Notice on the site.  The bunding would not be 
necessary.  However as the notice was sought the bunds were applied for to reduce the noise.  The 
above comment is ludicrous.

41. The reason that there have been no complaints by local residents is because prior to this 
application shooting days were attended by between 50 and 75 shooters, each shooting either 50 
cartridges or in some cases 100. In addition to the sheer quantity, some shooters insisted in using 
very high power cartridges which made significantly more noise. This resulted in the noise 
abatement notice.
- Since furnishing the council with the dates we have shot at the site since 2013.  There has been a 
complaint to Stroud district council stating we are overshooting the 28 days per year.  Up until we 
submitted these dates there had been no complaints.  

42. Many documents are 4 years old, and official consultees comments are 4 years old as well.

Page 25



- The consultee reports are still adequate as the planning application hasn’t changed since 2013 to 
now.  Neither has the site or the surrounding area.  Therefore the age of the reports is irelevant

43. Highway consultations appear to be particularly 'old' and completed by the in house 
Development control highways section of Glos CC, and not the 'nuts and bolts', 'on the ground' 
highway department of Glos CC. The Glos CC PROW dept. were not consulted.
- The application has been in the domain since 2013.  The local parish councils and councillors have 
known about the application since 2013 too.  Infact we attended a Kingswood parish council 
meeting where we discussed with them the concerns over the highways and agreed with them 
conditions.  These were added as an amendment to planning condition 8 (operating hours) of the 
2015 committee report.  Highways were consulted and were satisfied and so were the PROW 
officers. 

44. In the recent past I have struggled to negotiate CKD 44 on a firing day and other days, I confirm 
I have not seen any Marshals; warning signs; alarms; whatever.
- All shooting points shoot AWAY from any PROW and no fallout (shot or clay) can land on or 
over the PROW.  With that said as NO shooting takes place ON or OVER the PROW, there is no 
need for Marshals/warning signs/alarms etc. As we are present on shoot days I can confirm that no 
one has walked the footpath on any shoot day and this is a total fabrication.

45. The submitted plans are very poor, with large areas of draughtsman’s licence, especially over 
the location of the footpaths relative to the shooting areas, with no north pointers.
-  There are North points on the plans and the footpaths are clearly marked on the plans in the 
correct place. 

46. The site is ill kept with large piles of shooting debris, and CKD 44 has been up to very recently 
totally obstructed in the north easterly direction, plus there NO way marks on site.
- There are no piles of shooting debris on the footpaths and the footpaths are passable.  There were 
way marks installed several years ago by the footpath people.  

Comments 42 – 46

These comments relate to Mr Christopher Dunns objections on the planning portal. 2018

Mr Dunn is a Kingswood Parish Councillor and has had access to the planning application since it 
was first submitted in 2013.  Mr Dunn was in attendance when we went to the Kingswood Parish 
Council meeting and agreed the amendment of the operating hours etc. Mr Dunn did not make 
complaints about the original planning application.

Page 26



Points regarding site visit.

Ms M Leonard (Kingswood Parish Council representative) raised the point of lorry 
movements during peak times and said it was a concern to the Parish Council.
We would like it noted that Ms Leonard KNOWS that we agreed with them the change in 
operating hours (as per the addendum to the committee report 2015) and this still stands 
and is documented in the current planning details (see below) Please also see attached 
scan of said report.

Extract taken from 2018 planning meeting documentation

Highways Concerns The council discussed the proposed route which they understand would 
come through Kingswood. Councillors had concerns on the implications that transferring the 
soils through the village of Kingswood would have. Councillors recognised that there was no 
easy route to the site as there were pinch points from the direction of Kingswood and 
Hillesley. Councillors noted that there had been problems with the transfer of soils from the 
Chestnut Park Estate and wish to avoid the problems that were experienced there which 
necessitated daily police involvement. Concerns on the access to the site and the possibility of 
lorries waiting for access were discussed as this would narrow the road and cause a hazard. 
All of the concerns raised would be worse during the busy commuting period. The application 
stated that the proposed time would be 0800hrs to 1800hrs Monday to Friday and 0800hrs to 
0100hrs on Saturday. However the Applicant has indicated that they would be happy to 
consider amending the transport time to avoid the busy period and would agree to change the 
times from 0800hrs to 0900hrs. The council considered that the vehicle movements should 
take place between 0900hrs and 1700hrs. Consideration should be given to the avoidance of 
the school bus and school run in the afternoon. Consultation with the local police should be 
sought on the highways implications of this application as it would be a police matter if issues 
were to occur as a result of it. Kingswood Parish Council would like the highways issues 
raised by the council and the community to be considered and managed either by condition or 
with the agreement of the Applicant. If the issues are not addressed the council would 
reconsider its response to this application.

Further consultation response dated 15th November 2017
Kingswood Parish Council viewed this application mindful that it was an application to 
transfer soils and to build noise attenuation bunds and not on the rights of the shoot to take 
place. Kingswood Parish Council has reviewed all of the additional application and has the 
following comment to make.
The applicant had agreed to amend the operating times for the transfer of the soils to take 
account of the concerns raised by the parish council in connection with the highways. The 
parish council are disappointed that the applicant has not followed through and made the 
amendments to the application. Due to this the parish council wishes to change its stance 
from a comment to an objection. All previous comments remain valid.

We would like it noted that we have infact agreed to impose a condition on the times vehicles 
would be travelling through Kingswood and that Ms Leonard and the parish council have not 
read fully the details which shows this (see below and attached scanned document) And due 
to this the above statement is a complete untrue fact and needs to be addressed.

Extract from Planning Committee meeting documentation 2018

7.43 The Applicant has agreed to the imposition of a planning condition that would avoid 
peak and school times.

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 29



Page 30



APPLICATION NO: 13/0042/STMAJW VALIDATION DATE: 13th June 2013

DISTRICT REF:            S.13/1416/CM and S.17/2508/CM

APPLICANT: Bristol Clay Shooting, 52 Manor Lane, Charfield, Wotton under 
Edge, Gloucestershire. GL12 8TN

SITE: Land adjacent to Folly Farm, Kingswood, Wotton under Edge, 
Gloucestershire. GL12 7QX

 
PROPOSAL: Importation of soils and sub soils to create noise attenuation 

bunds associated with clay pigeon shooting and associated 
landscape works.

PARISH OF:
Kingswood

SITE AREA: 1.35Ha GRID REF: 375463 
190352

 
RECOMMENDED: That planning permission is REFUSED  for the reasons set 

out in this report and summarised at paragraphs 7.89 to 7.93.

INTRODUCTION

This application was submitted in June 2013 and previously brought before 
the Planning Committee on 30th July 2015, with a recommendation for 
approval. A copy of the original report can be viewed through public access 
using the same reference number at 
http://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/ . Members approved the 
proposal subject to planning conditions and a planning permission was issued 
on the 7th August 2015. 

After planning permission was issued an application for Judicial Review was 
made to the High Court to quash the permission, on the grounds that the 
Waste Planning Authority (WPA) had failed to take into account the changes 
in the use of the land for shooting when determining the application. After 
taking Counsel’s opinion the WPA did not resist the claim and the decision 
was subsequently quashed by the High Court on 22nd December 2015. 

Through the Judicial Review process Counsel Opinion was sought and  
Counsel advised at the time of the Judicial Review proceedings that: - 
“the essential element that needs addressing on a redetermination of the 
application is the planning consequences, if any, of the facilitating of 
greater/different use of the land for clay pigeon shooting by the construction of 
the bunds. That will involve understanding the nature and extent of the current 
use under the terms of the Abatement Notice and how these would change if 
the bunds were to be constructed. Any such consequences would need to be 
addressed in accordance with section 38(6) of the 2004 Act [Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004], taking into account the policy and advice on 
noise within the National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Policy 
Guidance.”

Page 31

Agenda Item 7

http://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/


Since the original decision was quashed, the WPA has commissioned noise 
consultants to address the main noise issues raised through the Judicial 
Review. The consultants have monitored the site whilst shooting was 
demonstrated and concluded that additional information would be required, for 
which the Applicant was advised accordingly in June 2016. A further 
submission was made by the Applicant on 24th October 2017. 

1.0 LOCATION

1.1 The site comprises two fields currently laid to grass and is located 
approximately 1.6 km south east of Kingswood and 2.25 km south of 
Wotton under Edge, which falls within Stroud District Council area. The 
site is bordered by Kingswood Road to the north.

1.2 Folly Farm lies approximately 100 metres to the west of the application 
site. Haroldsfield Farm and Lower Witheymore Farm lie approximately 
770 metres and 340 metres respectively to the south west of the site, 
and there are several properties along Day House Lane, within 650 
metres of the site boundary.

1.3 The site is surrounded by open mixed farmland, and mature hedgerows 
with hedgerow trees along the field boundaries. A public right of way 
CKD/44/1(PRoW) runs along the western field boundary in a north 
south direction.

Page 32



1.4 There is a pond located on the southern site boundary. Hams Gully 
Brook is a small water course that runs along the eastern and southern 
site boundary. The eastern part of the site falls within a minor 
groundwater protection area. The site is also within an area identified 
as nitrate vulnerable.

1.5 The site is not within the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
although the boundary lies approximately 425 metres to the east of the 
site. 

2.0 THE PROPOSAL

2.1 The proposal is for the importation of soils and sub soils to create noise 
attenuation bunds associated with clay pigeon shooting and associated 
landscape works. The applicant has submitted the following plans and 
documents in support of the planning application:

 Planning Design and Access Statement.

 Planning Application form.

 Site Location Plan - DRG No. LP/01

 Key layout of earth mounds DRGG No. KP/01

 Existing site layout 1404 DRG No.1 (16/00/09)

 Drawing Number 1 – Existing Site Layout  Drawing Number 4C – 
Proposed Layout  Drawing Number 5D – Proposed Layout 

 Drawing Number 6B – Sections 

 Drawing 3541/501/01 – Surface Water Drainage Layout 

 Drawing 3541/501/02 – Surface Water Drainage Layout 

 Noise Assessment, ION Acoustics, dated 25th April 2012 

 Drainage Statement, Cole Easdon Consultants, dated May 2013 

 Ecological Assessment, Tyler Grange, dated 26th February 2014

 Arboricultural Assessment (Tree Quality Survey), Tyler Grange, 
dated 26th February 2014

 Landscape & Visual Impact Assessment, WH Landscape 
Consultancy Ltd, dated February 2014

 Noise Assessment, Matrix Acoustics Design Consultants, dated 26th 
February 2014

 Noise Assessment Acoustic Note 1, Matrix Acoustics Design 
Consultants, dated 31st March 2014

Page 33



 Noise Assessment, Acoustic Note 2, Matrix Acoustics Design 
Consultants, dated 25th July 2014

Supporting Planning Statement 

2.2 The following information is an extract from the supporting documents. 
Full documents above are available to view through public access. 
http://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/ . The total site area 
subject to this specific proposal comprises 1.35 hectares of land that is 
used by Bristol Clay Shooting, who use the land for up to 28 days in a 
year in association with Permitted Development Rights under Schedule 
2, Part 2, Class B 4 of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (“GDPO”). 

2.3 Access to the site is on the northern boundary onto Kingswood Road, 
where there is a small hard standing area and three storage containers 
used by the shooting club to store equipment etc. The land subject to 
this proposal is essentially in two parts. Part A comprises the existing 
large open field with the northern boundary abutting Kingswood Road. 
Part B is an open field with mature hedgerows / trees on its boundaries. 
In terms of the current operational arrangements Part A and Part B are 
both used for clay pigeon shooting purposes by the shooting club. 

2.4 An existing public right of way (CKD/44/1) runs along the western 
boundary of the site. 

2.5 It should be noted that following a Court Case between the Applicant 
and Stroud District Council on 28th July 2011 a condition was agreed 
as part of a Noise Abatement Notice whereby noise emitted from the 
site shall not exceed 62dBA as measured at identified properties, 
namely Withymore Farm, Harley Gate Farm, Day House Farm, 
Lavender Cottage, Alderley Church and Park Farm. These measures 
came into effect on 28th January 2012. Shooting has been taking place 
at the site since January 2012, but only on a limited basis due to the 
restrictions required to comply with the Noise Abatement Notice 
requirements. The nature of shooting undertaken has used a quieter 
form of cartridge (Hushpower) and the shooting technique of English 
Sporting has been used whereby clay targets are launched relatively 
high into the air, with the shotgun muzzle correspondingly high in the 
air. 

2.6 The purpose of this application is to put in place physical measures at 
the site which will enable the shooting club to offer a more professional 
environment / shooting establishment for its club members / customers, 
whilst ensuring that all the shooting activities at the club fall under the 
noise threshold of 62dBA. It should be stressed that the use of 
Hushpower cartridges is only suitable for entry level type shooting.The 
Director of Bristol Clay Shooting is professionally qualified to train club 
members to international and Olympic standard. The whole purpose 
behind the operational arrangements at the site is to enable club 

Page 34

http://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/


members to be trained in a highly professional manner whereby they 
will have the appropriate skills to compete in competitions / high level 
tournaments and open shooting events. 

2.7 A significant change is that rather than using the English Sporting 
technique, “Down the Line” and “Skeet” disciplines are now going to be 
adopted. These forms of shooting have lower trajectories and barrel 
muzzles (the noise source) will be far lower than the English Sporting 
technique. The design philosophy of this scheme is to enable such 
lower level shooting techniques to take place “within” the proposed 
bunded areas. 

2.8 It should also be stressed that the enhanced level of facilities at the site 
will also be designed to be accessible to all user groups. This is 
particularly beneficial as at the present time there is not one shooting 
facility in Gloucestershire that is accessible friendly to users who are 
less able and particularly in wheelchairs.

The Proposal 

2.9 The planning application incorporates the following key elements: 

 With Part A it is proposed to construct three “circular” bunds, with 
the purpose of enabling shooting activities to take place within 
the bunds. These will be physically freestanding features and not 
adjoin any of the mature landscaping on the boundaries of the 
site, however new landscaped areas will be introduced as part of 
the proposal. The top of each bund will be 4.5m above the 
existing ground level. 

 With Part B it is proposed to construct a bund that will wrap 
around the southern boundary of the land, but again keeping 
away from the existing mature landscaping on the boundary. The 
bund will have an overall height of 3.8m above the existing 
ground level. 

 The bunds will be constructed with clean inert material imported 
to the site with the estimated capacity of the bunds in Part A 
being 22,500 cubic metres with an additional 4,750 cubic metres 
in Part B. 

 The materials will be imported over an envisaged period of 18 – 
24 months, and over a 6 day working week this would account 
for 6 vehicle movements in / 6 vehicle movements out per day 
(12 vehicular movements per day in total).  

 The bunds will be formed on site using earth moving equipment. 
It is intended that the bunds in Part B will be constructed first, so 
that this area can be regarded and completed prior to 

Page 35



constructing the bunds in Part A. Once the bunds are completed 
they will be seeded with an appropriate embankment mix. 

 A wheel spinner and wheel bath, pressure wash to clean 
vehicles leaving the site together with a mechanical sweeper if 
necessary, will be utilised. 

 A water bowser fitted with spar bar will be used to damp down 
principal access routes within the site, as and when required, to 
minimize the generation of dust. 

 The importation of materials to the site, including the associated 
HGV traffic to and from the site, will be restricted to 0800 to 1800 
Mondays to Fridays and 0800 to 1300 Saturdays. No importation 
of materials will be carried out on Sundays or Bank Holidays. 

 The material will be delivered to the site in 3 and 4 axle tipper 
trucks. 

 The material will be deposited immediately upon arrival with no 
sorting on site. 

 A haul route will be created along the northern boundary of the 
site to facilitate the movement of delivery vehicles within the site. 

Transportation 

2.10 In order to construct the bunds all construction vehicles will use the 
existing vehicular access on the northern boundary of the site onto 
Kingswood Road. This currently serves the existing shooting club. The 
existing vehicular access has good visibility splays to the east and west 
and is a long established vehicular access that has served the needs of 
the existing shooting club for many years. 

2.11 Given the long established nature of the vehicular access, the amount 
of visibility splays available (2.4m x 100m to the right of the access / 
2.4m x 86m to the left of the access) and the modest nature of 
construction vehicle movements each day it is considered that the 
access arrangements are entirely appropriate to serve this 
development. 

Landscape Impact 

2.12 WH Landscape Consultancy Ltd were commissioned by the Applicant 
to look at the Landscape and Visual Impact issues of this proposal. In 
summary the Landscape Consultancy acting on behalf of the Applicant 
states that “Existing boundary hedging and trees enclose the majority of 
the site giving a sense of containment as found with most field 
boundaries in this character setting. Existing access tracks on the site 
will be utilised for access. The proposed development will retain as 

Page 36



much of the existing vegetation as possible, however hedges and trees 
along the shooting line, running north – south through the northern field 
will need to be removed. The local landscape features, landscape 
character, heritage assets, or designated biodiversity assets will not be 
significantly affected by the development proposals. The extension of 
the existing pond on the site will be beneficial to the species enrichment 
of the local area.

2.13 Mitigation strategies, including the planting a mixed native hedge along 
the PRoW on the western site boundary, will help to enhance the 
landscape and biodiversity in the area. This will also be the case for 
additional mitigating vegetation along the new shooting line and on the 
outside of the bunds. Overall, the landscape impact of the proposed 
development pre-mitigation will be Minor Negative and after the 
mitigation has matured will be Minor Positive.

Mitigation and enhancement measures should include:
 Plant native shrubs on the outer edge of the bunding to create a 

natural feature.
 Plant native shrubs along the shooting edge to help filter views 

of the inside of the bunds.
 Hedge the footpath route with native hedge and tree species.”

Visual Impact

2.14 In their conclusions, the Applicant’s Landscape Consultants states that:  

The proposed development of bunds on land adjacent to Folly Farm is 
well contained by dense vegetation, with limited close filtered views 
from the road to the north and east, and open views from the PRoW 
running the length of the western site boundary. There are long 
distance elevated views from the Cotswold National Trail on Wortley Hill 
to the northeast, and potential private views from the folly atop Winner 
Hill.

The proposed development will ensure that none of the existing field 
boundary vegetation is lost. However, some on-site vegetation will be 
removed to facilitate the construction of the bunds. This will be replaced 
with native woodland and will be managed and enhanced to provide 
mitigation, landscape and biodiversity enhancements.

Although the site is visible from Wortley Hill, a long distance view, it will 
be in the context of a working agricultural landscape with buildings 
bunding and machinery. During the construction process the machinery 
and spoil will be seen, but will be seen in the context of the other 
farming operations and as a very small part of a wide vista. It will also 
take place over a limited period and is therefore of limited significance. 
Once the proposed planting has matured the bunds will look natural 
within the undulating landscape. Close views from the little used PRoW 
passing through the application fields will have greater significance 

Page 37



during the construction period, but following mitigation the impact will be 
greatly reduced. The bunding at Folly Farm, which holds a slurry 
lagoon, within 50 metres of the site and is a short distance from the 
PRoW, can be viewed as a precedent and shows how the bunds can 
be integrated into the landscape.

Strategic landscape proposals (Figures 8a and 8b) [of the Landscape 
Consultants report] have been identified to reduce the negative 
landscape and visual impacts identified, as well as providing 
compensatory planting to enhance the character of the landscape and 
biodiversity in the medium to long term. The extension of the pond in 
the southern field will enhance the wildlife species variety within the 
local landscape.

The site and surrounding area is capable of absorbing the proposed 
bunding with no significant detrimental landscape or visual impacts. It 
follows the guidance contained in the relevant Landscape Character 
Assessments and is in compliance with the local and national policy 
context.

2.15 Accordingly, it is contended that the bunds will not cause any significant 
adverse effect on the local landscape and are compliant with Policy 
WCS14. 

Noise Benefit 

2.16 The key purpose of this application is to create a suitable long term 
physical environment whereby the shooting club can continue its 
operations at the site in full compliance with the Noise Abatement 
Notice. This requires a noise limit of 62 dBA to be met. Included with 
this submission is a detailed Noise Assessment Report prepared by Ion 
Acoustics Ltd. This explains in detail the nature of the new shooting 
techniques that will be introduced at the site. Essentially these will be 
lower level shooting disciplines with the shots taking place closer to the 
ground and the shooting activities “contained” within the bunded areas 
that will be created. 

2.17 The Noise Assessment Report provides a detailed assessment of the 
impact of the bunds at the height proposed and concludes that the 
bunds will be “fit for purpose” in terms of ensuring that the required 
noise climate at the site will be fully met. 

2.18 In February 2014, Matrix Acoustic Design Consultants were 
commissioned to carry out an assessment of the attenuation of the 
Shooting Noise Level (SNL) provided by the proposed earth bunds at 
Bristol Clay Shooting’s (BCS) site at Folly Farm, near Hillesley, 
Gloucestershire.
The report covers:
 Existing SNL at the nearest noise sensitive receptors
 Required attenuation to meet SNL limit of 62dB

Page 38



 Calculated attenuation of SNL due to the proposed earth bunds.

The report concludes:- 
 BCS currently operate at the Folly Farm site for 28 days a year 

under permitted development rights.
 BCS have informed us that a SNL limit of 62dB at the nearest 

noise sensitive receptors has been agreed with Stroud District 
Council Environmental Health and endorsed by the Crown Court. 
From measurement by Stroud District Council and by calculation, 
this limit has been found to be currently exceeded at three of ten 
assessed receptors.

 With the provision of 4m minimum height earth bunds it has been 
demonstrated by calculation that the 62dB SNL limit will be met 
at all assessed receptors.

 Higher earth bunds will provide additional shielding. This could 
be considered if further reductions in the SNL are required.

2.19 In March 2014 Matrix Acoustic Design Consultants responded to the 
District Council’s Environmental Health’s feedback comments. The 
Agent states that:

 The report robustly demonstrates that the SNL limit of 62 dB as 
set by the Noise Abatement Notice will be complied with when 
this scheme is implemented.

 With regard to the suggestion of imposing a 55 dB noise limit it 
must be stressed that the site is currently operating under the 
GPDO Permitted Development Rights for 28 days a year.  This 
scheme does not alter the site usage at all in terms of the 
number of days being operated and is purely for the operational 
development works in association with the construction of the 
earth bunds.  On this basis it is unreasonable in our opinion to 
seek to change the establish noise criteria for the site which has 
been set by the Noise Abatement Notice and which will be 
complied with when the bunds are constructed.

Drainage 

2.20 The land subject to this scheme is not within a Flood Zone 2 or 3 
protected area. However due to the location of the Ham’s Gully Brook 
and associated watercourse adjacent to the eastern boundary of the 
site and the total site area of the proposed development it is 
appropriate to include a proportionate Drainage Statement. This has 
been provided by Cole Easdon Consultants together with surface water 
drainage layout arrangements. This information demonstrates how the 
surface water implications of the scheme have been fully taken into 
account and appropriate outfall arrangements will be incorporated to 
ensure that the discharge into the Ham’s Gully Brook is at an 
appropriate rate. [The Environment Agency did not make specific 
reference to this aspect of the application in 2013, so it was assumed 
acceptable. A prior to commencement planning condition can be 

Page 39



attached to any consent issued to require a surface water management 
scheme based upon the information supplied with the application to be 
submitted].

Conclusion 

2.21 The Bristol Shooting Club is a long established facility that has been 
servicing the needs of its members and customers for a number of 
years. It is however at a critical point whereby in order to consolidate its 
activities at this site and provide a better quality of shooting 
environment, physical changes need to take place. This application will 
enable such a high quality shooting environment to be created, in a 
manner that will not be visually harmful and, crucially, in a manner that 
will create a long term, stable noise climate wholly in compliance with 
the extant Noise Abatement Notice for the site. 

2.22 It is therefore entirely appropriate that planning permission should be 
granted for this proposal.

Additional information in respect of the planning application.

2.23 27th  February 2014:
 Ecological Assessment dated 26/02/2014
 Tree Quality Survey, Root protection areas and Development 

Implications dated 26/02/2014
 Landscape and Visual Impact assessment with associated 

Figures 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8a, 8b, 9 and Appendices 1 and 2 
(dated Feb 2014)

 Earth Bunds: Assessment of the attenuation of shooting noise 
level. (Acoustics Report M1406/R)1a.

26th March 2014:

a) Safety note and flight lines plan

3rd April 2014:

b) Matrix Acoustic Design Consulting – Response to Stroud 
District Council dated 31st March 2014.

c) Plan (no reference)– shooting trajectory.

28th November 2014:

d) Amended drawings 1404 4C and 1404 5D.

5th February 2015:

e) Site location plan DRG No. LP/01

21st July 2015 

Page 40



f) Bristol Clay Shooting response letter addressing 
representations.

24th October 2017

a) Bristol Clay Shooting supporting e-mail with attachments.
b) Solicitor advice letter.
c) Sketch plans for rifle bunding height ranges.
d) Kingswood shoot dates Jan 2013 to October 2017.

The e-mail dated 24th October 2017 from the Applicant makes the 
following points:
 

1) “By passing the bunding the first time there was no issue over 
the physical aspect of said bunds on that site.

2) Planning was quashed on a technical issue by the Claimant 
saying you were allowing change of use on the ground.  This 
said.  We were initially told by a High Court Judge at Gloucester 
Crown Court to do the works to reduce the noise at the site.  
Hence the planning application.  

3) I was persuaded to allow the council to quash the application on 
the promise that the relevant problems addressed and the 
application reissued. 

4) There were no grounds to prove that a judicial review would 
have been successful.  And with Hartpury College going through 
a judicial review with Forest of Dean council (and winning) we 
feel that this does in fact set precedence. (please see Solicitor 
letter attached)

5) Having now spoken to a number of sound engineers.  They are 
all of the same opinion that a desk top study is only ‘guesswork’ 
and until the bunds are physically in place no one can say the 
outcome of noise for definite.  And even your last noise 
consultant said it could be recommended for approval with 
conditions.

6) The Claimant’s argument that without the bunding we cannot 
shoot, therefore by giving the bunding you are allowing change 
of use.  Is not factually true.  There is no change of use as we 
still shoot at the ground and have been using our entitlement of 
28 days a year under the permitted development rights.  We 
have no desire to increase the 28 days once the bunding is built 
(please see attached the days we have shot over the past 5 
years) Please also note that we haven’t had any complaint about 
the shooting and haven’t received any contact from Stroud 
Environmental Health over the shooting.  However.  I am sure 

Page 41



that once this information is ‘out there’ then we will start to get 
complaints and Stroud E H will be contacted!!!!

7) Our solicitor has recommended that we try and give you 
ammunition to back up the application.  So we now wish to add 
the use of small bore rifles to the application.  These weapons 
are of a .22 calibre or smaller and the governing body is the 
Small Bore Rifle Association (SBRA) These weapons are 
silenced with sub sonic ammunition and make NO noise at all.  
But we need the bunding to be on site to act as a stop butt. 
Please see attached plans from the SBRA showing necessary 
construction criteria.  As we are only using rimfire weapons you 
can see that the original bund height of 4m is sufficient to comply 
with the necessary regulations the SBRA and have the section 
11.4 issued on the site.  This also complies with all necessary 
safety issues with the relevant police.

To sum up.  We feel that had a judicial review gone ahead1 that it 
wouldn’t have been successful.  We are still shooting at the site under 
PDR to our full allowance and we do not wish to increase the days.  
Therefore there would be no change of use if the planning is given.
 
Having taken all this into consideration we would urge you to 
recommend this application for approval to avoid any further actions 
taken by either party.”                               

Environmental Impact Assessment (“EIA”)

2.24 At the time the application was made the development fell under 
Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2011 and under description of development, 
Section 11(b) Installations for the disposal of waste (unless included in 
Schedule 1); and Column 2 (ii) the area exceeds 0.5ha and (iii) the 
installation is to be sited within 100 metres of any controlled waters. 
Whilst the development falls within the scope of schedule 2, following 
consultation with Statutory Consultees, it would not in the opinion of this 
authority be likely that the scheme would have a significant effect on the 
environment in terms of the requirement for an EIA. An Environmental 
Statement was therefore not requested.

Since the decision was quashed in 2015, the  Town and Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 came 
into effect (on 16th May 2017). The proposal still falls within the same 
description of development in Schedule 2 of the new regulations.  
Nothing has changed to the proposal since the application was 

1 Case Officer Note: The Applicant feels that because of the Hartpury College decision the 
WPA was wrong in deciding not to defend the decision to grant planning permission and not 
resisting the claim for judicial review and the subsequent High Court decision to quash the 
decision.(see para 7.80 below.)

Page 42



originally screened and the WPA retains the view that it would not in the 
opinion of this authority be likely that the scheme would have a 
significant effect on the environment in terms of the requirement for an 
EIA.

3. PLANNING HISTORY

3.1 There are no County planning applications associated with this site. 

3.2 There have been several planning applications made to Stroud District 
Council for agricultural buildings and associated development at Folly 
Farm. The following is a list of planning applications made to the District 
Council. 

Application 
number

Description of development Decision
/date

S.09/2135/COU Change of use of land for clay 
pigeon shooting, retention of 5 
containers for equipment, extension 
of 28 day permitted rights to 50 days 
for club activities.

Withdrawn

S.10/0845/FUL Retention of three containers used 
for storage, and removal of fourth. 
Improvements to cabins. New 
landscaping. New 2.5m high fence.

Granted
15/09/2010
Time expired on 
14.09.13

S.10/1903/DISCON Discharge of condition 4 of 
permitted application 
S.10/0845/FUL.

Granted
23/02/2011

S.12/0045/FUL Landscaping and layout for 5 
shooting stands.

Returned 
Application
07/02/2012

S.13/1485/MISC Screening opinion for importation of 
soils and subsoils to create noise 
attenuation bunds associated with 
clay pigeon shooting and associated 
landscaping works.

No EIA required
Decision
21/08/2013

4.0 Planning Policy

4.1 National Planning Policy is the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), and the National Planning Policy for Waste (2014) (NPPW). In 
addition the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) is National Guidance 
supporting the NPPF.

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

4.2 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), published on the 27th 
March 2012, constitutes national policy for Local Planning Authorities 
and is a material consideration in determining applications for this type 
of development. In assessing and determining planning proposals, 

Page 43



Planning Authorities should apply the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development, which is the main focus of the NPPF in 
relation to both the plan-making and decision making process. 
However, the presumption in favour of sustainable development does 
not apply where development requires an appropriate assessment 
under the Conservation of Birds Directive and the Habitats Directive.

In assessing the proposal the relevant Chapters and paragraphs within 
the Framework are considered to be, but not limited to, the following:

- Chapter 1 Building a strong, competitive economy. Para.19 places 
significant weight on the need to support economic growth and existing 
business sectors, taking account of whether they are expanding or 
contracting.

- Chapter 4 Promoting sustainable transport. Para 30 states that 
‘encouragement should be given to solutions which support reductions 
in greenhouse gas emissions.’

- Chapter 10 Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and 
coastal change. In respect of flooding, para.100 seeks to ensure that 
where development is necessary that it is made safe ‘without increasing 
flood risk elsewhere.’

-Chapter 11 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
(paragraphs 109 to 125) indicate that when determining planning 
applications great weight should be given to conserving and enhancing 
the landscape and biodiversity and refuse applications where significant 
harm cannot be mitigated unless the need for, and benefits of the 
development in that location clearly outweigh the loss.

-  Environment. Para.165 seeks to ensure that planning policies and 
decisions are based on up-to-date information about the natural 
environment and other characteristics of the area.

- Ensuring viability and deliverability. Where a development requires 
safeguards in order to make it acceptable in planning terms, para.176 
of the Framework states that any environmental mitigation or 
compensation would need to be secured through suitable planning 
conditions or agreements for such developments to be approved.

National Planning Policy for Waste 

4.3 The National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) was published in 
October 2014 setting out detailed waste planning policies which should 
be read in conjunction with the NPPF.  All local planning authorities 
should have regard to its policies when discharging their responsibilities 
in relation to waste management.  The NPPW was published after the 
Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy was adopted.  

Page 44



Paragraph 7 of the NPPW states that Waste Planning Authorities 
(WPA) should consider the likely impact on the local environment and 
on amenity against the criteria set out in Appendix B of the document 
and the locational implications of any advice on health from the relevant 
health bodies. Waste planning authorities should avoid carrying out 
their own detailed assessment of epidemiological and other health 
studies; 

WPAs should ensure that waste management facilities in themselves 
are well-designed, so that they contribute positively to the character and 
quality of the area in which they are located; 

Waste planning authorities should only expect applicants to 
demonstrate the quantitative or market need for new or enhanced 
waste management facilities where proposals are not consistent with an 
up to date Local Plan.  It should also consider the likely impact on the 
local environment and amenity and ensure waste management facilities 
are in themselves well designed so as to contribute positively to the 
area in which they are located.

Local authorities are also asked not to concern themselves with the 
control of processes which are a matter for the pollution control 
authorities.  Waste planning authorities should work on the assumption 
that the relevant pollution control regime will be properly applied and 
enforced. 

4.4 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) Planning Practice 
Guidance Note on Noise suggests that the subjective nature of noise 
means that there is not a simple relationship between noise levels and 
the impact on those affected. This will depend on how various factors 
combine in any particular situation. The guidance details the factors 
and suggests how the adverse effects of noise can be mitigated. The 
guidance suggests that for noise sensitive developments mitigation 
measures can include avoiding noisy locations; designing the 
development to reduce the impact of noise from the local environment; 
including noise barriers; and, optimising the sound insulation provided 
by the building envelope. 

The NPPG (Noise) paragraph 8 suggests that there are a number of 
ways that noise can be mitigated. “This will depend on the type of 
development being considered and the character of the proposed 
location. In general, for noise making developments, there are 4 broad 
types of mitigation:

a) engineering: reducing the noise generated at source and/or 
containing the noise generated;

b) layout: where possible, optimising the distance between the 
source and noise-sensitive receptors and/or incorporating good 
design to minimise noise transmission through the use of 
screening by natural or purpose built barriers, or other buildings;

Page 45



c) using planning conditions/obligations to restrict activities allowed 
on the site at certain times and/or specifying permissible noise 
levels differentiating as appropriate between different times of 
day, such as evenings and late at night, and;

d) mitigating the impact on areas likely to be affected by noise 
including through noise insulation when the impact is on a 
building.”

Noise Policy Statement for England (NPSE) March 2010

4.5 This Noise Policy Statement for England (NPSE) should apply to all forms of 
noise including environmental noise, neighbour noise and neighbourhood 
noise. The policy vision is to promote good health and a good quality of life 
through the effective management of noise within the context of Government 
policy on sustainable development. There are several key phrases within the 
NPSE aims and these are discussed below. The policy states at paragraphs  
2.19 to 2.22 that there are two established concepts from toxicology that are 
currently being applied to noise impacts, for example, by the World Health 
Organisation. They are:

NOEL – No Observed Effect Level

This is the level below which no effect can be detected. In simple terms, below 
this level, there is no detectable effect on health and quality of life due to the 
noise.

LOAEL – Lowest Observed Adverse Effect Level

This is the level above which adverse effects on health and quality of life can 
be detected.

Extending these concepts for the purpose of this NPSE leads to the concept 
of a significant observed adverse effect level. 

SOAEL – Significant Observed Adverse Effect Level 

This is the level above which significant adverse effects on health and 
quality of life occur.

It is not possible to have a single objective noise-based measure that 
defines SOAEL that is applicable to all sources of noise in all situations. 
Consequently, the SOAEL is likely to be different for different noise 
sources, for different receptors and at different times. 

Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy (adopted November 2012)

4.6 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
indicates that the Adopted Development Plan status must be 
considered. The following policies are relevant to the proposed 
development:

Page 46



WCS1 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development:
“When considering development proposals the Council will take a positive 
approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development 
contained in the National Planning Policy Framework. It will always work 
proactively with applicants jointly to find solutions which mean that proposals 
can be approved wherever possible, and to secure development that improves 
the economic, social and environmental conditions in the area. Planning 
applications that accord with the policies in the WCS (and, where relevant, 
with policies in neighbourhood plans) will be approved without delay, unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. Where there are no policies 
relevant to the application or relevant policies are out of date at the time of 
making the decision then the Council will grant permission unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise – taking into account whether:

 Any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in the National Planning Policy Frameworktaken as a whole; 
or

 Specific policies in that Framework indicate that development 
should be restricted.”

WCS4 – Inert Waste Recycling and Recovery
In order to help reduce the impact of landfill and achieve the 
requirements of the Waste Framework Directive (2008) the Council will 
aim to divert around 85,000 tonnes/year of inert waste from landfill 
through recycling and recovery operations.

Proposals for inert waste recycling and recovery facilities will be 
permitted where it can be demonstrated that:

1. The impact on the environment and neighbouring land uses is     
acceptable including detailed assessment of the impact of 
noise and     dust and attenuation measures.

2. Where viable, the proposal incorporates the use of 
alternatives to road transport such as rail and water and that 
where road transport is used the highway access is suitable 
for the proposed vehicle movements and is supported by a 
transport assessment and travel plan setting out measures to 
encourage employees to reach the site by foot, cycle or public 
transport.

3. The proposal contributes towards providing a sustainable 
waste management system for Gloucestershire.

4. If the proposal is permanent and of a ‘strategic’ scale (>50,000 
tonnes/year) it is located in the area defined as ‘Zone C’ 
except where located within an existing or disused mineral 
working.

Developments may be acceptable on existing waste management sites 
and mineral workings where it can be demonstrated that the minimum 
amount of materials are being used for restoration/engineering 
purposes and that the use will not unduly prejudice the agreed 
restoration principles and timescale for the site. 

Page 47



Temporary developments may be acceptable where the material is 
recycled and re-used on site.

WCS8: Landfill2
Proposals for new landfill developments or extensions to existing landfill 
sites will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that:

1. The waste cannot be managed further up the waste hierarchy 
through reuse, recycling and recovery; and

2. The proposed landfill would enable;
i. restoration of current or former minerals sites (subject to 
technical suitability of the site); or
ii. a demonstrable improvement in the quality of the land; or
iii. facilitating an appropriate after use; or
iv. engineering or other operations.

3. The proposed development would not compromise the 
permitted restoration of mineral sites or existing landfill sites 
by the diversion of significant amounts of material;

4. The site does not adversely effect the following designations – 
major aquifers, source protection zones and European Sites; 
and

5. Any proposal for new or extended landfill will need to indicate 
that it is for Gloucestershire’s waste needs unless it can be 
demonstrated, through a supporting statement, to be the most 
sustainable option to manage waste arisings from outside of 
the county at that facility.

  
WCS12 – Flood Risk
In order to reduce the likelihood and impact of flooding both on and off-
site there will be a general presumption that all waste-related 
development will be located in areas of low flood risk, (Flood Zone 1) 
unless it can be demonstrated that there are no suitable, alternative 
sites available.

Only if no suitable sites are available in Flood Zone 1 will consideration 
be given to sites within Flood Zone 2 and only if no suitable sites are 
available in Zone 2 will consideration be given to sites within Flood 
Zone 3a. Proposals which are classified as 'less vulnerable' may come 
forward in Flood Zones 1, 2 and 3a although the sequential approach 
will still apply.

Proposals for 'more vulnerable' waste development including 
landfill/landraise and hazardous waste treatment and disposal will only 

2 Case Officer Note: This policy is only relevant if the site needs a ‘disposal’ permit from the 
Environment Agency (EA) for the waste. If the EA call it a ‘disposal’ permit then it is a landfill/ 
land raise operation. If the development is considered to be an engineering operation and 
subsequent case law would suggest that the material used is ‘recovered’ then it would not fall 
to the WPA but would be a District Matter.

Page 48



be permitted in Flood Zone 3a where it can be demonstrated through 
application of the 'exception test' that:

- The development provides wider sustainability benefits to the 
community that outweigh flood risk having regard to the 
Gloucestershire Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA); and

- The site is previously developed or if not, that there are no 
reasonable and available alternative sites on previously 
developed land; and 

- The development will be safe without increasing flood risk 
elsewhere and where possible, will reduce flood risk overall.

Proposals for waste-related development within Flood Zone 3b (the 
functional floodplain) will not be permitted other than 'water compatible' 
proposals such as sewage transmission infrastructure and pumping 
stations and, subject to the exception test, development which is 
classified as 'essential infrastructure'.

A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) will be required for all development of 
1 hectare or more and for any proposal located within Flood Zone 2 and 
3a. The FRA should consider all sources of potential flood risk.
The design of all new development will be required to take account of 
current and potential future flood risk from all sources both on and off-
site including in particular the use of Sustainable Drainage Systems 
(SUDS).

WCS14 – Landscape
“General Landscape
Proposals for waste development will be permitted where they do not 
have a significant adverse effect on the local landscape as identified in 
the Landscape Character Assessment* or unless the impact can be 
mitigated. Where significant adverse impacts cannot be fully mitigated, 
the social, environmental and economic benefits of the proposal must 
outweigh any harm arising from the impacts”.

WCS15 – Nature Conservation (Biodiversity & Geodiversity)
Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and National Nature Reserves 
(NNR) will be safeguarded from inappropriate waste management 
development.  Planning permission for waste management 
development within or outside a Site of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSI) or National Nature Reserve (NNR) will only be granted where it 
can be demonstrated that:

- The development would not conflict with the conservation, 
management and enhancement of the site unless the harmful 
aspects can be satisfactorily mitigated; and

- The benefit of the development clearly outweighs the impacts 
that the proposal would have on the key features of the site; 
and

- The proposal complies with other relevant policies of the 
development plan; and

Page 49



- In the case of a SSSI, there would be no broader impact on the 
national network of SSSIs.

Local nature conservation designations will also be safeguarded from 
inappropriate development and planning permission will only be granted 
for development affecting such designations where it can be 
demonstrated that the impact of the development can be satisfactorily 
mitigated and that the benefit of the development clearly outweighs any 
impact.

Development proposals will be required to assess their impact on the 
natural environment and make a contribution to local nature 
conservation targets to ensure net gain for biodiversity.

Proposals that incorporate beneficial biodiversity or geological features 
into their design and layout will be favourably considered particularly 
where the proposal would result in a positive contribution to a Strategic 
Nature Area (SNA) as identified on the Nature Map for Gloucestershire.

WCS 17 – Design
Subject to compliance with other relevant development plan policies, 
planning permission will be granted for waste related development that 
achieves a high standard of design that is clearly robust and articulated 
through a Design and Access Statement.
Particular issues to address will include:

- How the proposal reflects, responds and is appropriate to its 
local environment and surroundings within Gloucestershire;

- The durability, adaptability and sustainability of the proposal 
including the use of sustainable drainage to reduce the impact of 
surface water run-off;

- How the proposal makes the most efficient use of the site; and
- The use of high quality architecture and landscaping.

Poor quality design which fails to reflect or contribute positively to the 
character and quality of the area in which the proposal is located will be 
rejected.

WCS19 – Sustainable Transport:
“In the interests of sustainable development and minimising the impact 
of waste management on Gloucestershire's roads and the wider natural 
and historic environment, proposals for waste-related development that 
utilise alternative modes of transport such as rail and water will be 
positively supported. This is subject to compliance with other relevant 
development plan policies and the contribution to a sustainable waste 
management system for Gloucestershire.

Any development exceeding the thresholds set out in the Department 
for Transport publication 'Guidance on Transport Assessment' must be 
supported by a Transport Assessment (TA) and Travel Plan. 
Consideration will also be had to the location of the proposed 
development in determining whether a TA is required.

Page 50



Development that would have an adverse impact on the highway 
network which cannot be mitigated will not be permitted. Where a 
Travel Plan is required the developer will be expected to enter into a 
Section 106 or unilateral legal agreement to secure the development of 
the travel plan and any contributions required to support its 
implementation. A contribution towards costs of monitoring the travel 
plan will also be required.”

Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002 – 2012 (Adopted October 
2004) (“GCC WLP”)

4.7 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
indicates that the Adopted Waste Local Plan’s Development Plan status 
must be the starting point for decision making. Gloucestershire Waste 
Core Strategy adopted on 21st November 2012 replaced most of the 
policies within the Waste Local Plan; however several policies from the 
adopted Waste Local Plan have been ‘saved’ and remain relevant to 
the determination of planning applications. As the development involves 
the importation of waste material for infilling, the following saved 
policies are considered as relevant to the proposed development and 
are inconformity with the principles detailed in the NPPF:

Policy 33 – Water Resources – Pollution Control
“Proposals for waste development will only be permitted where there 
would be no unacceptable risk of contamination to surface 
watercourses, bodies of water or groundwater resources.”

This policy is in conformity with the Planning Principles detailed in the 
NPPF.

Policy 37 – Proximity to other land uses:
“Proposals for waste development will be determined taking into 
account such matters as the effect on the environment, occupants’ and 
users’ amenity and health, the countryside, the traditional landscape 
character of Gloucestershire, the local highway network, any hazardous 
installation or substance and any adverse cumulative effect in 
combination with other development in the area. Where appropriate, 
suitable ameliorative measures shall be incorporated in the proposals to 
mitigate, attenuate and control noise, dust, litter, odour, landfill gas, 
vermin, leachate and flue emissions.”

This policy is in conformity with the Core Planning Principles detailed in 
paragraph 17 of the NPPF.

Policy 38 – Hours of Operation:

Page 51



“The Waste Planning Authority will where appropriate impose a 
condition restricting hours of operation on waste management facilities 
to protect amenity.”

This policy is in conformity with the Planning Principles detailed in 
Chapters 11 and 12 of the NPPF.

4.8 Stroud District Local Plan Adopted November 2015

Under Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compensation Act (2004) the 
Planning Authority must have regard to the Stroud District Local Plan in 
considering planning applications unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. The Stroud Local Plan was adopted in November 
2015 and entirely replaced the 2005 Local Plan. This application should 
now be considered against the policies in the new plan, rather than the 
2005 plan as was originally the case when the application was 
considered by Planning Committee in July 2015. The relevant policies 
are:

Core Policy 1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development

Core Policy 14 – High quality sustainable development

This policy stresses the importance of careful design and layout in 
achieving development (of all kinds) that is truly integrated into its 
setting with good, safe and convenient connections to surrounding 
facilities and amenities.

High quality development, which protects, conserves and enhances the 
built and natural environment, will be supported. Development will be 
supported where it achieves:

2.  No unacceptable levels of air, noise, water, light or soil 
pollution or exposure to unacceptable risk from existing or 
potential sources of pollution. Improvements to soil and water 
quality will be sought through the remediation of land 
contamination, the provision of SuDS and the inclusion of 
measures to help water bodies to meet good ecological status

4. No increased risk of flooding on or off the site, and inclusion of 
measures to reduce the causes and impacts of flooding as a 
consequence of that development

5. An appropriate design and appearance, which is respectful of 
the surroundings, including the local topography, built 
environment and heritage

6.  Re-use of previously developed land and/or the adaptation of 
existing buildings that make a positive contribution to the 
character of the site and surroundings, unless demonstrably 
unviable

7. No unacceptable adverse affect on the amenities of 
neighbouring occupants

Page 52



CP15 – A quality living and working countryside.

Delivery Policy ES3 - Maintaining Quality of Life within our 
Environmental Limits

Permission will not be granted to any development which would be 
likely to lead to, or result in an unacceptable level of:

1. Noise, general disturbance, smell, fumes, loss of daylight or 
sunlight, loss of privacy or an overbearing effect

2. Environmental pollution to water, land or air and an 
unacceptable risk to the quality and quantity of a water body 
or water bodies

3. Noise sensitive development in locations where it would be 
subject to unacceptable noise levels

4. Increased risk of flooding on or off the site, and no inclusion of 
measures to reduce the causes and impacts of flooding

5. A detrimental impact on highway safety
6. An adverse effect on contaminated land where there is a risk 

to human health or the environment.

Delivery Policy ES7 - Landscape Character
Within the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), or 
on land that may affect its setting, priority will be given to the 
conservation and enhancement of the natural and scenic beauty of the 
landscape whilst taking account of the biodiversity interest and the 
historic and cultural heritage. Major development will not be permitted 
unless it is demonstrated to be in the national interest and that there is 
a lack of alternative sustainable development sites.
In all locations development proposals should conserve or enhance the 
special features and diversity of the different landscape character types 
found within the District. Priority will be given to the protection of the 
quality and diversity of the landscape character.
Development will only be permitted if all the following criteria are met:

1. The location, materials, scale and use are sympathetic and 
complement the landscape character; and

2. Natural features including trees, hedgerows and water 
features that contribute to the landscape character and setting 
of the development should be both retained and managed 
appropriately in the future.

Opportunities for appropriate landscaping will be sought alongside all 
new development, such that landscape type key characteristics are 
strengthened.
The Stroud District Landscape Assessment will be used when 
determining applications for development within rural areas.

In terms of shaping the future of Wotton cluster, guiding principle 4 
suggests “support for low-impact development which will boost the rural 
economy: including farm diversification, and uses that will bolster 

Page 53



tourism, leisure and accessibility to the countryside for visitors and 
residents.”

5.0 REPRESENTATIONS

5.1 The proposal was advertised by a site notice erected on the 3/7/13 
which expired on the 24/07/13 an advertisement in a locally circulating 
newspaper (Dursley Gazette) dated 04/07/13 which expired on the 
25/07/13 and 9 letters were sent to near neighbours to notify them 
about the application.

5.2 At the time of writing the original report, 93 letters of representation had 
been received, 36 objecting to the proposal, and 55 supporting the 
proposal. Two with neutral comments were received. Since re- 
consultation on the planning application in November 2017 there is one 
new person making a representations, although existing people have 
submitted further representations. The full details of the representations 
received since the application was submitted can be viewed through 
public access, either in the comments section or as an associated 
document. http://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/. 

5.3 A summary of their comments is contained in Appendix 1 to the report. 
The main concerns raised by the objectors relate to unacceptable and 
intrusive noise levels arising from the shooting will not be resolved by 
the construction of the bunds; local roads are unsuitable for HGV’s; 
safety at the site is questioned; pollution of surrounding land and water 
courses; impact upon PROW, consultation regarding the proposal is 
inadequate; proposed bunds are unnecessary; the design and layout of 
the site is inappropriate, and the site location is unsuitable. Those in 
support of the proposal suggest that the facility is well located and 
much needed; the proposed bunds will work; safety will be further 
improved; keeps a traditional country sport alive; and restrictions on the 
shoot have already been imposed by the noise abatement notice.

Alderley Parish Meeting

5.4 Alderley Parish meeting state that “the village is extremely concerned 
about this proposal. Alderley is probably affected more by the noise 
from clay shooting at Folly Farm than any other location and do 
appreciate that this application is for the construction of bunds and not 
for the continuation of clay shooting. However, whilst no one here 
claims to have expertise in noise and sound amplification, it has been 
suggested that unless the bunds are of incredible height, sound may 
simply be diverted upwards and outwards echoing and increasing in 
volume towards our village. An example may be found in the nearby 
village of Stinchcombe where enormous bunds were constructed 
alongside the M5 motorway over several years at great inconvenience 
to the village. Whilst it is true to say that the motorway can no longer be 
seen from Stinchcombe village, the sound of traffic there has not been 
reduced one scrap. The mayhem and disruption caused by numerous 

Page 54

http://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/


large trucks and lorries transporting waste materials and soil to Folly 
Farm on narrow country lanes through our villages over a lengthy 
period of time will result in traffic chaos for local residents. As most of 
us do not recognise many of the names of those supporting the 
application it is presumed that the majority of them are members of the 
gun club using the site and do not live in the immediate locality. They 
will not therefore suffer the consequences and disruption that will result 
from these proposals. We consider that the proposal is unlikely to 
reduce noise levels to below an acceptable 60 DB, object strongly and 
urge the Council to reject this application.”

5.5 Councillor John Cordwell (The Local Member) makes the following 
comments:

In addition to being the local County Councillor for this application I am 
also a lead member of the County Council’s Planning Committee. I will 
wish to give my views on how the application should be determined 
when the full information on the application is available, most likely at 
committee. I therefore restrict myself here to some preliminary 
comments and for the present have ticked the ‘neutral’ box. 

I have read the comments from consultees as they currently exist but 
clearly these are not yet complete. In addition I understand further 
information is being sought from the Applicant. 

Soil Importation: Given the narrow, undulating and twisting nature of the 
lane (Hillesley Road/Kingswood Road) which gives access to this site, 
consideration must be given to the source of the material and the haul 
route beyond the site. This should be specified. Any consent should 
limit by condition the size of vehicle that can be used and should ensure 
that such vehicles enter the public highway with clean wheels, not 
simply that a facility exists on site to clean them. The hours of operation 
must take into account the peaks in other traffic movements in the lane, 
in particular school runs and travel to work journeys. 

Noise: The intention is that the bunds will reduce the noise from the 
shooting below the specified 62dBA limit at identified properties. I am 
concerned that they may not do so, including the possibility that they 
may deflect the noise causing a statutory noise nuisance in different 
locations. Presumably in this case the Applicant would seek to import 
further material. Apart from the statutory noise nuisance limit, noise 
levels below this can be a very real disturbance over large distances if 
they continue for long periods. 

6.0 CONSULTATIONS

Stroud District Council (SDC):
6.1 Planning: It is the view of Stroud District Council that the development 

would not be harmful to the character and appearance of the 
Kingswood Vale or the AONB. No objection should be raised to this 

Page 55



proposal.

EHO first Comments (SDC1 26/07/2013): The purpose of the bunds is 
to minimise disturbance associated with the use of the site for clay 
pigeon shooting. As such it is important to ensure that prior to granting 
permission, the proposed bunds will be effective in this purpose. 
Reference in the planning application supporting information to a 
shooting noise level (SNL) limit of 62 dB is not directly relevant in 
relation to the planning process and application submitted. This level 
was imposed following a court case where it was determined that use of 
the site amounted to a 'statutory noise nuisance' under the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990. The planning process seeks to 
ensure that any development does not give rise to 'detriment to 
amenity', commonly known as 'annoyance' a lesser standard than that 
of statutory nuisance. As such it is directly relevant to make reference 
to the Chartered Institute of Environmental Health clay target shooting 
guidance on the control of noise 2003. 

This guidance document is recognised as being the most relevant in 
terms of Clay Pigeon shooting and the parameters specified therein in 
relation to minimising the potential for disturbance from clay pigeon 
shooting activities from both proposed and existing clay pigeon shoots. 
The relevant parameters are those detailed in Section 6.0 of the 
guidance with particular reference to shooting noise levels and 
associated annoyance. The guidance states that: “..there is no fixed 
shooting noise level at which annoyance starts to occur. Annoyance is 
less likely to occur at a mean shooting noise level below 55 dB(A) and 
highly likely to occur at a mean shooting noise level above 65 dB(A). 
The likelihood of annoyance at levels within this range will depend upon 
local circumstances....". “At shooting noise levels below the mid 50's 
dB(A) there is little evidence of significant levels of annoyance at any 
site, whereas for levels in the mid to high 60's significant annoyance is 
engendered in a majority of sites. For levels in between however, the 
extent of the annoyance varies considerably from site to site. Thus a 
level of, say, 60 dB(A) may be deemed acceptable at one site but not 
another." 

The site in question is in a rural location, with low background noise 
levels, no major road networks or other sources of relatively constant 
noise that would otherwise increase background noise levels and could 
potentially mask or reduce the perceived loudness of clay shooting 
activities. As such it is reasonable to conclude that a level of 60 dB may 
be deemed unacceptable at this site. The planning process should 
always seek to 'design out' potential problems (such as noise) as far as 
reasonably practicable, whilst being mindful of the proposed 
development and aspirations of the Applicant in terms of running a 
business. These principles are echoed in the National Planning Policy 
statement (NPPF) 2012. Taking the above matters into account, I would 
recommend that a maximum shooting noise level of 55 dB(A) would be 
relevant in terms of balancing the rights of residents in the vicinity to not 

Page 56



suffer annoyance associated with the use of the site, whilst allowing the 
shoot to operate flexibly.

In the light of the above, Stroud District Council EHO requested 
additional information in respect of the application. 

EHO comments following the submission of additional information 
– Acoustics Report by Matrix Acoustic Design Consultants in 
February 2014.

The following represents the response of Stroud District Council as a 
formal consultee in respect of planning application 13/0042/STMAJW, 
relating to the provision of noise attenuation bunds at a shooting ground 
on land adjacent to Folly Farm, Kingswoood, GL12 7QX. 

This response follows a review of the Matrix Acoustic Design 
Consultants report M1406/R01a, dated 26 February 2014 (hereafter 
referred to as “Matrix Report”). This response also makes reference 
to Stroud District Council’s initial response provided to 
Gloucestershire County Council dated 31 July 2013 (hereafter 
referred to as “Response SDC1”), a copy of which is attached to this 
document.

1. Firstly, and most importantly, the Matrix Report appears to be based 
on a misconception of the noise situation relating to the existing use 
of the shooting ground. 

In section 2 of the report it is stated that “BCS have informed us that 
a SNL limit of 62dB at the nearest noise sensitive receptors has 
been agreed with Stroud District Council Environmental Health and 
endorsed by the Crown Court.”

This is followed by the statement that “Stroud District Council have 
measured a SNL of 66dB at Harley Gate Farm (receptor G, Figure 
2), which exceeds the noise limit by 4dB.” In section 3.2, this 
supposition is reinforced as follows – “Stroud District Council 
measured the existing SNL, whilst standard cartridges were being 
used by BCS, as 66dB at Hareley Gate Farm”.

Thereafter, the Matrix Report sets out proposals to provide bunding 
“to reduce the SNL to the agreed SNL limit”, i.e. to reduce the SNL 
from 66dB to a maximum of 62dB.

However, as was indicated in statements produced for the previous 
legal proceedings against the Applicant, the ‘Mean’ SNL for Hareley 
Gate Farm (calculated from measurements in accordance with the 
CIEH Clay Target Shoot Guidance on the Control of Noise 2003), 
was in fact 76dB, not the 66dB quoted in the Matrix Report. 

Consequently, the entire basis of the proposals thereafter is based 

Page 57



on an incorrect assumption of the measured noise level at the 
dwelling identified within that report as the worst affected. In fact, the 
reduction in SNL required to attain the Report’s stated limit is 
underestimated by 10dB. This patently undermines the basis of the 
Matrix Report and renders its conclusions erroneous – the proposed 
bunds have not been demonstrated to reduce the SNL to 62dB at 
Hareley Gate Farm.

2. In concert with the point raised in 1. above, the predicted SNL 
quoted in the Matrix Report for Park Farm (Table 1) is stated as 
51dB. However, as was indicated in statements produced for the 
previous legal proceedings against the applicant, the Mean SNL for 
Park Farm (calculated from measurements in accordance with the 
CIEH Clay Target Shoot Guidance on the Control of Noise 2003), 
was in fact 76dB, some 25dB in excess of the predicted level. This 
again clearly undermines the basis of the Matrix Report and must 
raise question marks as to the validity of the modelled data.

3. Stroud District Council would take issue with the supposition that an 
SNL of 62dB has been agreed in respect of this planning application. 
Response SDC1, dated 31 July 2013, discusses at length the 
differences between meeting requirements to abate a statutory noise 
nuisance and the avoidance of detriment to amenity. I do not 
propose to duplicate the reasoning within that document but would 
firmly reiterate that the recommendations therein remain this 
Council’s position. 

The SNL of 62 dB required by the Abatement Notice was imposed to 
prevent the recurrence of a statutory noise nuisance from a shooting 
ground operating within the confines of the General Permitted 
Development Order, i.e. a maximum of 28 days of shooting per 
annum. However, as stated in Response SDC1, it is recommended 
that a maximum Mean SNL of 55dB would be the relevant noise 
target in promoting a reasonable balance between the prevention of 
noise annoyance to local residents while allowing the shoot to 
operate with flexibility in terms of the frequency of shoots as well as 
their types and layouts.

4. The Matrix Report states at section 2 and in Figure 1 that bunding is 
proposed at either 3.8m or 4.5m above local ground level. However, 
at section 3.3 the bund heights are described as 3.8m and 4m. The 
height of the proposed “higher” bund thus requires specification.

5. In Response SDC1, it was indicated that an acoustic report should 
specify the suitability of the proposed bunding for different shooting 
layouts and disciplines to avoid potential conditioning restricting 
usage to certain disciplines. This does not appear to have been 
considered in the Matrix Report.

Page 58



Given the significant issues raised above, it is Stroud District Council’s 
view as a formal consultee that the Matrix Report does not suitably 
address the noise concerns relating to the application raised within 
Response SDC1 and, as a consequence, the application should not be 
granted.

EHO comments following the submission of clarification in 
respect of the February report from Matrix Acoustic Design 
Consultants dated 31st March 2014.

Existing Shooting Noise Level:

It is accepted that more recent sound level measurements relating to 
shooting at the site were obtained by Stroud District Council in February 
2012. What is not clear, though, is exactly what the circumstances were 
in terms of the shooting undertaken, in particular the ammunition 
provided by BCS on that occasion.

In section 2 of the Matrix Report it states that it is understood that the 
66 dB measurement was made whilst “standard cartridges were being 
used”. This contention is again repeated in section 3.2 of the Report. 
Thus, it would appear that the basis of the subsequent assessment was 
that the 66 dB SNL was achieved using standard 28g cartridges.

However, in correspondence from the operator following the event, the 
following statements were made:-

 “The other shoot use standard ammunition with no restrictions 
...... and as none of their ammunition is sub sonic would have 
given a higher reading than ours.” This would appear to imply 
that subsonic cartridges were in use by BCS at the shoot in 
question.

 “When referring to 70db, this was measured with the 
cartridges we had loaded. At V1 the muzzled velocity was 840 
ft per second (+ or – 20) A standard Hushpower has 1140 (+ 
or – 20) at V1”. Pages 16 and 17 of the CIEH Guidance 
clearly define subsonic cartridges as having velocities of 850 – 
1000 feet per second. Thus, again it appears that subsonic 
cartridges were in use on the day in question.

 “The ammunition we would use as a temporary measure 
would be standard Hushpower, which being sub sonic should 
still be adequate to get the results required.”

These three quotations show that, in the days immediately after the 
shoot, the operator was stating that subsonic cartridges were being 
used when the measurement of 66 dB (SNL) was obtained. These 
statements would appear to contradict the understanding stated in 
sections 2 and 3.2 of the Matrix Report that standard cartridges were in 
use on that day. The “loudness” of shots does not just vary with 

Page 59



cartridge “weight” but also with muzzle velocity.

Our original response to this matter (dated 31st July, 2013) did 
specifically recommend that any report should make reference to 
whether the required sound levels could be achieved at the specified 
properties using non-subsonic (or regular) cartridges, unless the 
Applicant specifically wished to agree to use only subsonic cartridges at 
this site. I would suggest that further information in this regard from the 
Applicant might provide sufficient clarity to allow a judgment to be 
made. 

It is perhaps worth noting that the operator made reference to the use 
of subsonic cartridges on a number of occasions during the legal 
process in 2010. Indeed during an Abatement Notice appeal hearing, 
the operator was very clear in his contentions that use of subsonic 
ammunition was not a viable option for BCS as it was not suitable for 
his shooting disciplines and, as such, was not acceptable to his clients.

Thus, in the opinion of Stroud District Council, there remains a question 
mark over the likely effectiveness of the proposed bunding as a 
consequence of the above inconsistencies in the accounts of the 
ammunition utilised by BCS during the 66 dB SNL shoot. I would please 
request that the applicant be approached to seek to clarify the situation.

With respect to the Matrix contentions in respect of measurements at 
Park Farm, it is not accepted that the 2010 measurements failed to 
comply with guidance. The “slightly gusty” wind description was a 
descriptor relating to wind conditions within the scope of the broader 
parameter of wind less than 5 m/s. Additionally, any measurements 
taken during brief periods of dampness were discounted for 
assessment purposes. Notwithstanding the results obtained in 2012, it 
is still a source of concern that the predicted SNL of only 51 dB varies 
so widely from that at Hareley Gate Farm when measured SNLs were 
originally both 76 dB.

Shooting Noise Level Limit:

Stroud District Council accepts that while BCS operates under the 28-
day permitted development mechanism, an SNL limit of 62 dB would be 
acceptable. The limit of 55 dB was proposed to provide the Applicant 
both with a suitable “buffer” to avoid non-compliance with an Abatement 
Notice and further to provide flexibility for use of the shooting ground in 
the future. The Applicant should realise that any future plans to extend 
shooting beyond 28 days would be seriously handicapped in the event 
that SNLs of only 62 dB were achievable.

Bund Height and Shooting Layouts:

Stroud District Council welcomes the clarification provided in respect of 
these matters.

Page 60



EHO comments following the submission of clarification in 
respect of the February report from Matrix Acoustic Design 
Consultants dated 25th July 2014

The information provided does appear to provide greater clarity on 
some of the questions raised at our meeting with the Applicant and his 
agent. 

I am not sure whether it lies within your remit but it would appear that a 
potential avenue might be to condition the allowable ammunition 
specification for shooting purposes. Perhaps something along the lines 
of:-

“Cartridges used for shooting purposes on the grounds shall not exceed 
the shot load, size and velocities utilised on 05/02/12 as specified in the 
Matrix M1406 Bristol Clay Shooting Acoustic Note N02, dated 25th July 
2014.”

Furthermore, I would recommend that a condition be attached to 
require a validation exercise post-construction in order that the 
Applicant should demonstrate that the bunding has proven to be 
effective in meeting a maximum SNL of 62 dB at the properties 
specified.

With respect to your point about the need for the bunding, the Applicant 
has not provided any evidence that the requirements of the Abatement 
Notice can be met without the need for the bunds. You will recall that 
the question marks related to a shoot with a measured SNL of 66 dB, 
whereas the Notice requires 62 dB as a maximum. Thus, it is clear that 
action is required to comply with the requirements of the Notice and that 
bunding is the route that has been proposed by the Applicant.

The bottom line question you raise is whether the bunds proposed will 
sufficiently reduce the noise from the shooting operation.  

I am satisfied that the bunding would, in conjunction with other control 
methods such as ammunition selection, provide the opportunity for the 
Applicant to achieve a Shooting Noise Level of 62 dB. However, I would 
stress that the provision of the bunding alone does not guarantee that 
the SNL would be achieved - that will be dependent on provision of 
adequate additional control measures.

EHO Comments received following the submission of additional 
information on 24th October 2017

Having looked at the submitted information, I would make the following 
points:-

(a) The issue of the required target noise level is not a straightforward one. 
In essence it boils down to the interpretation of guidance and credible 

Page 61



arguments exist on both sides. Set out below is the thinking that led to 
the use of the 62 dB SNL limit.

Appendix 5 of the CIEH Guidance document provides guidelines for 
setting noise limits, as follows (in italics):-

Any limits set will be a matter for local negotiation, but should normally 
be set according to the following guidelines:-

a) The limit shall take the form of a mean SNL of x dB, not to be 
exceeded;

b) x will depend on local circumstances, but would normally be 
expected to fall somewhere in the range 55 to 65 dB;

c) factors that should be considered in selecting x are:-

• the locality and general background noise levels;
• on which day(s) of the week shooting occurs;
• at which time(s) of day(s) e.g. morning, afternoon, evening;
• the intensity of shooting – e.g. number of shooting days per 

year;
• the type of shoot – e.g. 28 day or with planning approval;
• the rate of fire.

It should be noted, therefore, that the limit would normally be expected 
to fall somewhere in the range 55 to 65 dB. The same guidance states 
that there is no fixed level at which annoyance begins to occur but that 
it is less likely to occur below 55 dB and highly likely to occur above 65 
dB. It further states that the likelihood of annoyance at levels within that 
range will depend on local circumstances, referencing the factors in red 
font above and quoting BRE guidance that the extent of that annoyance 
varies considerably from site to site. 

With respect to the current application, the applicant does not propose 
to shoot on more than 28 days per year and indeed the Abatement 
Notice precludes this. Thus, the frequency of shooting remains as per 
the GPDO level. Furthermore, shooting is restricted by the Abatement 
Notice to 10:00 – 13:00 (3 hours) on each day of shooting and the 
number of shooters is restricted to 55 people per occasion. This 
essentially equates to 3 hours of shooting on 28 Sunday mornings per 
year. 

In the context of the above, it should be noted that within the CIEH 
guidance it is stated that, where justified complaints of noise have been 
received or are anticipated, then restricting shooting to the following 
times may provide a suitable remedy:-

(i)         Mon to Fri:       09.00 to 18.00 with a maximum cumulative 
duration of 4 hours
(ii)        Saturdays:       10.00 to 18.00 with a maximum cumulative 

Page 62



duration of 3 hours
(iii)       Sundays:         10.00 to 14.00 with a maximum cumulative 
duration of 3 hours

Consequently, while the CIEH Guidance states that planning 
permission should not normally (my emphasis) be granted for a major 
shoot if the mean SNL exceeds 55 dB where the background level is 
less than 45 dB, the above matters provide additional context in that 
regard. A major shoot is regarded as having (or seeking) planning 
permission and operating on more than one day a week, having a 
number of stands or holding major events. The current proposals would 
rarely lead to shooting on more than one day per week and there is no 
proposal to hold major events. Thus, although more than one stand is 
proposed, the other factors do tend towards the site lying at the less 
intensive end of the clay target shooting spectrum in noise terms, and 
usage durations accord with guidance restrictions. 

It would seem likely that the majority of planning applications relating to 
clay target shooting would be related to proposed expansion of the 
frequency of shooting beyond the 28 days per year permitted by GPDO. 
In that sense, therefore, this application would perhaps be considered 
not to be “normal”.

While fully accepting that detriment to amenity and statutory nuisance 
are not necessarily the same, the limit set in the Abatement Notice is 
one that was deemed appropriate to prevent an unreasonable 
interference in the use and enjoyment of property. As this application 
does not seek to extend the amount of clay target shooting beyond that 
current situation, then the level in question may remain appropriate  

c) As previously stated, it is not felt that the applicant has adequately 
demonstrated that the provision of the bunds alone would guarantee 
that an SNL of 62 dB would be achieved. It is noted that other control 
measures are available such as restrictions on the type and weight of 
cartridge used. Given the enforcement difficulties inherent in controlling, 
for example, shot types and weights then it would seem prudent to 
require demonstration that the bunding alone would allow shooting to 
comply with an SNL of 62 dB.

d) I would recommend that a condition be attached to any permission to 
control noise and dust/dirt resulting from the construction works.

Environment Agency: 
6.2 We have no objection to planning permission being granted for the 

development but would recommend that the following information is 
made clear to the Applicant, perhaps by means of a note attached to 
the decision notice.

The activity requires the operator to obtain a Waste Recovery 
Environmental Permit from the Environment Agency.  In order to 

Page 63



qualify, the activity would have to be shown to be genuine recovery 
operation and not a disposal activity.  For further information on this 
matter please refer to our Regulatory Guidance Note 13 – 
http://www.environment-
agency.gov.uk/business/topics/permitting/36419.aspx. 
Advice in relation to bunds is provided at Appendix 1.

For general advice on the need for an Environmental Permit please see 
our website:
http://www.environment-
agency.gov.uk/business/topics/permitting/default.aspx or call 03708 
506506 and ask to speak to our National Permitting Service.

Kingswood Parish Council:

6.3 Kingswood Parish Council viewed this application, mindful that it was 
an application to transfer soils and to build noise attenuation bunds and 
not on the rights of the shoot to take place. Councillors are aware that 
more information has been requested from the Applicant but wished to 
comment at this stage on the information currently available to help 
inform the process. The parish council will review its position on this 
application as more information is made available from the Applicant 
and Officers views are made available. 

The following points were raised by Councillors; 

 Drainage Kingswood Parish Council considered the drainage 
and the impact that the bunds could have on the site and on the 
drainage. The ground at the site is clay and there have been 
issues in the past with saturated ground necessitating users of 
the site to park on the road. There is a known problem with 
overflowing drainage ditches at this location. Consideration 
should be given to whether the bunds would increase this 
problem. More information is required on the types of soil that 
would be used for the construction of the bunds. Councillors 
considered that clay should not be used in the construction of the 
bunds as the water would not be able to drain away. Councillors 
noted that the land drainage report had not yet been received 
and would comment further when this is available. 

 Rights of Way The council viewed the footpath and its location 
with the bunds. Concerns had previously been raised about the 
safety of the footpath during shooting. It was noted that with the 
bunds in place the direction of shooting would be fixed. 
Councillors noted that the first part of the footpath was 
overgrown and inaccessible this would need to be managed. In 
the second part of the field the bund according to the Applicant is 
adjacent to the footpath and does not block it. However Rights of 
Way have raised concerns over the siting of the bunds and the 
footpath. This issue would need to be addressed and clarified by 
the Rights of Way Officer. However if the path is as shown on 

Page 64

http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/business/topics/permitting/36419.aspx
http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/business/topics/permitting/36419.aspx
http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/business/topics/permitting/default.aspx
http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/business/topics/permitting/default.aspx


the Applicants plan councillors would require the footpath to be 
maintained and clear directional signage in place together with 
signage indicating the times of the shoot.

 Environmental Impact Councillors welcomed the request for an 
Environmental Impact Report and an Ecology Statement and 
would comment further when this is available. 

 Archaeology The council welcomed the request for any 
archaeology implications to be addressed with in the 
Environmental Impact Report.

  Noise The council considered the reasons for the construction of 
the bunds to allow shooting to take place and to fulfil the 
requirements of the Noise Abatement Order. This order requires 
that the noise from the site should not exceed 62dBA at the 6 
agreed locations. It was noted that the noise sensitive locations 
fall within Alderley and Hillesley. It was noted that the type of 
shooting to be conducted at the site would change from the 
previous discipline and would be “Down the Line” and “Skeet”. 
Both of these disciplines have lower trajectories than the 
previous discipline known as “English Sporting”. It was noted that 
Hush Power cartridge are not appropriate for competition as it 
has a slower speed. According to the Applicant the proposed 
bund should enable shooting in the two disciplines to take place 
and for the noise to remain below the 62dBA as stated in the 
Noise Abatement Order. The Environmental Health Officer 
(EHO) is to report on the noise assessment provided by the 
Applicant on the bunds. The council awaits this assessment but 
also to ask for the EHO to consider if the bunds whilst alleviating 
the noise nuisance in in the 6 selected areas if it would create 
more noise at different locations. Monitoring to ensure a noise 
nuisance in other areas in addition to the 6 listed would be 
welcomed. 

 Highways Concerns The council discussed the proposed route 
which they understand would come through Kingswood. 
Councillors had concerns on the implications that transferring the 
soils through the village of Kingswood would have. Councillors 
recognised that there was no easy route to the site as there were 
pinch points from the direction of Kingswood and Hillesley. 
Councillors noted that there had been problems with the transfer 
of soils from the Chestnut Park Estate and wish to avoid the 
problems that were experienced there which necessitated daily 
police involvement. Concerns on the access to the site and the 
possibility of lorries waiting for access were discussed as this 
would narrow the road and cause a hazard. All of the concerns 
raised would be worse during the busy commuting period. The 
application stated that the proposed time would be 0800hrs to 
1800hrs Monday to Friday and 0800hrs to 0100hrs on Saturday. 
However the Applicant has indicated that they would be happy to 
consider amending the transport time to avoid the busy period 
and would agree to change the times from 0800hrs to 0900hrs. 
The council considered that the vehicle movements should take 

Page 65



place between 0900hrs and 1700hrs. Consideration should be 
given to the avoidance of the school bus and school run in the 
afternoon. Consultation with the local police should be sought on 
the highways implications of this application as it would be a 
police matter if issues were to occur as a result of it. Kingswood 
Parish Council would like the highways issues raised by the 
council and the community to be considered and managed either 
by condition or with the agreement of the Applicant. If the issues 
are not addressed the council would reconsider its response to 
this application. 

 The Parish Council will comment further when more information 
is available. 

 Parish Consultation with local Police: In regards to this 
application, I would like to make the following points. Due to the 
narrow access roads I would have serious concerns with regards 
to the size and volume of traffic throughout the day but especially 
around the time of schools starting and finishing. Together with 
the increased amount of debris that is likely to be deposited onto 
the highway, there is potential for a greater number of collisions. 
If you need me to expand on the above, please let me know. 
Have highways been consulted about this application? 

Kingswood Parish Council also passed on the views of the Community 
Police Sergeant who states that due to the narrow access roads he 
would have serious concerns with regards to the size and volume of 
traffic throughout the day, but especially around the times of schools 
starting and finishing. Together with the increased amount of debris that 
is likely to be deposited onto the highway, there is potential for a greater 
number of collisions. 

Further Consultation response dated 11th September 2014

Kingswood Parish Council viewed this application mindful that it was an 
application to transfer soils and to build noise attenuation bunds and not 
on the rights of the shoot to take place. Kingswood Parish Council has 
reviewed all of the additional application information and has the 
following comment to make.

The Applicant had agreed to amend the operating times for the transfer 
of the soils to take account of the concerns raised by the parish council 
in connection with the highways. The parish council are disappointed 
that the Applicant has not followed through and made the amendments 
to the application. Due to this the parish council wishes to change its 
stance from a comment to an objection. All previous comments remain 
valid.

Highways
The parish council has concerns on the access to the site and the 
possibility of lorries waiting for access. This would narrow the road and 
cause a hazard to other vehicles. This needs to be taken in to account 

Page 66



both at the entrance to the site and at the site where the soil is to be 
removed from if this is within Kingswood. No lorries to be 
waiting/parked on the highway within Kingswood.  Adequate provision 
to ensure that the lorries removing the soil can be parked or wait on 
site. The application stated that the proposed time would be Monday to 
Friday 0800hrs 1800hrs and 0800hrs to 0100hrs on Saturday.  The 
council considered that the vehicle movements should take place 
Monday - Friday between 0900hrs and 1700hrs and 0900hrs – 1300hrs 
on a Saturday. No work to take place on a Sunday. Consideration 
should be given to the avoidance of the school bus and school run in 
the afternoon. Consultation with the local police should be sought on 
the highways implications of this application as it would be a police 
matter if issues were to occur as a result of it. 

A limit on the number of vehicles journeys should also be made. The 
Hillesley Road is narrow and winding. At points on the road there is only 
space for one vehicle to pass. Consideration to the size of the vehicle 
should be given and a small truck specified to move the soil. 
Care should be taken to ensure that the road is free of mud from the 
lorry removing the soil. Facilities should be provided to ensure that the 
wheels   of the vehicle are clean and free of mud before they enter the 
highways. Facilities to drain the water used should be provided to 
ensure that the water is not discharged on to the highway. 

Noise
The council has noted that the proposed bunds are designed to 
decrease the noise nuisance at the 6 selected areas. However the 
council wants confirmation that the bunds will not create a noise 
nuisance at new and different locations.  If permission is granted the 
council would like to request that noise monitoring in other areas is 
carried out in addition to the 6 listed sites.

The bunds
The council are concerned that this is a permanent and drastic 
change to the landscape to accommodate a clay pigeon shoot that 
operates under the 28 day rule.

Further consultation response dated 15th November 2017 

Kingswood Parish Council viewed this application mindful that it was an 
application to transfer soils and to build noise attenuation bunds and not 
on the rights of the shoot to take place. Kingswood Parish Council has 
reviewed all of the additional application and has the following comment 
to make.

The applicant had agreed to amend the operating times for the transfer 
of the soils to take account of the concerns raised by the parish council 
in connection with the highways. The parish council are disappointed 
that the applicant has not followed through and made the amendments 
to the application. Due to this the parish council wishes to change its 

Page 67



stance from a comment to an objection. All previous comments remain 
valid.

Highways.
The parish council has concerns on the access to the site and the 
possibility of lorries waiting for access. This would narrow the road and 
cause a hazard to other vehicles. This needs to be taken in to account 
both at the entrance to the site and at the site where the soil is to be 
removed from if this is within Kingswood. No lorries to be 
waiting/parked on the highway within Kingswood. Adequate provision to 
ensure that the lorries removing the soil can be parked or wait on site. 
The application stated that the proposed time would be Monday to 
Friday 0800hrs 1800hrs and 0800hrs to 0100hrs on Saturday. The 
council considered that the vehicle movements should take place 
Monday - Friday between 0900hrs and 1700hrs and 0900hrs - 0100hrs 
on a Saturday. No work to take place on a Sunday. Consideration 
should be given to the avoidance of the school bus and school run in 
the afternoon. Consultation with the local police should be sought on 
the highways implications of this application as it would be a police 
matter if issues were to occur as a result of it. 

A limit on the number of vehicles journeys should also be made. The 
Hillesley Road is narrow and winding. At points on the road there is only 
space for one vehicle to pass. Consideration to the size of the vehicle 
should be given and a small truck specified to move the soil 
Care should be taken to ensure that the road is free of mud from the 
lorry removing the soil. Facilities should be provided to ensure that the 
wheels of the vehicle are clean and free of mud before they enter the 
highways. Facilities to drain the water used should be provided to 
ensure that the water is not discharged on to the highway. 

Noise. The council has noted that the proposed bunds are designed to 
decrease the noise nuisance at the 6 selected areas. However the 
council wants confirmation that the bunds will not create a noise 
nuisance at new and different locations. If permission is granted the 
council would like to request that noise monitoring in other areas is 
carried out in addition to the 6 listed sites.

The bunds.
The council are concerned that this is a permanent and drastic change 
to the landscape to accommodate a clay pigeon shoot that operates 
under the 28 day rule.

Hillesley and Tresham Parish Council

6.4 The Council have agreed to object to the Planning Application above for 
the following reasons, which have been categorised under a series of 
main headings below.

Page 68



They also wish to reserve the right to add further comments or 
objections after a further full Parish Council meeting is held on 11th 
September 2013, as further information may be obtained over the 
coming weeks.

Although their objections are centred on this planning application, the 
historical context and suitability of this land for a clay pigeon site is 
important and relevant as it has caused annoyance to local residents 
over many years. This historical annoyance and disturbance has not 
only centred on noise, but also on the continuing safety and transport 
aspects of this business venture.

Category The Parish Council believes that:
Transport 
Issues

 Access roads are too narrow and contain dangerous 
pinch points which will substantially increase the 
possibility of accidents once increased lorry traffic 
begins.

 There will be no on-going monitoring of the lorry traffic 
to ensure that it is only using the access from the 
Kingswood direction.

 Passing traffic will overrun the grass verges creating 
dangerous amounts of mud on the road.

 It will not be feasible to comply with Highways 
Development Control's Recommendations, which 
stipulate that there should be an 80 metre site line in 
each direction from the entrance to the site, and 
vegetation should be kept clear.

 It cannot be guaranteed that the effective use of any 
wheel washing equipment provided on site will be 
rigorously enforced by the developer.

 Parking for the workmen, while the work continues, 
will be insufficient and unsuitable on the site, 
especially during the winter months, and will inevitably 
spill out onto the road and verges, creating additional 
hazards.

Environmental 
Concerns

 The current specifications for the bunds may not be fit 
for purpose as settlement will almost certainly occur, 
which will affect the resulting height of the bunds and 
the corresponding level of noise which they can 
contain.

 The shooting disciplines allowed on site (‘Skeet’, 
‘Sporting’, ‘Down the Line’ etc) will result in many 
different trajectories for the shot and corresponding 
noise. In some disciplines this may result in 
considerable noise being transmitted along the line of 
fire towards high clay pigeon targets, which will not be 
contained by the bunds.

Page 69



 The bunds will not prevent the noise levels from 
exceeding those described in the Chartered Institute 
of Environmental Health Clay Pigeon Shooting 
Guidance on the control of noise 2003. This states 
that, where a noise level of over 60 db may well 
cause a nuisance, it is highly likely to cause a 
nuisance at level above 65db.

 Noise readings taken from specific locations in the 
past may not be relevant to the future locations of 
stands and traps shown in the plans.

 Compliance with the type of low noise cartridges used 
by shooters will be the responsibility of the site 
manager and cannot be relied upon without 
independent monitoring by other authorities.

 The proposed bunds may materially affect the 
direction of the shotgun noise and deflect it to other 
properties which are currently not affected.

 Unless the nature of the material used to build the 
bunds was monitored strictly, there is a danger that 
water running off the bunds into the stream could 
cause the road to flood.

Social 
Considerations

 It is inappropriate for land within the Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty to be materially and 
permanently altered purely for the benefit of a 
commercial venture.

 The view from Cotswold Way will be negatively 
impacted, both while the development is taking place, 
and when it is completed.

 Another footpath used by local residents also borders 
this site and may be negatively impacted by the 
proposed location of the traps and bunds.

Sustainability

Issues

 There appears to be no opportunities for local 
employment.

 The site will permanently affect the topography and 
character of the local area, but is currently only 
allowed to be used for 28 days per year. There is a 
distinct possibility that if planning is granted, further 
applications for additional days will be made and also 
further uses considered.

Safety 
Concerns

 The location of the bunds do include the possibility for 
shot to reach the road, the footpath, and other 
surrounding fields. There have been reports from 
residents that shot has fallen outside the boundaries 
of the site in the past. CPSA guidance advises a 
minimum safe zone of 275 metres from each shooting 

Page 70



stand in every direction, and the plans do not appear 
to comply with this guidance.

The Hillesley & Tresham Parish Council have sent 2 detailed letters of 
objection (dated 23/8/13 and 20/3/14). A summary of the letter dated 
20/3/14 follows: 

1. Assessment of the Attenuation of Shooting Noise Level Report: 

a). The Report has been commissioned and paid for by Bristol Clay         
      Shooting and cannot be be relied upon. 
b) The calculations & projections (in the Report) of the noise are not 
     representative of what would actually occur 
c) If a level of 62db is actually achieved by the creation of the Bunds, 
    this will still leave 50% of the nearest dwellings still experiencing an 
    unacceptable noise nuisance (CIEH guidelines are not being 
    adhered to). 
d) The projected noise figures are likely to increase considerably with 
     the wind in the right direction to carry the noise further. 
e) The Report does not address possibility of the deflection of the noise 
    or resulting echoes by the creation of the bunds 
f) A condition should be imposed of 2000 cartridges per day as imposed 
   by other Councils. 

2. Health & Safety Issues: 
The Council would ask for a full Safety Review to be carried out and an 
impartial Report produced before a final decision is made on this 
application. 

3. Transport: 
There are still important Highways issues which have not been resolved 
or addressed by the Applicant. 

4. Environment: 
There are still concerns over the settlement of Bunds, the nature of the 
shooting disciplines and their associated direction and noise, and run 
off of water from the Bunds flooding the road. 

In addition: Whilst we fully understand that the Planning Application 
refers to the creating of the Bunds, this application is inextricably linked 
to the creation of an extended shooting operation. This shoot has 
created a long-standing annoyance to the residents of Hillesley, and the 
management of the ground has displayed a less than compliant 
approach to previous conditions imposed on it. The Parish Council 
believes that this planning application is being misrepresented as a 
remedial measure to mitigate a noise nuisance, but will open the door 
for increased activity on this site. Therefore, the Parish Council would 

Page 71



ask that you carefully review the above concerns and take them into 
consideration when deciding whether to allow this development. 

Cotswold Conservation Board

6.5 Thank you for consulting the Cotswolds Conservation Board about this 
planning application. I am writing to tell you that the Cotswolds 
Conservation Board will not be making any comments on the planning 
application. The site appears to be outside the Cotswolds AONB. This 
should be taken as a response neither objecting to nor supporting the 
proposal.

Comments received 15/08/14. The Cotswolds Conservation Board 
notes and supports the view of the County Landscape Adviser that the 
landscape impact of the scheme is acceptable, subject to clarification of 
the profiles of the bunds and amendments to the species proposed for 
planting. 

Clay Pigeon Shooting Association

6.6 Further to your enquiry concerning the above planning application I will 
respond to your questions chronologically: -

The general feeling that the bunds will make little difference has no 
basis in fact. Earth bunds reduce the noise of shot gun shooting 
considerably and some councils suggest the installation of them when 
confronted with noise objections. There being a history of noise 
complaints at this site, I would have thought that the objectors would 
have welcomed anything that reduces any associated noise. 

The objections raised about the site being unsafe and not containing 
spent cartridges (I believe that you mean spent shot rather than spent 
cartridge cases, the latter remaining in the gun until it is opened and 
then removed and placed in the bins provided) or clays is ill-founded for 
two reasons. 1) For any shooting site to operate with members of the 
general public in attendance, a police 11.6 exemption certificate has to 
be obtained from the local constabulary who visit the site and check all 
safety aspects before they will grant such a certificate. You will see 
from the safety note compiled by Mr N Padfield 
13_0042_STMAJW_Safety _Note that Avon and Somerset, 
Gloucestershire, Devon and Cornwall Constabularies have been 
involved and 2), For any shooting ground to be registered by the 
governing body of the sport of clay pigeon shooting i.e. The Clay 
Pigeon Shooting Association (CPSA), a safety audit and ground 
registration visit takes place. This visit ensures that no overshooting, 
shot or clay fragment deposition of a neighbour's land is allowed unless 
the site operator has the neighbour's written permission. Overshooting 
of roads, streams or public footpaths etc., is also forbidden. It is at this 
visit that the layouts are measured to ensure they conform to our 
discipline rules and if they do not, then the CPSA will not affiliate that 

Page 72



ground.
The Objectors interpretation of 275 metres/300 yards is flawed in that 
the booklet he quotes in 13_0042_STMAJW_MOTP_OBJ_25 Feb 15 
(1) pdf and page 28/58-Clause 5 The Shooting Site I) Safety Distance-
second sentence - “The CPSA has therefore declared a minimum safe 
distance if no CPSA approved barriers are in place or topography of 
ground dictates of 275 metres in every direction in which shot can be 
fired. An earth bund is a CPSA approved barrier and therefore, the 275 
metres/300 yard distance can be reduced considerably, the earth bund 
stopping shot and clay debris and containing it within that layout.

There is also no substance to the objection either that the layouts do 
not conform to CPSA guidelines. His submission of the Skeet and 
Down the Line Layouts have incorrect measurements whereas the 
reponse from Mr N Padfield i.e. 13_0042_STMAJW_Safety_Note list 
the correct ones. Mr Williams assertion that shot will travel further with a 
following wind is correct, however, it will travel no further than the bund. 
His assertion that a clay target will travel further with a following wind is 
incorrect as a following wind has the reverse effect on a clay target and 
actually pushes it down so that it does not travel so far as when set in 
calm conditions.        

   
7.0 PLANNING OBSERVATIONS

Development Management (Highways)  

7.1 I refer to the above planning application received on 02/07/13 with Plan 
No’s: 4C and 5D. The submitted Design and Access statement sets out 
the amount of imported soil required for the development for either a 
two year or 18 month duration and calculates that there would be 6 
tipper vehicle movements in and 6 out for contract period of 2 years and 
8 in and 8 out for a contract period of 18 months. 

The site is accessed via an existing access used for clay pigeon 
shooting activities which would have adequate visibility splays provided 
that the existing vegetation were cut back for these to be provided. The 
roads to the east including through the villages of Hillesley, Alderley 
and Wortley are generally single track in width and not suitable for 
HGV's. The route to and from the west, the M5 and South 
Gloucestershire is via Kingswood. The Hillesley Road into Kingswood 
from the site although a residential street is wide enough to 
accommodate the additional 12 - 16 HGV movements per day. The 
B4060 and the B4062 roads through Kingswood are HGV routes and as 
such able to accommodate the development traffic. To ensure that 
development HGV traffic does not use the unsuitable roads to the east 
of the development I recommend that a suitable condition is attached 
requiring the Developer to submit an off-site haul route. I have 
considered the possibility of recommending a daily cap on the number 
of HGV movements but the figure would be relatively high before it 

Page 73



resulted in a highway safety issue. There may be other environmental 
issues to justify a maximum number of HGV movements. 
I recommend that no highway objection be raised subject to conditions 
to secure visibility splays extending from a point 2.4m back along the 
centre of the access; a Construction Method Statement and that 
provision is made for a segregated footpath along this section of the 
Haul Route for the duration of the development. 

Note: public right of way: The site is traversed by a public right of way 
and this permission does not authorise additional use by motor 
vehicles, or obstruction, or diversion. The Applicant is advised to 
contact GCC PRoW at PROW@gloucestershire.gov.uk in this regard.

I refer to the additional information notification dated 6th March 2014 
submitted in support of the above application. I can confirm that the 
additional information relates to assessment reports for Noise, Ecology, 
Landscape and Arboricultural and therefore the Highway Authority has 
no further observations other than those already made previously to the 
Local Planning Authority. 

Public Rights of Way (PRoW)

7.2 Original Comments received in respect of the Application: PRoW 
highlighted the fact that as proposed the toe of the bund will obstruct 
footpath CKD/44 at the western end. The options are to shorten the 
bund, reduce the bund in size and move it further east or divert the path 
to the west away from the bund,

[Case Officer Note: The location of the bund was inaccurately drawn 
on the submitted plans, although the location of the footpath relative to 
the bunds was correct on the larger plans. This has now been amended 
and the toe of the bund on the western end will not impact upon the 
footpath].

Further comments received in January 2018:

Please find attached a map showing the Definitive Line of Public 
Footpath CKD 44. The Definitive Statement Map does not state a width 
so there is a presumption in law is that the path has a 1.5m width along 
the headland. 

[Case Officer Note: this sketch map can be viewed through public 
access. http://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/.

My map has included land to the south of the first field including 
footpaths CKD 42, 43 and 45.

While it is not a specific offence to shoot across a highway there are 
conditions that apply:

Page 74

mailto:PROW@gloucestershire.gov.uk
http://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/


• There must be adequate signs in place advising the walking 
public that shooting is taking place – these must be removed 
if there is no shooting taking place

• There must be marshalls in attendance to spot walkers and 
enable a safe and unhindered passage along the footpath to 
a safe point

The footpath must not be affected physically in any way by any of the 
proposals and I would strongly urge the owners to ensure that all of the 
rights of way crossing this land are clearly way marked and open. At 
present there is a lack of waymarks making it difficult for walkers to 
navigate the land without straying from the footpath – this is more 
apparent at the south end of the site affecting footpaths CKD 42, 43, 44 
and 45, and there are obstructions in place meaning walkers are 
continually wandering around the site trying to find a way out – this is a 
health and safety issue when shooting is taking place.

There has been talk of planting a hedge alongside the footpath. There 
will need to be at least 2m width of footpath made available to take 
account of any side growth from the hedge and an agreement in place 
that the owner will maintain this hedge and ensure it is kept cut back so 
as not to impede walkers.

The PRoW Officer would be happy to meet the Applicant on site to 
discuss how best to open up the paths and meet their requirements.

Flood Risk Management

7.3 No comments.

Archaeology 

7.4 I advise that I have checked the proposed development area against 
the County Historic Environment Record. The land in question has not 
previously been investigated, and there is no record of any archaeology 
there. Archaeological sites are often covered and so masked from view 
by medieval and modern agricultural soils, and are therefore not always 
visible at ground level. In view of the large size of the proposed 
development area there is in my opinion high potential for significant 
archaeological deposits to be present within the proposed development 
area, but masked from view by the agricultural soils which currently 
cover the site. Any such remains may be adversely affected by ground 
works and intrusions required for this development. Therefore, in 
accordance with the NPPF, paragraph 128, I recommend that in 
advance of the determination of this planning application the Applicant 
should provide the results of an assessment which describes the 
significance of any heritage assets contained within the application site 
and how these would be affected by the proposed development. I look 
forward to advising you when this information is provided. 

Page 75



The Agent has stated that there will be no topsoil stripping in advance 
of the proposed works. If this is definitely the case there is no need for 
archaeological assessment; we would want this to be a condition of any 
permission given to avoid a change of plan subsequently.

If any topsoil stripping is planned then the archaeological assessment 
needs to go ahead as originally recommended.

Landscape
7.5 The site is located in the rural area between Kingswood and Hillesley in 

Gloucestershire. It lies within National Character Area 118, Bristol, 
Avon Valleys and Ridges, Natural Area 62, Bristol, Avon Valleys and 
Ridges, and within the Gloucestershire County Landscape Character 
Area 6, Unwooded Vale. To the east of the site, the boundary with 
National Character Area 107, Cotswolds (Natural Area 55, Cotswolds) 
is located at a distance of approximately 250m. County Landscape 
Character Area 23, High Wold Dip Slope, is located approximately 
900m to the northeast and southeast of the site, at Alderley and 
Hillesley. 

There are no landscape designations covering the site itself, however, 
the boundary of the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB) is located approximately 400m to the east of the site and the 
Cotswolds Environmentally Sensitive Area (ESA) is approximately 1km 
to the east of the site. The site is also within an area identified as being 
nitrate vulnerable. 

There are a number of individual properties and farms within 2km of the 
site. The entrance to the site is directly off the Hillesley - Kingswood 
road. Hillesley is 1km to the southeast, and Kingswood is approximately 
1.3km to the northwest. Alderley and Wortly are at 1km and 1.3km 
respectively to the northeast and Wotton-under-Edge is approximately 
2km to the north. Wickwar is approximately 3.2km to the southwest. 

The land is gently undulating, classified as lowland vales and valleys 
and rolling lowland and low hills. Land use surrounding the site is 
predominantly mixed farming, with small scale arable fields and 
pasture, graded 2, 3 and 4. Soils are generally heavy, poorly draining 
base rich clayey and loamy soils prone to seasonal waterlogging. The 
landscape character is that of a pattern of deciduous woodlands, 
including ancient woodlands, with small scale fields and hedgerow field 
boundaries and hedgerow trees. 

There are numerous public rights of way (PRoW) crossing the area. 
The Cotswold Way is located approximately 1.2km to the east of the 
site, running roughly north - southeast following the line of the Cotswold 
Escarpment. Closer to the site, there are several footpaths crossing the 
fields to the south and west, and to the north. The footpath CKD/44/1 
runs within the site along the western boundary, with footpaths CKD 
/45/1, 45/2, 45/3, 45/4, 44/3, 43/1, 43/2, 42/1, 42/2, 42/3, 39/1, 39/2, 

Page 76



and CKD/27/2 crossing the fields to the west of the site within about 
300m. 

The site consists of 2 fields, currently grassed, to the immediate east of 
Folly Farm, and to the south of the Hillesley to Kingswood Road. The 
site is at between 55 and 65 AOD, falling from roughly southwest to 
northeast towards a small watercourse, Ham's Gully Brook which runs 
along the eastern and southern boundaries. It is bounded on the 
northern and western sides by mature hedgerows with hedgerow trees 
and on the eastern and southern boundaries, the brook runs within a 
narrow belt of trees and shrubs. 

The undulating landform, surrounding vegetation and adjacent buildings 
and bunds of Folly Farm effectively screen the site from the surrounding 
landscape to the south and west. It is intermittently visible from 
viewpoints on the higher ground to the north and east, although due to 
the intervening landform and vegetation, not all the site is visible at any 
one time and it is unobtrusive and well integrated into the existing 
landscape, however there are no features currently within the site which 
are sufficiently prominent to draw the attention in these views. 

The application proposes to import soils and subsoils to create noise 
attenuation bunds associated with clay pigeon shooting, and associated 
landscape works. 

The proposals include the construction of 4 bunds between 3.5m and 
4m in height above surrounding ground levels. 3 roughly circular bunds 
are proposed in the field to the north (directly off the Kingswood - 
Hillesley Road) and 1 more elongated linear bund is proposed in the 
southern field. The bunds are intended to define and contain the 
separate shooting areas and to provide noise attenuation for the clay 
pigeon shooting activities. Drainage ditches to intercept water run off 
from the bunds is also proposed around the base of the bunds.

An existing pond between the 2 fields is to be extended and the existing 
hedgerow is to be retained. All perimeter hedgerows and trees are to be 
retained, but an existing, gappy intermittent line of scrub and young 
trees dividing the northern field in a north-south direction will be lost due 
to the new bunding. It is also intended to retain the existing containers 
for equipment. 

The existing PRoW within the site along the western boundary is 
intended to be separated from the shooting areas by a new hedgerow 
and hedgerow trees, and there are no alterations proposed to the 
alignment of the footpath. An existing rearing pen in the southern field is 
to be relocated elsewhere away from this site. 

The planning submission includes drainage details and report, a noise 
report and general layout plans and site sections. There is limited 

Page 77



information on landscape proposals relating to the southern field only. 
Bunds are indicated but not the proposed gradient to the sides. 

COMMENTS 

Landscape 
In view of the identified issues, we recommend that the following are 
addressed by the Applicant prior to determination of the application.

 A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment should be 
undertaken.

 Tree protection. 
 Details showing the proposed profiling of the bunds.
 The Landscape Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) of the bunds 

will also be dependent on the result of the noise impact review. 

Response to additional information submitted on 27th February 
2014.

The additional information now presented in the LVIA, appears 
reasonable in view of the scale of the proposed works and, having 
reviewed the data, the main issues appear to have been covered 
adequately. 

There are some general comments on the LVIA and the planting and 
design approach which should be noted.

 There is no Zone of Theoretical Visibility (ZTV) presented, 
however, in view of the scale of the proposals, the main issues 
appear to have been identified and addressed.

 The viewpoints considered have covered the potential views 
from a number of angles and locations and appear to have 
identified the main visibility issues.  

 The planting proposals show a number of species, some of 
which are not present in the vicinity.  In order to blend with the 
surrounding landscape, it would be beneficial to limit the species 
to those that are actually present in the surrounding field 
boundary hedgerows and woodland blocks. 

 The inclusion of Prunus spinosa in the planting is likely to pose a 
future maintenance problem as it can form dense thickets and 
take over less vigorous plants, particularly in areas with a low 
maintenance regime.  This should be addressed in the 
Landscape Management Plan.

 Treatment and control of the Japanese Knotweed identified next 
to the existing pond must be detailed in the Landscape 
Management Plan.

 There is no information regarding the nature and source of the fill 
material for the bunds, which may also influence the species 
most suitable for planting in these areas.

 The cross sections (cross sections A, C & D) of the proposed 

Page 78



bunds show a flat 0.5m maintenance strip, which is very narrow 
in terms of health & safety and in view of the bund height.  Trees 
and shrubs expand in width as well as height and a 0.5m 
maintenance strip will rapidly be encroached upon, rendering it 
potentially unsafe for this purpose.  If a level area specifically for 
maintenance is required, there should be a more adequate 
provision, and it should be specifically considered in the 
Landscape Management Plan.

 The cross sections of the bunds are, presumably, diagrammatic 
in that the profiles at the top of the bunds will not be abrupt 
angles as shown.  A softer and more natural profile, particularly 
on the “outer” sides of the bunds, both at the top and at the 
junction with existing levels will be more in keeping with the 
landscape generally.

ARBORICULTURAL REPORT

Working methods on site must take the recommendations regarding 
tree protection and Root Protection Areas (RPAs) into account during 
the construction period.  

The management principles should form part of the Landscape 
Management Plan in conjunction with the management regimes for 
mitigation planting.

Proposed Conditions 

 The following were recommended in our previous response as 
being covered by condition and submitted for approval in writing 
as appropriate and we confirm that this remains the case.  In 
view of the additional details submitted, further detail and clarity 
is requested for the planting proposals and Landscape 
Management Plan:

 Details of treatment of soils, including existing subsoil and topsoil 
on the site, and imported soils.  This should show where 
appropriate, the reuse of the existing topsoil where possible.

 Details showing the proposed separation of the footpath 
CKD/44/1, from the main area of the site, particularly along the 
edge of the northern field.

 Soft landscape scheme including 5 year replacement of 
failed/dead plants – full planting plan showing species, densities 
and sizes of planting, planting matrices, size and location of 
individual specimen/advanced stock trees.  The use of native 
species, reflecting those present in the surrounding landscape 
are deemed appropriate.  This to ensure an adequate landscape 
scheme to mitigate the adverse visual and landscape impacts of 
the proposal.

 A 15 year Landscape Management Plan – this is to ensure there 
are agreed design goals for the landscape and an agreed 
methodology with checks to achieve this.  This should include 

Page 79



details of regular maintenance of the footpath CKD/44/1 and of 
the maintenance strips and specific management of invasive 
non-native species and control of Blackthorn.

Noise

7.6 Atkins Acoustics, consultants acting on behalf of Gloucestershire 
County Council reviewed the information submitted in support of the 
application. Their initial assessment of the information was that the 
calculations included in the assessment give the correct results for the 
stated input data. Further assessment work would be needed to ensure 
that the proposed bunding will be sufficient to reduce shooting noise 
levels. They further concluded that the responses provided by Matrix on 
the 31st March 2014 appear accurate and in line with their 
understanding.  They agreed that the SNL of 66dB should be used for 
the assessment. They noted Stroud District Council’s recommendation 
for a limit of 55dB(A), however this limit would be almost impossible to 
achieve with the introduction of bunds given the current SNL. 
Applications for other changes (i.e frequency of shooting events) should 
be assessed at the time they are made taking into account the relevant 
factors at the time of the application. Finally they concluded that the 
drawings show no changes that would impact the results of the most 
recent noise assessment. The bunds as shown in the latest drawings 
would be sufficient to reduce the shooting noise level at the closest 
noise sensitive receptors to below the 62dB limit.

Ecology

7.7 Currently we are missing an ecological statement to accompany this 
application as there will be short - term disturbance to biodiversity. 
There will probably be a loss of some scrub/shrub/tree branches and 
there is to be an extension to an existing pond. The pond looks 
overgrown from aerial photography and may not be suitable to support 
any protected species but this needs confirming. New hedgerow and 
trees are proposed as well as the pond extension which should result 
in biodiversity enhancement. Further wildlife benefit may be gained if 
the bunds are managed to give a long grass sward. In relation to the 
specific advice on whether an EIA is needed there are unlikely to be 
significant effects on biodiversity arising from this proposal and 
therefore no need for an EIA to be requested under the Regulations for 
ecological reasons. Recommendations 1. That an EIA/Environmental 
Statement is not requested 2. That an ecological statement is 
requested before this application is determined. The statement should 
describe any minor loss of shrubs/trees and the current status of the 
pond and whether protected species may use these features such as 
great crested newts. Photographs of the pond area are also requested. 
An assessment of how nesting birds or other protected species (e.g. 
badgers and bats) will be protected from harm and how the 
development will benefit biodiversity overall is requested. Ideally this 

Page 80



statement should be produced by a suitably informed/experienced 
person.

Response to additional Ecological information submitted on 27th 
February 2014 

Previously in relation to this application I asked for the following in my 
memo dated 4th July 2013. In response to this we have received an 
'Ecological Assessment' Report Number 1951_R01a_EA_AS in 
addition to Noise, Landscape and Tree Reports. 

The site is of general low or local value in biodiversity terms. Some 
impacts have been identified as being but these are of relatively minor 
significance. The proposal provides an opportunity for better long-term 
management that would enhance and conserve local biodiversity value. 
Enhancement of the site including a new wildlife pond is being 
proposed.

Works should not occur up close to any sett and so there may be a 
need for a badger licence to be gained from Natural England. It is 
recommended that the activity of badgers is checked by a re-survey just 
prior to commencement of works and that a mitigation plan is drawn up 
which would probably include that the sett (a scrub covered earth pile) 
is fenced off with an appropriate buffer included. 

Trees and shrubs in close proximity to intended works are to be mostly 
retained. An advisory note concerning nesting birds is recommended to 
cover those few trees that will be lost. Some bird boxes are to be 
installed it seems as an enhancement/mitigation. The Tree Report does 
not identify that there are any outstanding trees present but does 
determine that Root Protection Zones (as shown on Drawing 1951/P02 
dated February 2014) are required during the construction phase of the 
development. A Tree Protection Plan is therefore recommended for 
submission under a planning condition. Japanese Knotweed occurs on 
site in the vicinity of the existing pond and this needs to be controlled. 

Bats are likely to be using the site but impact upon them is not likely to 
be significant as no landscape features or mature trees will be lost. 
Lighting is not proposed which could disturb these species at certain 
times of the day and year. Enhancement of roosting potential should be 
sought and this is being put forward in terms of bat box installation. 

I can concur with the Ecological Assessment report as concerns 
matters related to reptiles, otter, water vole, great crested newt and 
dormice which should not be adversely affected. Reptiles will need 
some coverage as a precaution in a mitigation plan for the development 
as construction impacts are possible. A general advisory note is also 
needed to make the developer aware that there are a range of 
protected species that cannot be completely ruled out as being present 
and potentially affected by the development. 

Page 81



The Mitigation Plan required should also include (for the construction 
phase) measures for the avoidance of silt and polluted water running off 
into the boundary brook and ditch to the east.

A Landscaping, Aftercare & Enhancement Scheme is needed to give us 
further details of enhancement measures, areas to be landscaped, 
species, methods of aftercare and ongoing management. 
It is recommended that in relation to the County Council's Service Level 
Agreement with the Local Biological Records Centre (and to assist in 
the strategic conservation of countywide biodiversity) records from the 
ecological survey work commissioned from the Applicant should be 
copied electronically to Gloucestershire Centre for Environmental 
Records (GCER). An advice note is recommended to cover this. 

Recommendations 
As part of a consent that may be granted items such as the following 
below should be attached: 

Condition 1 - a Biodiversity Mitigation Scheme to be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. 

Condition 2  - an Arboricultural Method Statement (incorporating a Tree 
Protection Plan) based on paragraph 3.8, paragraph 3.9 and Drawing 
1951/P02 of the 'Tree Quality Survey, Root Protection Areas & 
Development Implications' report dated February 2014 shall be 
submitted for the approval of  the Waste Planning Authority.

Condition 3 - A Landscape Enhancement, Aftercare & Management 
Scheme based on the 'Biodiversity Mitigation Scheme' required under a 
separate condition and also the 'Tree Quality Survey, Root Protection 
Areas & Development Implications' report shall be submitted for the 
approval of  the Waste Planning Authority

Condition 4.  an invasive non-native species protocol shall be submitted 
for the approval of  the Waste Planning Authority.  

 Advice Note 1 – in respect of protected species

Advice Note 2 - In relation to the County Council's Service Level 
Agreement with the Local Biological Records Centre and to assist in the 
strategic conservation of countywide biodiversity.

It is my view that the above advice is in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework, ODPM Circular 06/2005, Natural England's 
Standing Advice on protected species (as published on their website), 
and with Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities 
Act 2006 which confers a general biodiversity duty upon Local 
Authorities whilst exercising their functions.

Page 82



Minerals and Waste Policy:

7.8 The WCS was adopted by County Council on the 21st November 2012.  
It now forms part of the Development Plan.  Therefore the case officer 
must ensure that the proposal meets all of the criteria of the relevant 
policies.  

Core Policy WCS1 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable 
Development 
This policy relates to the NPPF and sustainable development.  If the 
development can demonstrate that it is in accordance with the policies 
of the WCS which are NPPF compliant then it is likely that the proposal 
would demonstrate sustainable development.

Core Policy WCS4 – Inert Waste Recycling and Recovery 
The planning application needs to demonstrate that it meets the criteria 
of the policy.  It is not clear from the information as to where the 
material will be coming from and therefore whether it would be 
contributing to a sustainable waste management system in 
Gloucestershire.  Establishing if it meets the criteria of this policy will 
also be dependant on comments received from other consultees. 

Core Policy WCS8 – Landfill 
The proposal falls in category 2 iv of this policy.  

Core Policy WCS14 – Landscape
Comments should be sought from the County's Landscape Advisor as 
to the impact that this would have on the surrounding landscape. This is 
will assist with assessing the compliance of the proposal with this 
policy. 

Core Policy WCS19 – Sustainable Transport 
Comments should be sought from Gloucestershire Highways as to the 
impact that this would have on the surrounding road network in relation 
to the proposed vehicle movements. This is will assist with assessing 
the compliance of the proposal with this policy. 

Waste Local Plan

Policy 37 Proximity to other land uses – Comments should be 
sought from the Environmental Health Officer, and any concerns raised 
by nearby residents should be carefully considered.

Policy 38 Hours of Operation
Comments should be sought from the Environmental Health Officer, 
and any concerns raised by nearby residents should be carefully 
considered.

Other policies maybe relevant subject to the comments received from 
other consultees.

Page 83



RSK Noise Consultants (March to June 2016)

7.9 Following the quashing of the decision in December  2015, RSK was 
commissioned by the WPA to consider the application from an acoustic 
perspective in order to consider the implications of noise impact from 
the proposed development. Following discussions with the Applicant, 
RSK undertook a noise survey in February 2016 to determine the 
impact during a regular clay pigeon shooting session upon nearby 
residents. Additional acoustic tests were carried out in order to 
characterise noise emissions from the shotgun and cartridges regularly 
used on site and to test the acoustic performance of existing shooting 
stands.

Their objective was to:
- Quantify current operating noise levels from a typical shoot 

operated by Bristol Clay Pigeon Shooting,
- Assess current levels in accordance with the conditions presented 

within the Noise Abatement Notice
- Investigate temporary mitigation measures (without requirement 

for planning permission) to provide a legal operating base for 
Bristol Clay Pigeon Shooting

- Provide recommendation as to the status of the current site with 
respect to the existing noise abatement notice

RSK  Summary of Findings
A summary of the findings of the study are presented below:-

 The SNL is highly directional dependent (i.e. the orientation of 
the shotgun). The highest noise levels are emitted forward 45 
degrees parallel to the barrel.

 The SNL is dependent on the orientation of the shooting stands.
 The noise emission from the ‘Subsonic Cartridge’ was on 

average 5.5 dB(A) less than the standard cartridge.
 Under the test exercise the SNL Target as set in the Noise 

Abatement notice was exceeded at one receptor and complied 
with at another. The separation distance between the two 
receptors and the site was similar, therefore suggesting the 
significance of shoot stand orientation and shotgun orientation 
on noise levels.

 Given the compliance at one receptor, the exercise suggests that 
careful design of the site (temporary or permanent) and 
management of a shoot could result in a compliant SNL at all 
receptors. However further investigation would be required.

RSK recommended that although the site could possibly operate within 
the requirements of the Noise Abatement Notice with careful design 
and management, at this stage the data collected and information 
available would not suggest compliance at all receptors. With further 
assessment and mitigation design, the site could comply with the Noise 
Abatement Notice; however this would be a substantial investigatory 
exercise without guarantee, RSK considers this to be the responsibility 

Page 84



of the applicant rather than the WPA to undertake such an exercise. 
Therefore RSK have no option but to recommend that the application is 
either:

 refused with recommendation that detailed design of mitigation 
measures is undertaken in support of a subsequent planning 
application, or

 approved with a condition imposed requesting a noise mitigation 
design assessment undertaken to demonstrate compliance with 
the intended control measures. A condition can be drafted 
should this option be chosen.3

Atkins Noise Consultants (November 2017)
 
7.10 Following the submission of additional information by the Applicant on 

24th October 2017, the WPA commissioned Atkins (the new term 
consultants) to review all of the noise data submitted to date, by the 
Applicant, the Claimant who brought the judicial review and RSK the 
previous noise consultants.

Having reviewed all the submitted information they recommend that the 
application be refused, unless the applicant is able to provide a robust 
acoustic analysis addressing previous shortcomings. They state that 
this recommendation is in line with the conclusions from the RSK 
report, which recommends further assessments and noise monitoring to 
provide robust evidence of the effectiveness of any noise mitigation 
measures proposed at the site.

Planning

7.11 This application was submitted in June 2013 and previously brought 
before the Planning Committee on 30th July 2015, with a 
recommendation for approval. Members approved the proposal subject 
to planning conditions and a planning permission was issued on the 7th 
August 2015. Following an application for Judicial Review by a 
neighbouring land owner, the decision was subsequently quashed by 
the High Court on 22nd December 2015. The Claimant was awarded 
costs. 

7.12 This application proposes the importation of soils and subsoils to create 
noise attenuation bunds associated with an established clay pigeon 
shooting operation, and associated landscaping works. Permitted 
development rights under Schedule 2, Part 4, Class B of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
2015 enables the Applicant to use the site for up to 28 days a year for 
Clay Pigeon shooting.  The application is for the importation of material 

3 Case Officer Note: This proposed condition would suggest that monitoring would then take 
place after the bund was built. If the subsequent monitoring demonstrated that the  bunds 
were deficient and unable to achieve  the required noise abatement levels, it may not be 
possible to comply with the condition and it would be unenforceable.

Page 85



to create bunds and not for the use of the land for Clay Pigeon 
shooting, although through association and for reasons discussed 
below, the use of the land is deemed to be a material consideration.  

7.13 Following court proceedings between 2010 and 2012, Stroud District 
Council issued a Noise Abatement Notice which came into effect on 
28th January 2012 whereby noise emitted from the site shall not exceed 
62 dBA as measured at identified properties. It is for the Planning 
Committee, upon the evidence before them to decide whether the 
importation of material and creation of noise attenuation bunds over a 
period of 18 months to two years, together with the changes to the 
shooting patterns proposed at the site (identified in paragraph 2.6 and 
2.7 of the report), will sufficiently achieve a suitable reduction in noise 
levels experienced at the nearest noise sensitive properties, caused by 
the Clay Pigeon shoot for up to 28 days a year and satisfy the 
requirements of the Noise abatement Notice, and whether that 
reduction in noise is acceptable in planning terms. Without the bunds 
the Applicant can continue to use the site as at present under permitted 
development rights for Clay Pigeon shooting provided he is able to 
maintain the noise levels set out in the Noise Abatement Notice, albeit 
not the venture that he would like to provide.

7.14 In January 2016 (07/01/2016), following the quashing of the planning 
permission in December 2015, the applicant was contacted to arrange 
a discussion with the WPA and its noise consultant, of the statement of 
facts and grounds for the judicial review. In the period between 
February and May 2016, RSK (the WPA’s noise consultant) met with 
the applicant, reviewed the application from an acoustic perspective 
and made recommendations accordingly and considered that further 
noise modelling should be carried out. The consultant felt that this 
modelling should be carried out by the Applicant and not the WPA. The 
Applicant was advised of this, and also of the requirement for him to 
address the grounds of the judicial review. The Applicant responded 
that he had arranged a consultation with a noise consultant. Since that 
time, notwithstanding various exchanges of e-mails, no additional noise 
information has been forthcoming. The most recent submission in 
October 2017 did not provide any further noise information.  

Material considerations.

7.15 The main planning issues to be addressed are need, design and layout, 
highway concerns (including narrow approach roads, timing of the site 
operation at peak times, mud/dust on road etc), impact upon the PRoW, 
ability of the bunds to achieve an acceptable level of noise attenuation, 
drainage, environmental impact, topography together with the newly 
created bunds magnifying noise levels, potential for pollution, the 
adequacy of the noise assessment report, and landscape impact. In 
addition the grounds set out in the judicial review challenge need to be 
considered (as set out at 7.17).

Page 86



Judicial Review

7.16 The Council accepted that there was some merit in the challenge in 
respect of the intensification of shooting at the site which was not 
considered in the original report or by members when determining the 
application and as such it put the planning permission in a questionable 
position. The permission was quashed on a single ground which was 
that the officer’s report did not disclose any adequate or intelligible 
reasons why the changes that would be facilitated by the proposed 
development in the use of the land for shooting were not a material 
consideration.  However, the Claimant contends that the additional 
grounds raised within the challenge remain fully arguable.`

7.17 In summary the grounds for judicial review are as follows:
 Ground 1 - Fundamental error of approach

The Council as WPA adopted the approach set out in the 
Officers Report (OR) of:

1) Not considering the use of land for shooting
2) Only considering whether the proposed development 

would lead to the 62 dBA SNL limit set by the 
Abatement Notice being achieved.

 Ground 2 - Noise policy
The NPPF requires noise associated with development to be 
minimised. 

 Ground 3 - conditions
The WPA approached the determination of the application on the 
basis that what needed to be considered was whether the 
development would mean that the 62dB SNL limit would be met.

 Ground 4 – The Noise “Benefit”
The OR advised the Planning Committee needed to balance 
whether the overall benefit gained through the construction of the 
bunds to reduce noise levels to 62dBA SNL for the use of the 
site for 28 days a year for clay pigeon shooting outweighed the 
short term 18 month to 2 year disturbance.

 Ground 5 -  Reasons
The OR does not disclose any adequate or intelligible reasons in 
respect of the following:

a) Why the changes in the use of the land for shooting 
that the proposed development would facilitate were 
not a material consideration;

b) Why the proposed development and the change in 
use of the land for shooting that it would facilitate 
accords with national policy;

c) What levels of noise the WPA considered to be the 
lowest observed effect level (LOAEL) and /or the 
significant observed adverse effect level (SOAEL);

d) Whether the defendant considered 62dBA SNL to be 
a SOAEL and /or SOAEL;

Page 87



e) Why the WPA considered that the proposed 
development included all reasonable measures to 
minimise noise; and

f) Why the WPA considered that achieving the level of 
62dBA SNL noise limit was a benefit in noise terms 
when that level had to be achieved in any event as a 
result of the terms of the noise Abatement Notice. 

Representations

7.18 The main concerns raised by the objectors were and continue to relate 
to unacceptable and intrusive noise levels arising from the shooting 
which it is felt, will not be resolved by the construction of the bunds; 
local roads are unsuitable for HGV’s; safety at the site and on 
surrounding land and public footpaths  is questioned; a lack of evidence 
of police safety certification; pollution of surrounding land and water 
courses arising from the shooting; impact upon the PRoW, consultation 
regarding the proposal is inadequate; the proposed bunds are 
unnecessary as the 62 dBA noise abatement notice level can be 
achieved by other means; the design and layout of the site is 
inappropriate, and the site location is unsuitable.

7.19 Other concerns raised by the proposal relate to the safety of running a 
clay pigeon shoot at this site having regard to the proximity of the road 
and the footpath, suitability of the site for a shooting school, and fears 
that this will lead to a more intensified use of the site. 

7.20 Supporters feel that this is a much needed, well run facility which will 
offer facilities for the less able bodied. It will encourage the younger 
generation to take part in outside sporting activities. It will keep a 
traditional country sport alive.

Need

7.21 Need takes two forms, one in terms of whether the proposed 
development will achieve a satisfactory required level of  noise 
attenuation in this location and secondly in terms of policy and a 
suitable method of disposing of inert waste.

7.22 The Applicant states that in order to offer a more professional 
environment/shooting establishment for its club members/ customers, 
the site cannot continue to operate as it was previously because of the 
requirement to comply with the noise abatement notice. The notice and 
subsequent negotiations required the Applicant to find a solution to 
reducing noise levels if he wanted to continue to operate from this site. 
This application has been put forward as part of remedial measures to 
mitigate noise nuisance identified following the court action in 2012.  
Although hush power cartridges and other methods can be used at the 
site to reduce noise levels these are only suitable for entry level type 
shooting and have not been used for Sunday shooting, and following 

Page 88



the court decision noise levels were still above the 62 dBA often at 66 
dBA. The director of the club is professionally qualified to train club 
members to Olympic and International Standards. He is also attempting 
to offer better facilities that will be accessible to all user groups.  At 
present from the evidence provided by the Applicant, shoot meetings 
rarely have more than 20 people shooting, although the noise 
abatement notice would permit up to 55 people. 

7.23 The Applicant has now suggested that in addition to the original 
proposal the club wish to add the use of small bore rifles to the 
application. These weapons are silenced with sub sonic ammunition 
and the Applicant claims, make no noise at all. The Applicant remains 
confident through the advice of his noise consultants that a reduction in 
noise will be achieved through the construction of the bunds, sufficient 
to at least meet the requirements of the notice. He is also aware that if 
these levels are not achieved then he will not be able to operate.

7.24 The Applicant states that “in addition to the noise benefit the bunds will 
contain shot and clays so there is no chance of contamination to water 
course or neighbouring land and once built will be landscaped therefore 
blending into their surroundings.  All relevant agencies have been 
consulted and have come back with their professional views regarding 
the bunds. Bunds will also ensure that safety continues to not be 
compromised.  Shooting will continue to be in the opposite direction of 
the footpath, be totally enclosed by the bunding and will be hidden 
away from persons using the footpath and any neighbouring 
landowners. This also applies to the highway issue.”  

7.25 There appears to be a demonstrable need to reduce noise levels at the 
shoot arising from complaints about noise and the subsequent issuing 
of the Noise Abatement Notice. The construction of noise attenuation 
bunds has been demonstrated by the Applicant’s noise consultants to 
be capable of ameliorating noise, and is a method of noise reduction 
supported by the Clay Pigeon Association. The Applicant is reluctant to 
carry out further noise modelling and has stated that he has been 
advised by a number of sound engineers that “noise modelling is only 
“guesswork” and until the bunds are physically in place no one can say 
the outcome of noise for definite”. When previously considering the 
proposals, the District Environmental Health Officer was satisfied that 
the bunding would, in conjunction with other control methods such as 
ammunition selection and measures set out at paragraph 2.6 and 2.7 
above, provide the opportunity for the Applicants to achieve a shooting 
noise level (SNL) of 62 dBA. However, the Environmental Health Officer 
stressed that the provision of the bunding alone does not guarantee 
that the SNL would be achieved. That will be dependent upon provision 
of adequate additional control measures (set out at paragraph 2.6 and 
2.7 above). This view was supported by the Noise Consultant engaged 
by the WPA. 

Page 89



7.26 Secondly in terms of need, the principle of the development needs to be 
assessed against Waste Core Strategy policy WCS8 – Landfill. The 
Applicant states that “the material that will be used for the construction 
of the bunds is the type of construction and development inert material 
that cannot be reused or recycled on construction sites in 
Gloucestershire. This scheme provides a suitable opportunity for such 
inert material to be used in a sustainable manner that will suitably 
dispose of the waste, whilst facilitating the long term needs of an 
outdoor recreation use appropriate for this countryside location.”

7.27 He continues that “in this particular case the landfill operation is not just 
a simple disposal of inert material. The material that will be imported to 
the site is purely for facilitating the long term usage of the shooting club 
at the site. This scheme will comprise a localised landfill operation that 
is designed specifically to cater for the needs arising from development 
sites in Gloucestershire. This scheme will not be a strategic site 
targeting waste that is arising from outside the County. The land 
affected by this proposal is not specifically designated for any purpose 
and is afforded no special protection. Accordingly no major aquifers, 
source protection zones and European Sites will be adversely affected.”

7.28 The Applicant has stated that the waste materials to be used cannot be 
reused or recycled in construction sites, the waste cannot therefore be 
managed further up the waste hierarchy. The waste material would be 
used to engineer the noise attenuation bunds.  The Applicant has 
indicated that the waste will be sourced from Gloucestershire. Taking 
the above into consideration, the principle of the proposal accords with 
the principles of Waste Core Strategy policy WCS8. 

Design and layout

7.29 The design and layout of the proposal has been raised as an issue by 
an objector. It is claimed that the proposals as shown on the plans 
accompanying the application exhibit the potential for serious injury 
specifically in relation to the field adjacent to the highway. The objector 
considers that clays will reach the Kingswood Road surface and the 
surrounding fields which are used by children and ponies and also 
impact upon the PRoW and as such may cause harm.

7.30 It is suggested that the area of land, its dimensions and shape, the 
position of the public highway and that of the footpath and also privately 
adjoining land, make it unsuitable for any discipline of Clay Pigeon 
shooting. There is no available space to accommodate the Clay Pigeon 
Shooting Association (CPSA) 275 metre safety zone. The objector has 
submitted various diagrams, calculations and extracts from the CPSA 
guidance to support the objection and full details of these are available 
to view through public access as an associated document. 
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/13_0042_STMAJW_MO
TP_OBJ_25FEB15.pdf and also  

Page 90

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/13_0042_STMAJW_MOTP_OBJ_25FEB15.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/13_0042_STMAJW_MOTP_OBJ_25FEB15.pdf


http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/13_0042_STMAJW_MO
TP_COMM_08JAN18.pdf

7.31 These concerns have been addressed by the Applicant through a 
separate safety note submitted on the 26th March 2014 who states that 
“he has many years of experience in the design and setting out of 
shooting courses for ‘Skeet’ ‘Trap’ and ‘English Sporting’ at both 
purpose built grounds and County Shows around the country and has 
an exemplary record in safety.”  

7.32 In demonstrating his safety record, he states that “his advice has also 
been sought by Avon and Somerset, Gloucestershire, plus Devon and 
Cornwall Constabularies. The submitted drawings are fully compliant 
with the current CPSA guidelines on Skeet and Down the line layouts. 
The drawings were prepared by Architect Services as the Applicant is 
not qualified to do such drawings and are in scale and are correct.” At 
the time the application was originally considered, The Clay Pigeon 
Shooting Association were consulted by the WPA regarding this 
application and indicated that the proposal was acceptable and in 
accordance with their normal practices. The WPA has to take the 
advice of professional organisations at face value where they do not 
have that expertise themselves. Following further concerns of an 
objector, the Applicant has been asked to provide written evidence that 
the site meets with the police safety requirements, but that has not 
been provided at the time of writing the report. However in an attempt to 
address these concerns, Firearms Licensing at both Gloucestershire 
and Avon and Somerset Constabularies were consulted. The 
Gloucestershire Constabulary confirmed that the land at Folly Farm was 
inspected by them in 2006 for quarry shooting (Deer/fox and vermin 
control, but there is no evidence that it was inspected as a 11(6)4 site. 
Neither the Gloucestershire or Avon and Somerset Constabularies had 
any record of the Applicant providing any professional advice. 
Compliance with Section 11(6) is a matter for the Police to enforce and 
they are now aware of the situation.

7.33 The Applicant states that “All shooting in the first field adjacent to the 
road would be confined inside the bunds and would not be visible from 
any footpaths on the site, but even so all ranges within the bunds would 
be situated so shooting would be in an opposite direction from any 
footpaths.” In a letter dated 15th October 2015 between the Applicant’s 
solicitor and the Applicant (which can be viewed on Public Access at 
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/13_0042_STMAJW_SO
LICITOR_15OCT17.pdf), the solicitor advised the Applicant on  the 
issue of safety that “it might be worthwhile inviting the CPSA to provide 
a supplemental report based on the design construction of your actual 
proposed bunds so as to counter that issue.” “I would like us to 

4 Section 11 (6) of the Fire Arms Act 1968

Page 91

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/13_0042_STMAJW_MOTP_COMM_08JAN18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/13_0042_STMAJW_MOTP_COMM_08JAN18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/13_0042_STMAJW_SOLICITOR_15OCT17.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/13_0042_STMAJW_SOLICITOR_15OCT17.pdf


demonstrate to the Local Planning Authority that this is simply 
scaremongering and what is proposed would either decrease or leave 
neutral the risk of danger which is exactly the opposite of the point they 
are trying to make here. In my view this is a weak point which they 
could be attacked on.”

7.34 In terms of landscape impact the County Landscape Advisor states that 
the proposals include the construction of 4 bunds between 3.5m and 
4m in height above surrounding ground levels.  3 roughly circular bunds 
are proposed in the field to the north (directly off the Kingswood – 
Hillesley Road) and 1 more elongated linear bund is proposed in the 
southern field.  The bunds are intended to define and contain the 
separate shooting areas and to provide noise attenuation for the clay 
pigeon shooting activities.  Drainage ditches to intercept water run off 
from the bunds is also proposed around the base of the bunds.

7.35 An existing pond between the 2 fields is to be extended and the existing 
hedgerow is to be retained.  All perimeter hedgerows and trees are to 
be retained, but an existing, gappy intermittent line of scrub and young 
trees dividing the northern field in a north-south direction will be lost due 
to the new bunding.  It is also intended to retain the existing containers 
for equipment. The retention of the containers does not form part of this 
application, but their previous permission issued by Stroud District 
Council has expired.

7.36 The existing PRoW within the site along the western boundary is 
intended to be separated from the shooting areas by a new hedgerow 
and hedgerow trees, and there are no alterations proposed to the 
alignment of the footpath.  An existing rearing pen in the southern field 
is to be relocated elsewhere away from this site.

7.37 The planning submission includes drainage details and report, a noise 
report and general layout plans and site sections.  There is limited 
information on landscape proposals relating to the southern field only. 
Bunds are indicated but not the proposed gradient to the sides.

7.38 The additional information presented in the Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment (LVIA), appears reasonable in view of the scale of 
the proposed works and, having reviewed the data, the main issues 
appear to have been covered adequately. Stroud District Council do not 
consider that the proposal would be harmful to the character and 
appearance of the Kingswood Vale or the AONB. The proposal 
therefore is in compliance with Waste Core Strategy Landscape Policy 
14 which indicates that proposals for waste development will be 
permitted where they do not have a significant adverse impact on the 
local landscape. 

Page 92



Highway Concerns

7.39 Concern has been expressed by the surrounding Parish Councils, Local 
Member, and local residents that the roads approaching the site are 
narrow and winding making them unsuitable for HGV’s to access the 
site and to pass other vehicles. There is also concern that there will be 
“traffic chaos” at peak and school times. The potential for mud and dust 
on the road is also an issue.

7.40 The County Highways Representative has reviewed the proposal (see 
paragraph 7.1 above). The County Highways Representative is 
satisfied that visibility splays from the access are acceptable provided 
the vegetation is cut back, and has suggested a condition to control 
this.

7.41 The County Highways Representative considers the roads to the east 
including through the villages of Hillesley, Alderley and Wortley are generally 
single track in width and not suitable for HGV's.  The route to and from the 
west, the M5 and South Gloucestershire is via Kingswood. The Hillesley Road 
into Kingswood from the site although a residential street is wide enough to 
accommodate the additional 12 - 16 HGV movements per day. The County 
Highways Representative has suggested that from a highway safety issue there 
is no justification for a cap on vehicle movements, although there might be 
other environmental issues to justify a maximum number of HGV movements. 
However, the County Highways Representative has suggested a condition 
requiring the submission of a construction method statement which will 
provide an off-site haul route including direction signage, excluding the roads 
to the east of the site and the villages of Hillesley, Alderley and Wortley.

  
7.42 In terms of dust and mud, the Applicant has proposed the installation of 

a wheel cleaning facility for the duration of the operation and the use of 
a water bowser. These measures could be controlled through a 
planning condition. In addition the County Highways Representative 
has sought the imposition of a construction method statement condition, 
which also covers wheel washing facilities and measures to control the 
emission of dust and dirt during the development.

7.43 The Applicant has agreed to the imposition of a planning condition that 
would avoid peak and school times.

7.44 The Highways Representative does not consider that the proposed 
development would have an adverse impact on the highway network, 
therefore the proposal accords with Waste Core Strategy Policy 
WCS19.

Impact Upon The Public Right of Way (PRoW).

Page 93



7.45 There are three aspects to the impact upon the PRoW, first through the 
physical construction of the noise bund, second through the haul road 
route and third is public safety during a shoot.

7.46   Initially the PRoW Officer identified that part of the bund would obstruct 
the footpath at the western end. However, the Applicant submitted an 
amended site location plan which clearly demonstrated that the toe of 
the bund would not obstruct the footpath. The PRoW Officer states that 
“there will need to be at least 2m width of footpath made available to 
take account of any side growth from the hedge and an agreement in 
place that the owner will maintain this hedge and ensure that it is kept 
cut back so as not to impede walkers”.   No footpath diversion will be 
required as a result of this proposal.

7.47 Second is that the on-site haul route to the southern bund is along the route 
of a public right of way CKD/44/1. The PRoW Officer states that “the footpath 
must not be affected physically in any way by any of the proposals” and urges 
that” the owners ensure that all of the rights of way crossing this land are 
clearly way marked and open, At present there is a lack of way marks making 
it difficult for walkers to navigate the land without straying from the footpath”.  
The PRoW Officer recommends a further condition that provision is made for 
a segregated footpath along this section of the Haul Route for the duration of 
the development.  

7.48 Finally public safety has been raised as an issue and has partially been 
covered under design and layout, but it is also raised in its own right by 
some objectors and the Parish Councils. In particular the safety along 
the PRoW whilst shooting is being undertaken.  The Applicant states 
“that all shooting in the first field adjacent to the road would be confined 
inside the bunds and would not be visible from any footpaths on the 
site, but even so all ranges within the bunds would be situated so 
shooting would be in an opposite direction from any footpaths. The area 
in the second field is more open and again these ranges would be 
shooting away from any footpaths”. The PRoW Officer has suggested 
important safety measures that should be implemented during a shoot, 
such as the use of adequate signage and the use of marshalls.

Noise

7.49 The issue of noise is raised by many of the objectors; they are 
concerned about the adequacy of the noise assessment report, the 
ability of the bunds to achieve the desired noise attenuation, and 
topography together with the newly created bunds magnifying noise 
levels. 

7.50 The purpose of the bunds is to further reduce noise levels sufficiently to 
meet the requirements of the Noise Abatement Notice and to enable 
the Applicant to continue to operate under the permitted development 
rights of the 2015 Order, i.e. for 28 days of the year and to broaden the 
scope of the facilities that the club can offer. 

Page 94



7.51 The Clay Target Shooting – guidance on the control of noise (Chartered 
Institute of Environmental Health (January 2003)) describes how noise 
from clay target shooting can occur and provides advice on methods to 
minimise or prevent annoyance and intrusion. This guidance suggests 
that “irrespective of whether a clay target shooting site has full planning 
consent or is operating under the ‘28 day rule’ it is possible that any 
new and permanent works such as the erection of stands or noise 
barriers, will require planning permission”. The guidance goes on to 
describe the type of shoots, the basic requirements and other technical 
terms.

7.52 Chapter 5 states that “Good site management can go a long way to 
alleviating complaints, or better preventing them from arising in the first 
place.” Paragraph 5.5 use of noise barriers states...

“On permanent sites and grounds where problems of noise intrusion 
are experienced, the provision of purpose built noise barriers to 
redirect, absorb and screen sound may offer a solution. The 
effectiveness of a barrier will depend upon its length, height, 
construction, mass, sound absorption properties and position relative to 
the noise source and receptor. When considering the use of a noise 
barrier, the following general principles apply: 

a) Locate barriers as close to the noise source as is possible.
b) Barriers structures should have an acoustically “soft” finish 

(e.g. soil, sand, straw bailing, proprietary sound absorption 
products) on surfaces facing the noise.

c) The effective height of barriers can be enhanced, for the 
Sporting disciplines, if the shooting position is located in a 
trench or dugout whereby gun muzzles project only slightly 
above ground level.

d) As a working approximation, the length of a barrier should be 
at least five, and preferably ten, times its height.

e) Individual barriers should preferably be arranged around two 
or more sides of a given shooting stand to form an enclosure.

f) Where individual barriers or enclosures are utilised on a 
shooting ground or site, substantial peripheral embankments 
can provide further useful sound attenuation.

7.53 The initial noise report submitted with the planning application was 
further supported through the submission of an assessment of the 
attenuation of shooting noise level in February 2014 requested by the 
District Environmental Health Officer (EHO). Initially, the EHO 
suggested that the noise attenuation bunds should ensure noise levels 
at the relevant receptors (Upper Barns Farm, Park Farm, Alderley 
Church, Hayes End Cottage, Hill View Cottage, Day House Farm, 
Hareley Gate Farm, Withymore Farm, Lower Withymore Farm and 
Harolds Field Farm as identified on Figure “of Matrix Acoustic Design 
Consultants report of 26/02/2015)) should not exceed 55 dB(A).  

Page 95



Following consultation with the EHO, additional information was 
submitted to clarify issues raised by the EHO. The EHO  was then 
satisfied with the adequacy of the report and has confirmed that the 
Applicant has shown that the bunds together with the other control 
methods such as ammunition selection will provide an opportunity to 
achieve the 62 dB(A). However the EHO stresses that the provision of 
the bunding alone does not guarantee that the SNL level would be 
achieved – that would be dependent upon the provision of adequate 
additional control measures.

7.54 In November 2017 following further consultation the District EHO has 
set out the thinking that led to the use of the 62 dB SNL limit. (See last 
entry for paragraph 6.1 above). He concludes that the limit set in the 
Noise Abatement Notice is one that was deemed appropriate to prevent 
unreasonable interference with the use and enjoyment of property. He 
argues “that as this application does not seek to extend the amount of 
clay target shooting beyond that current situation, then the level in 
question may remain appropriate”. He goes on to state that “it is not felt 
that the applicant has adequately demonstrated that the provision of the 
bunds alone would guarantee that an SNL of 62 dB would be achieved. 
It is noted that other control measures are available such as restrictions 
on the type and weight of cartridge used. Given the enforcement 
difficulties inherent in controlling, for example, shot types and weights 
then it would seem prudent to require demonstration that the bunding 
alone would allow shooting to comply with an SNL of 62 dB.”

7.55 The NPPF Guidance on noise (updated in March 2013) states at 
paragraph 006 that “the subjective nature of noise means that there is 
not a simple relationship between noise levels and the impact on those 
affected. This will depend on how various factors combine in any 
particular situation”. Paragraph 003 states that “Local Planning 
Authorities’ plan making and decision taking should take account of the 
acoustic environment and in doing so consider:

 Whether or not a significant adverse effect is occurring or 
likely to occur;

 Whether or not an adverse effect is occurring or likely to 
occur;

 Whether or not a good standard of amenity can be achieved.

...As noise is a complex issue, it may be appropriate to seek 
experienced specialist assistance when applying this policy.”

7.56 At the time the planning application was first considered, the WPA 
sought the advice of the District Council including the Environmental 
Health Officer and also the advice of an independent noise consultant 
(Atkins Acoustics). Following the submission of additional information, 
both technical experts felt that the construction of noise bunds would 
reduce noise levels experienced outside of the site and Noise 
Consultants Atkins Acoustics stated that “the bunds would be sufficient 

Page 96



to reduce the shooting noise level at the closest noise sensitive 
receptors to below the 62dB limit. On this basis the 62dB can be 
achieved and it is less likely that noise nuisance will occur.”

7.57 The various noise reports have concluded that with “the provision of 4m 
minimum height earth bunds at the proposed locations….it has been 
demonstrated by calculation that the 62dB SNL limit will be met at all 
assured receptors”.

7.58 In the design of the bunds and site layout, the surrounding topography 
together with the shape of the bunds was taken into consideration and 
Matrix Acoustic Design Consultants (the Applicant’s noise consultants) 
have stated that they would not magnify noise levels at the noise 
sensitive properties.  

7.59 To satisfy the WPA further in respect of noise attenuation it consulted 
The National Ground Auditor and Senior National Safety Officer from 
the Clay Pigeon Shooting Association (CPSA), following concerns from 
local residents. Both of the consultees have looked at the proposals 
and confirm that earth bunds reduce the noise of shot gun shooting 
considerably.

7.60 As stated above since the original decision was quashed, the WPA has 
commissioned noise consultants (RSK Environmental and Atkins 
Acoustics) to address the main noise issues raised through the Judicial 
Review. The consultants have monitored the site whilst shooting was 
demonstrated and concluded that additional information would be 
required. RSK found that under the test exercise the SNL Target as set 
in the Noise Abatement Notice was exceeded at one receptor and 
complied with at another. The separation distance between the two 
receptors and the site was similar, therefore suggesting the significance 
of shoot stand orientation and shotgun orientation on noise levels. 
Given the compliance at one receptor, the exercise suggests that 
careful design of the site (temporary or permanent) and management of 
a shoot could result in a compliant SNL at all receptors. However, 
further investigation would be required. RSK suggested that “an 
assessment of multiple scenarios taking into account different shooting 
orientations and the specific characteristics of the source can be 
performed in a more efficient way in a noise model environment. A 
computer aided noise model is able to incorporate real terrain data and 
process sound propagation from the source to any receptors taking into 
account natural and artificial obstacles. This solution would facilitate the 
inclusion of specific mitigation measures and the prediction of the 
effectiveness in order to comply with noise targets”. The Applicant was 
advised accordingly in June 2016. A further submission was made by 
the Applicant on 24th October 2017, but did not include any further 
noise modelling details.

7.61 Since the application was originally determined there has been a 
change of noise consultant used by the WPA to evaluate planning 
applications, this is because the first contract came to an end. Following 

Page 97



the submission of additional information by the Applicant on 24th 
October 2017, the WPA used this opportunity to commission Atkins 
Acoustics (the new term consultants) to review all of the noise data 
submitted to date, by the Applicant, the Claimant for judicial review and 
RSK the previous consultants.

7.62 Having reviewed all the submitted information they recommend that the 
application be refused, unless the Applicant is able to provide a robust 
acoustic analysis addressing previous shortcomings. They state that 
this recommendation is in line with the conclusions from the RSK 
report, which recommends further assessments and noise monitoring is 
required in order to provide robust evidence of the effectiveness of any 
noise mitigation measures proposed at the site.

7.63 The Applicant has drawn attention to the initial recommendation of the 
first consultant who suggested that the application should be permitted 
subject to conditions. However, it is not considered that a condition of 
this nature to require the  construction of  the bunds and then to carry 
out noise monitoring after the event to see whether they are effective in 
reducing noise levels would meet the six tests set out in paragraph 206 
of the NPPF, in that it would be unreasonable. The question also arises 
as to what would then be required to resolve the situation if noise levels 
remained unacceptable.

7.64 The Applicant has sought advice from his own solicitor who appears to 
support the view that additional noise modelling could resolve the noise 
issues (as outlined in 7.33 above). However the Applicant has declined 
to carry out further noise modelling (see para 7.25 above).

Landscape

7.65 The County Landscape Advisor describes the site and its surroundings 
in their response (paragraph 7.5 above), they explain that there are no 
landscape designations covering the site itself, but the AONB lies some 
400 metres to the east of the site. They state that the information 
presented in the Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment appears 
reasonable. The proposal accords with WCS policy 14 – Landscape, in 
that the Applicant has demonstrated that the proposal will not have an 
adverse effect on the local landscape subject to the impostion of 
planning conditions requiring the submission of a soft landscape 
scheme including an Aftercare and Management Plan.

Drainage

7.66 Kingswood Parish Council is concerned about the impact the bunds 
could have on site drainage. Saturated land on site has caused site 
users to park on the roads. The Parish Council is concerned about the 
nature of the material that would be deposited on site that may make 
the existing situation worse. A surface water drainage statement was 
submitted with the planning application. This report recommended that 

Page 98



a ditch system is installed immediately west of the proposed bunds to 
intercept overland runoff. Paragraph 79 of the Planning Practice 
Guidance on ‘Flood Risk and Coastal Change’ suggests that 
sustainable drainage schemes should be secured for major 
development unless demonstrated to be inappropriate. This could be 
secured through the imposition of a planning condition if permission 
were to be granted. 

Importation of Waste Material.

7.67 The types of waste to be accepted at the site/ deposited at the site 
could be controlled through the imposition of a planning condition to 
secure the submission of a ‘reception of imported fill protocol scheme’. 
This would require the Applicant to detail how material would be 
received at the site, what checks would be in place to ensure that only 
suitable material would be deposited on site. 

Other Concerns

7.68 An Objector has spent a considerable amount of time and effort  
reviewing the proposals and comparing them to the CPSA guidance, 
expressing concern that the site would be unsafe and not containing 
shot, that there would be overshooting, and that the proposals do not 
meet the CPSA design standards. The National Ground Auditor and 
Senior National Safety Officer from the Clay Pigeon Shooting 
Association (CPSA) have advised that for any shooting site to operate 
with members of the general public in attendance, a police 11.6 
exemption certificate has to be obtained from the local constabulary 
who visit the site and check all safety aspects before they will grant 
such a certificate. In terms of the Objectors’ interpretation of the design 
and layout requirements, distances etc, the National Ground Auditor 
and Senior National Safety Officer from the CPSA suggest that the 
material provided misinterprets the CPSA guidance and therefore 
limited weight should be provided to the Objector’s material. (See full 
details at paragraph 6.6 above). The Objector represents the views of 
several Hillesley residents.

7.69 Other concerns raised such as this proposal will result in an 
intensification of use at the site, have been addressed elsewhere in the 
report. 

7.70 The Applicant has claimed in his most recent email of the 24th October 
2017 that because the permission was granted in 2015, there was no 
issue over the physical aspect of the said bunds. However, the 
application was originally approved subject to 27 conditions and 5 notes 
to the Applicant, of these, 8 conditions required the submission of 
additional information prior to the commencement of development. 
These include a protocol for the reception of imported material; the 
setting out of appropriate access visibility splays; a construction method 
statement; a scheme for the segregation of the footpath along the 

Page 99



section of the haul route that is coincident with footpath CKD/44/1; a 
biodiversity mitigation scheme; a landscape enhancement, aftercare 
and management scheme; a 15 year landscape management plan and 
a surface water drainage scheme. The previous officer 
recommendation to approve planning permission was made ‘on 
balance’ having regard to the NPPF presumption in favour of 
development and on the information available at that time, it was not 
straight forward as the imposition of numerous conditions reflects. In 
order to assist in the processing of the application, the Applicant being 
aware of the requirements could have submitted the information 
required by planning conditions following the quashing of the decision, 
but prior to the reconsideration of the application but to date no 
information has been submitted.

Grounds for Judicial Review and associated issues 

7.71 The grounds for judicial review have in part been addressed through 
the ‘Planning Observations’ in the preceding paragraphs. There are 
however, some additional points that need to be considered as part of 
the determination of this planning application.

Ground 1 - Error of Approach

7.72 The WPA originally believed that the importation of waste to construct 
bunds and the use of the land for clay shooting were two separate 
issues because the land was already being used for Clay shooting 
under permitted development rights and there were no proposals to 
change that. However, upon reviewing the submitted application, and 
noise consultants advice the WPA accepted that there was some merit 
in the challenge in respect of the intensification of shooting at the site 
which was not considered in the original report or by members when 
determining the application and as such it put the planning permission 
granted in 2015 in a questionable position, hence why the WPA agreed 
to the planning permission being quashed as part of the judicial review 
proceedings. The Applicant is seeking to improve the facilities at the 
site which would enable him to offer more of a professional 
environment/shooting establishment for its club member/customers 
which could lead to an intensification of the use of the site.

7.73 The judicial review Claimant contends that the application has not been 
amended and that their position remains that the proposed 
development raises a number of material land use considerations to 
which the WPA must have proper regard. He states that the WPA must 
“identify each of the following:

I. What is likely to happen in land use terms if the 
application is refused.

II. What is likely to happen in land use terms if permission is 
granted, and 

Page 100



III. The difference in land use terms between these two 
situations.”

7.74 The previous recommendation for permission was an ‘on balance’ 
decision which on the facts before the Planning Officer was 
recommended for approval, having regard to the qualified consultation 
responses and the NPPF presumption in favour of development. 
However since the decision was quashed the WPA has in consultation 
with its noise advisor (Atkins), reviewed all of the information submitted 
by the Applicant, Objectors and the previous noise consultant. The 
noise adviser concludes that there is insufficient information to 
determine the application in its present format and that the application 
should be refused in the absence of additional noise modelling 
information. It follows that this modelling may raise further land use 
issues that would need to be addressed accordingly.

7.75 If the application were to be refused, the Applicant could continue to 
operate in the same way that he has since the Noise Abatement Notice 
was issued, and operate for 28 days a year, provided he accords with 
the requirements of the Notice. (See EHO comments in section 6.1 
above from the 24th November 2017.) Should conditional permission be 
granted then the Applicant would be able to construct the bunds and 
operate with a wider range of shooting opportunities for club members 
and customers. However in reaching this decision, consideration would 
need to be given to the acceptable noise level in planning terms, which 
has yet to be established and may need to be lower than the 62 dB set 
in respect of the Noise Abatement Notice.   The difference in land use 
terms between these two situations could result in an increase in the 
number of people currently attending the site at present up to the 
maximum allowed by the Noise Abatement Notice and a difference in 
the shooting practice/techniques that take place. It is possible that the 
bunds will contain the noise, spent cartridges and shot, although that 
has not been adequately demonstrated by the Applicant through further 
noise modelling at this stage. It has also not been precisely established 
how high the bunds would need to be in order to further reduce noise 
levels.

Ground 2- Noise policy

7.76 The WPA was criticised that it failed to take into consideration the noise 
implications of the change of use of the land that the grant of planning 
permission would make possible. The WPA has commissioned further 
noise investigations at the site and the results are detailed above. The 
advice of the WPA noise consultant is that further modelling is required. 
Without the information from the further modelling it is not possible to 
assess the implications of the change of use of the land that the grant 
of planning permission would make possible. This view is supported by 
the Applicant’s own solicitor, who has recommended that further noise 
modelling should be carried out to satisfy objections raised by third 
parties.

Page 101



Ground 3 - Conditions

7.77 The imposition of conditions to control shooting techniques or other 
management matters may not be reasonable in terms of the 6 tests set 
out in the National Planning Policy Guidance on the use of planning 
conditions (March 2104) which states that:- 

“when used properly, conditions can enhance the quality of 
development and enable development proposals to proceed where it 
would otherwise have been necessary to refuse planning permission, 
by mitigating the adverse effects of the development. The objectives of 
planning are best served when the power to attach conditions to a 
planning permission is exercised in a way that is clearly seen to be fair, 
reasonable and practicable.”

It may be considered unreasonable to impose such conditions because 
they do not relate to the planning application for the formation of earth 
bunds. Further, such conditions may not be easily enforceable in 
reality, and there is no information before the WPA to demonstrate 
whether such measures would work in any case. It would be 
unreasonable to impose a condition that noise monitoring take place 
after the bunds were constructed because it may not be possible to 
facilitate further noise reduction within the confines of the site. 

Ground 4 – The Noise “Benefit”

7.78 It is suggested that there will be no noise benefit arising from the 
construction of the bunds as it will allow different shooting techniques, 
and enable the Applicant to operate to the 62 dB limit, which is the legal 
requirement set out in the Noise Abatement Notice. In the absence of 
any proof to the contrary, it could be argued that  the noise limit set at 
62 dB can be achieved by methods other than the creation of bunds, 
and that the bunds will only facilitate an intensification of use on the site 
and enable the Applicant to offer improved facilities. This is perhaps 
something that should be considered as part of a new all-inclusive 
application for clay shooting and noise attenuation bunds to be made to 
the District Council where the full impact of the proposed development 
can be considered in detail.

Ground 5 - Reasons

7.79 a) The WPA agrees that the change in the use of the land for shooting, 
resulting in an intensification of use are a material consideration, 
although there are current restrictions on the use of the site by the 
Noise Abatement Notice.
b) The policy issues are addressed in the report above.
c) and d) It is agreed that LOAEL and SOAEL levels have not been 
established for the site, but noise modelling will help to address this 
issue.

Page 102



e) Whether the application included all reasonable measures to 
minimise noise, should not be part of the consideration of this proposal. 
The WPA has to deal with the application before them which was for 
the construction of noise attenuation bunds, which could reduce noise 
levels experienced at the nearest noise sensitive properties. It would be 
unreasonable for the WPA to insist that the Applicant explore all 
possibilities, if the bunds could be demonstrated to be effective.  The 
point is that it is for the Applicant to demonstrate that he has put 
forward the best and most practical noise reduction method and one 
that is recognised as common practice. However, in this instance it has 
not been demonstrated that the bunds would work to satisfactorily 
reduce noise levels. The Applicant has been invited to provide more 
evidence to demonstrate that the bunds would improve the situation in 
this location but to date this information has not been provided. 
f) Why achieving a noise limit of 62 dB was a benefit when it had to be 
achieved in any event as a result of the noise abatement notice. 
Notwithstanding the above discussion of material considerations that 
are now felt relevant, when the Application was previously considered, 
as stated above, it was an on balance decision and determined 
favourably because of the NPPF presumption in favour of development, 
and in the absence of objections from Statutory Consultees.

Judicial Review at Hartpury

7.80 In his e-mail of 24th October 2017, the Applicant suggests that in 
hindsight he would not have agreed to the quashing of the planning 
permission if he had been aware at the time of a similar proposal at 
Hartpury College in the Forest of Dean, where leave for a judicial 
review was refused by the High Court. The background details are that 
on the 13 August 2015 Forest of Dean District Council granted planning 
permission to the interested party for the construction of acoustic 
barriers, use of the land for the storage of shooting huts and associated 
landscaping on land at Hartpury, Gloucester. The planning permission 
was challenged, but as advised above was unsuccessful. 

7.81 As the WPA has advised the Applicant the Hartpury case and the 
current application are two separate cases, with different individual 
facts and as such they cannot be considered ‘like for like’. Each case 
would be considered on their own merits. Any decision in respect of 
Hartpury College does not automatically set a precedent for shooting 
applications within the area going forward.

Conclusions.

7.82 The Applicant has demonstrated that there is a need for noise 
attenuation to reduce noise levels from shooting at the site to comply 
with the Noise Abatement Notice, if he intends to go on to develop the 
site and offer a more professional environment /shooting establishment 
for its club members/customers. However, this must be set against the 
long term impact of having a permanent facility on the site albeit it  

Page 103



would be for 28 days a year (as the Applicant operates under permitted 
development regulations); and the visual and landscape impact, 
highway and general disturbance to local residents in the Parish during 
the construction period.  Members have to consider whether there is a 
proven overall benefit gained through the construction of the bunds and 
whether it has been demonstrated that the bunds will in fact reduce 
noise levels to the required 62 dB, and further whether that limit is in 
itself an acceptable level.

7.83 There are no objections to the principle of the proposal for the 
importation of waste to create bunds from Statutory Consultees, with 
the exception of the surrounding Parish Councils, although the District 
Environmental Health Officer has supported the view of the WPA noise 
consultant that further investigation needs to be carried out, both in 
terms of the most appropriate maximum noise level to be set in 
accordance with the Noise Policy Statement for England 2010,  
Significant Observed Adverse Effect Level (SOAEL)  and noise 
modelling to demonstrate that this can be achieved. Kingswood Parish 
Council has expressed concerns that can be addressed through the 
imposition of planning conditions, whilst Hillesley and Tresham and 
Alderley object to the proposal. There is also considerable local 
concern about the shooting range itself together with the construction of 
the bunds.

7.84 This proposal is for the construction of earth noise attenuation bunds 
associated with a temporary use of land, which is in principle in 
accordance with the development plan. Whilst the NPPF has a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development the WPA does not 
consider that the Applicant has demonstrated that the bunds offer any 
benefit beyond a noise limit which must be complied with by law (as set 
out in the Noise Abatement Notice). Further noise modelling needs to 
be undertaken by the Applicant to demonstrate the effectiveness of the 
proposed bunds relative to the noise source and identified noise 
receptors, with an assessment of multiple scenarios taking into account 
different shooting orientations etc. The WPA has requested over the 
past 18 months the further noise modelling information from the 
Applicant to satisfy such concerns, however to date has not been 
furnished with any further information to assess this issue. The WPA is 
conscious that the planning application needs to be determined given 
the time that has passed since its submission in 2013.   

Human Rights

7.85 From 2nd October 2000 the Human Rights Act 1998 has the effect of 
enshrining much of the European Convention on Human Rights in UK 
law. Under 6(1) of the Act, it is unlawful for a public authority to act in a 
way, which is incompatible with a convention right. A person who claims 
that a public authority has acted (or proposes to act) in a way which is 
made unlawful by Section 6(1), and that he is (or would be) a victim of 
the unlawful act, may bring proceedings against the authority under the 

Page 104



Act in the appropriate court or tribunal, or may rely on the convention 
right or rights concerned in any legal proceedings.

7.86 The main Convention rights relevant when considering planning 
proposals are Article 1 of the First Protocol (the peaceful enjoyment of 
property) and Article 8 (the right to a private and family life). Article 1 of 
the First Protocol guarantees the right to peaceful enjoyment of 
possessions and Article 8 of the Human Rights Act 1998 guarantees a 
right to respect for private and family life. Article 8 also provides that 
there shall be no interference by a public authority with the exercise of 
this right except in the interests of national security, public safety, or the 
economic well-being of the country, for the prevention of disorder or 
crime, for the protection of health or morals, or for the protection of the 
freedom of others.

7.87 93 letters of representation have been received regarding the proposal. 
The objections covered the need, design and layout, highway concerns 
(including narrow approach roads, timing of the site operation at peak 
times, mud/dust on road etc), impact upon the PRoW, ability of the 
bunds to achieve the desired noise attenuation, drainage, 
environmental impact, topography together with the newly created 
bunds magnifying noise levels, potential for pollution, the adequacy of 
the noise assessment report, and landscape impact. These issues need 
to be considered in respect of any impact on individuals human rights, 
at present the WPA considers that further information is required to 
confirm that any such impact can be qualified.  

Positive and Proactive Statement

7.88 In determining this planning application, the WPA has worked with the 
Applicant in a positive and proactive manner by liaising with consultees, 
respondents and the Applicant/agent and discussing changes to the 
proposal where considered appropriate or necessary.  This approach 
has been taken positively and proactively in accordance with the 
requirement in the NPPF, as set out in the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) (Amendment No.2) 
Order 2012.

Conclusions and summary reasons for grant of refusing 
permission and relevant development plan policies

7.89 This application proposes the importation of soils and subsoils to create 
noise attenuation bunds associated with an established Clay Pigeon 
shooting operation, and associated landscaping works. Permitted 
development rights under Schedule 2, Part 4, Class B of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
2015 enables the Applicant to use the site for up to 28 days a year for 
Clay Pigeon shooting.  The application is for the importation of material 
to create noise attenuation bunds in association with the use of the land 
for Clay Pigeon shooting.  Therefore, determination of the application 

Page 105



needs to relate to not only the planning merits of the existing proposal 
for the importation of waste but must also consider the  wider impact of  
a more intense use of the site during those 28 days. 

 
7.90 The main planning issues considered are need, design and layout, 

highway concerns (including narrow approach roads, timing of the site 
operation at peak times, mud/dust on road etc), impact upon the PRoW, 
ability of the bunds to achieve the desired noise attenuation, drainage, 
environmental impact, topography together with the newly created 
bunds magnifying noise levels, potential for pollution, the adequacy of 
the noise assessment report, and landscape impact.

7.91 The Applicant has demonstrated that there is a need for noise 
attenuation to reduce noise levels from shooting at the site to comply 
with the Noise Abatement Notice, if he intends to go on to develop the 
site and offer a more professional environment /shooting establishment 
for its club members/customers. However this must be set against the 
visual and landscape impact, highway and general disturbance to local 
residents in the Parish during the construction period.  This proposal is 
a balance of whether the overall benefit gained through the construction 
of the bunds to reduce noise levels to 62 dB for the use of the site for 
28 days a year for Clay Pigeon shooting outweighs the short term 18 
month to 2 year disturbance.

7.92 There are no objections to the proposal from Statutory Consultees, with 
the exception of the surrounding Parish Councils, although the District 
Environmental Health Officer has supported the view of the WPA noise 
consultant that further investigation needs to be carried out, both in 
terms of the most appropriate maximum noise level to be set and noise 
modelling to demonstrate that this can be achieved. Kingswood Parish 
Council has expressed concerns that can be addressed through the 
imposition of planning conditions, whilst Hillesley and Tresham and 
Alderley object to the proposal. There is also considerable local 
concern about the shooting range itself together with the construction of 
the bunds.

7.93 This proposal is for the construction of earth noise attenuation bunds 
associated with a temporary use of land, which is in principle in 
accordance with the development plan. However, having regard to the 
noise and safety issues arising from the Clay Pigeon Shooting   
associated with proposed development, raising concerns that the bunds 
will not significantly reduce noise levels and taking into consideration 
the concerns of local residents I consider that there is insufficient 
information submitted in support of the application to permit this 
proposal and that planning permission should therefore be REFUSED 
for the following reasons.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION

Page 106



8.1 It is recommended that planning permission be REFUSED for the 
following reasons and summarised at paragraphs 7.89 – 7.93. 

1. The Waste Planning Authority (WPA) is not satisfied that there is 
sufficient information submitted with the application to determine the 
noise impact on the nearest noise sensitive properties as required by 
the NPPF, and is therefore contrary to the requirements of the Waste 
Local Plan (2004) Policy 37 and Stroud District Council Local Plan 
(2015) delivery policy ES3. Further noise modelling is required to 
demonstrate the effectiveness of the proposed bund relative to the 
noise source and identified noise receptors, an assessment of multiple 
scenarios taking into account different shooting orientations and the 
specific characteristics of the source can be performed in a more 
effective way in a noise model environment.

2. The Applicant has failed to clearly demonstrate that the proposed 
development can adequately secure the shooting operation safely 
within the site boundaries in accordance with the CPSA guidelines.

Background Papers: Planning Application 13/0042/STMAJW, accompanying 
plans / supporting information, and consultation responses. Copies of these 
documents, including the previous committee report can be viewed at 
http://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/.

Clay Target Shooting – Guidance on the control of noise, published by the 
Chartered Institute of Environmental Health dated January 2003

Clay Pigeon Association Guidance Notes.

CONTACT OFFICER:

Sarah Pearse Principal Planning Officer – Gloucester (01452) 425617

Page 107

http://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/


Appendix 1

Summary of Representations.

The full details of the representations received since the application was 
submitted can be viewed through public access, either in the comments 
section or as an associated document. 
http://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/

Objections

1. 62 decibels not acceptable to local residents.  Levels above this were 
recorded at Park Farm.

2. Safety at the site is questioned.  Code of Practice sets standards where 
shooting can take place and much of this site does not meet those 
standards.

3. Not a suitable site to establish a permanent shooting school.

4. Footpaths cannot be used during shoots.

5. Topography magnifies the noise levels.

6. Pollution – on shooting days – a significant amount of lead shot lands in 
the brook.  Also lands on adjacent grazing land.

7. Bunds will not solve the problem for local residents.

8. Concerns about importation of polluted/unsuitable material – no 
regulation of the material to be tipped.

9. Fully licensed site at Wickwar 6 miles away at BC School operate at 
Huntingford.

10. Lorry access via Kingswood is unsuitable.  Visibility approaching from 
Hillesley is extremely poor.

11. Mud on road will be a danger.

12. Site adjacent to PRoW – danger to pedestrians during shooting.

13. Surface water run-off rates will not remain the same as for Greenfield 
site.

14. There will be pollution of the Hams gully brook from lead shot.

15. Run-off from the wheel washing facility will also pollute the watercourse 
as there is no provision for an interceptor.

Page 108

http://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/


16. A separate planning application should have been made to SDC for the 
shooting element of the proposal.

17. Owner of close residential property has serious concerns about the 
effectiveness of the bunds.  Sound could be deflected off the top of the 
bunds directly into neighbouring properties.

18. Consultation regarding the proposal is inadequate – should have 
contacted all those who supported the SDC noise abatement 
enforcement action.

19. The Noise Assessment report is inadequate.

20. There are hints in the application that the applicant may seek approval 
for a change of use for more than 28 days a year.

21. Additional lorry movements would increase traffic congestion through 
local villages especially with commuter traffic, school busses and 
tractors.  Damage to lanes.

22. The application talks about hush power cartridges only being suitable 
for entry level shooting but states that the Director of BCS is qualified to 
train to international and Olympic standards.  This indicates a strong 
intent to erect these bunds and move away from hush power i.e. 
increase the noise level.

23. It is difficult to believe that this work including 6,600 lorry movements is 
just for 28 days shooting a year.

24. The clay pigeon shoot is a monstrous intrusion into private lives, 
normally on a Sunday and is not mitigated by this proposal.

25. Noise levels measured in the past when the standard and high lead 
cartridges were used often in the order of 80-85 dbs, therefore noise 
reduction of 20+ db would be needed.  Proposed bunds are 
inadequate.

26. Objector made reference to Tandridge District Council who have 
guidelines for clay pigeon shooting on their website. 

27. Living at one of the properties identified in noise report and have grave 
concerns.  Suffer miserably from the intrusive repetitive sound of 
gunfire, can hear every shot even with doors & windows closed.

28. No need for work to be done.  The court case to restrict to 62dcbs (Sic.) 
was hard won and is a state of equilibrium.  The club now shoot 28 
days a year and is well attended.  If shooting with hush cartridges was 
inadequate the no-one would attend.

Page 109



29. Residents of this peaceful and quiet area of outstanding natural beauty 
should not be forced to suffer constant and repetitive noise in their own 
homes, gardens and public areas on such a regular basis.

30. The proposal to import 47,999m3 of spoil is out of all proportion to the 
modest benefits to be expected, it is more like a commercial waste 
disposal operation and should be assessed as such.

31. There is insufficient evidence and absolutely no guarantee that the 
construction of the bunds will effectively reduce the noise to an 
acceptable level.

32. Should feel free to walk safely on local footpaths.

33. Bunds will permanently alter the landscape in the area.

34. The Applicant has not followed the advice of his own Solicitor in that he 
has offered no further analysis on the effectiveness of the bunds.

35. The bunds as outlined in the various plans submitted by the Applicant 
do not allow for sufficient space for shooting ranges to meet the CPSA 
regulation.

36. The addition of the small bore shooting indicates that the “down the 
line” ranges would not meet the CPSA requirements for competitive 
shooting.

37. For small bore shooting, the bunds would not be needed, a simple low 
bank would suffice that could easily be removed by the Applicant at a 
later date to restore the land to its current state. 

38. The applicant has exceeded the 28 days shooting and enforcement 
action is being sought through Stroud District Council.

39. No evidence of the Police Safety reports has been submitted in support 
of the application. Such reports indicating that it is acceptable to allow 
overshooting of private land would need to be escalated to a higher 
authority.

40. As the site is so very obviously not suitable for Clay Pigeon shooting, it 
follows that if allowed, it would in reality simply be for the creation of a 
very lucrative tip.

41. The reason that there have been no complaints by local residents is 
because prior to this application shooting days were attended by 
between 50 and 75 shooters, each shooting either 50 cartridges or in 
some cases 100. In addition to the sheer quantity, some shooters 
insisted in using very high power cartridges which made significantly 
more noise. This resulted in the noise abatement notice.

Page 110



42. Many documents are 4 years old, and official consultees comments are 
4 years old as well.

43. Highway consultations appear to be particularly 'old' and completed by 
the in house Development control highways section of Glos CC, and 
not the 'nuts and bolts', 'on the ground' highway department of Glos 
CC. The Glos CC PROW dept. were not consulted.

44. In the recent past I have struggled to negotiate CKD 44 on a firing day 
and other days, I confirm I have not seen any Marshals; warning signs; 
alarms; whatever.

45. The submitted plans are very poor, with large areas of draughtsman’s 
licence, especially over the location of the footpaths relative to the 
shooting areas, with no north pointers.

46. The site is ill kept with large piles of shooting debris, and CKD 44 has 
been up to very recently totally obstructed in the north easterly 
direction, plus there NO way marks on site.

Support

1. Good to have local facility.

2. Good location.

3. Lacywood – Wickwar, nearby facility – only offers private lessons.

4. Facilities for disabled welcomed.

5. Proposal will help the local economy.

6. Noise control measures such as those proposed are beneficial at other 
similar facilities.

7. Using this method – unbroken clays, clay fragments and spent shot all 
fall to earth within the bund.

8. This proposal will only enhance the look of the ground and whole 
shooting experience.

9. Seems that objectors are concentrated on whether shooting should 
take place at all rather than this application which is designed to contain 
clays and pellets and to significantly reduce noise levels.

10. It will encourage the younger generation away from X-boxes and play 
stations and take part in outdoor activities.

11. Proposal helps to keep a traditional country sport alive.

Page 111



12. Local resident supports our application that can only reduce noise 
levels.

13. Since February 2012 BCS have not shot on a Sunday at the Kingswood 
ground as their open shoots would be above 62 dBA.  Occasional 
private clay shoots and laser tags.

14. Restrictions of operation of the shoot have been imposed through the 
Noise Abatement Notice.

Page 112



1

APPLICATION NO: 17/0082/STMAJW

VALIDATION DATE: 10.08.2017

DISTRICT REF: S.17/1888/MISC

AGENT: Malcolm Hunt Design Ltd., Frome Lodge, High Street, Chalford, 
Stroud, GL6 8DJ.

APPLICANT: Dr T Watson and S Williams, Fourways Farm, Waterlane, 
Oakridge, Stroud, GL6 7PH.

SITE: Fourways Farm, Waterlane, Oakridge, Gloucestershire, GL6 7PH.

PROPOSAL: Change of use of agricultural building to Use Class B2 and 
installation of proposed incinerator for the disposal of equine 
carcasses.

PARISH OF: Bisley-With-Lypiatt Parish Council

SITE AREA: 140 square metres

GRID REF: (E) 392221 (N) 204532

RECOMMENDATION: That planning permission is GRANTED for the reasons 
summarised in paragraphs 9.58 – 9.61 of this report and 
subject to the conditions set out in section 10 of this report.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The incinerator was purchased by the applicant in March 2017. Whilst not ‘fully 
assembled or commissioned’, it is sited in situ within the former hay barn at 
Fourways Farm and associated drainage works have been carried out inside the 
building, along with concrete flooring. The applicant understood from the 
manufacturers that planning permission would not be required ‘for a low capacity 
machine of this type’ and that an installation of this type had the benefit of 
permitted development rights. The applicant states that this view was supported 
by information contained within ‘Regulation (EC) No.1774/2002 laying down 
health rules concerning animal by-products not intended for human consumption, 
and The Animal By-Products (England) Regulations 2005. S.I.2005/2347 
Controls on Low Capacity Animal Carcase Incineration Plants – Version 2.2.’

Page 113

Agenda Item 8



2

Page 114



3

1.2 The proposed use (Use Class B2) of the former hay barn does not have the 
benefit of being regularised through any previous planning consent at Fourways 
Farm.

1.3 Changing the use of the former hay barn from agricultural building to Use Class 
B2 (Incineration place, animal remains waste with throughput <50kg/hour) falls 
outside that permitted under any part of Schedule 2 of The Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015.

1.4 The development to which this application relates is a county matter by virtue of 
the incinerator being used for the disposal of equine carcasses and therefore a 
waste planning development and not as an ancillary agricultural activity.

2.0 LOCATION AND SURROUNDING AREA

2.1 Located within the parish of Bisley with Lypiatt in Stroud district, the proposed 
incinerator at Fourways Farm would be approx.:

- 9.67km north-west of Cirencester
- 5.24km east of Stroud’s urban fringe
- 2.19km south-east of Bisley
- 718m north-east of the outskirts of Oakridge Lynch
- 582m north-west of the nearest property in Far Oakridge

 
2.2 The nearest residential properties to the proposed incinerator include:

- curtilage of Highfield House 122m to the north
- curtilage of Spinneywell Farmhouse 142m to the north-west
- curtilage of Fourways Farmhouse 158m to the north
- Battledown Farmhouse 259m to the south-west
- boundary of nearest residential property fronting Limekiln Lane 285m 

to the north
- curtilage of Mannesty Farmhouse 403m to the east

2.3 The surrounding area is rural and characterised by agricultural fields, working 
farms, low density housing and pockets of woodland.

Access
2.4 Vehicular access from the highway to the veterinary practice and site of the 

proposed incinerator is via a recently created track that was approved by Stroud 
District Council on the 27th January 2015 under application S.14/2700/FUL.

Constraints
2.5 The following observations have been made in respect of natural and historic 

designations within the local area:

Page 115



4

- Located within Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty
- There are no listed buildings or Scheduled Ancient Monuments in the 

vicinity
- Frith Wood is located approx. 308m to the east and is the nearest Key 

Wildlife Site
- Juniper Hill is located approx. 1.36km to the north-east and is the 

closest Site of Special Scientific Interest
- Not in floodplain
- Bridleway MBL76 intersects the vehicular access track that links the 

veterinary practice to the highway. There are no other Public Rights of 
Way within the immediate vicinity.

Topography of the area
2.6 At approximately 207 metres above Ordnance Survey Datum the site of the 

proposed incinerator occupies one of the high points within an undulating 
landscape.

3.0 THE PROPOSAL

3.1 Change of use of agricultural building to Use Class B2 and installation of 
proposed incinerator for the disposal of equine carcasses.

3.2 It is proposed that the incinerator would be housed in one of the buildings at 
Fourways Farm that had previously been used for the storage of straw, animal 
feeds and farm machinery.  This previously open-fronted shed has been clad in 
profile sheeting and doors fitted. The incinerator would occupy one bay (4.4m x 
7.4m) of the former hay barn, with the adjacent bay to be used as a wash-down 
area and a third bay for parking the vehicle and trailer used for carcase 
collection.

Pre-application
3.3 It should be noted that the proposed development was not the subject of pre-

application discussions with officers at Gloucestershire County Council.

Need for the development
3.4 The applicants are the owners of a small veterinary practice (Waterlane Equine 

Vets) dedicated to looking after horses, ponies and donkeys in Gloucestershire. 
The applicants are of the opinion that there is an identifiable need for an equine 
incinerator that provides for prompt, dignified and affordable cremation of horses 
at the end of their lives without prolonged storage or bulk transport to remote 
facilities.

3.5 Within the applicants’ supporting statement it states that on a national basis the 
economic value of the equestrian sector stands at £4.3 billion and reflects 19 
million consumers. There are an estimated 944,000 horses in the UK, 2.7 million 
riders and 446,000 horse-owning households. While there is no specific data on 

Page 116



5

Gloucestershire, the Facebook group Gloucestershire Horse Riders has 21,261 
members.

Environmental Impact Assessment – Screening
3.6. The appropriate guidance for the consideration of a Screening Opinion can be 

found within the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017 and the accompanying guidance contained 
within the National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG). These documents set out 
the formal legislation against which Screening Opinions must be considered as 
well as the various thresholds for determining the need for EIA.

3.7 The development proposal falls within Schedule 2, Part 11(b)(i)(The disposal is 
by incineration) of The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017.

3.8 No Environmental Statement was submitted with the application. Under 
Regulation 8 of the EIA Regulations 2017 the Waste Planning Authority (WPA) 
undertook an EIA consultation with Stroud District Council; County Highways 
Development Management; the WPA’s technical acoustic advisor; the WPA’s air 
quality advisor and the County Council’s Principal Ecologist between the 
15.08.2017 and 29.08.2017.

3.9 It should be noted that since the publication of the updated Environment Agency 
SHWG area Consultation Filter in June 2016, the category for consulting the 
Environment Agency (EA) on screening opinions has been omitted. Therefore, 
the EA was not consulted for the purpose of the EIA screening as the EA no 
longer provide comment on such matters.  

3.10 Paragraph 58 of the NPPG relates to a table which lists indicative criteria and 
thresholds and key issues to consider to help determine whether significant 
effects are likely for schemes falling under Schedule 2 of the EIA Regulations. 

3.11 Based upon the comments received from the WPA’s technical advisors, the 
proposal is not considered to have a significant environmental impact in terms of 
its size, treatment process, pollution and nuisance potential, topography, 
proximity of dwellings and the potential impact of traffic movements and 
landscape character of the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty to 
require an Environmental Impact Assessment to be submitted.

3.12 Whilst the proposal referred to above falls within the scope of Schedule 2, having 
regard to the consultation responses, it would not, in the opinion of this Authority, 
be likely that the scheme would have a significant effect on the environment in 
terms of the requirement for an EIA.  The proposal as detailed in the submission 
is not in this instance considered to be so significant as to warrant the production 
of an EIA. An Environmental Statement was therefore not requested.

Page 117



6

4.0 PLANNING HISTORY

4.1 The County Council have no records of any previous county matter applications 
at Fourways Farm. The development to which this application relates is a county 
matter by virtue of the incinerator being used for the disposal of equine 
carcasses and not as an ancillary agricultural activity.

4.2. Stroud District Council record the following planning history on the site:

- Ref. No: S.17/1416/FUL - Change of use of existing agricultural building to 
veterinary office, which was approved on the 8th September 2017.

- Ref. No: S.17/1418/FUL - Fourways Farm housing of an animal 
incinerator, which was withdrawn on the 25th July 2017.

- Ref. No: S.16/2181/FUL - Erection of agricultural building, which was 
approved on the 6th December 2016.

- Ref. No: S.14/2700/FUL - Demolition of existing farm building and 
construction of new farm building. New vehicular access and track 
(Revised Plan Rcvd. 15.01.2015), which was approved on the 27th 
January 2015.

5.0 PLANNING POLICY

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

5.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), published on the 27th March 
2012, constitutes national policy for Local Planning Authorities and is a material 
consideration in determining the application.  In assessing and determining 
planning proposals, Planning Authorities should apply the presumption in favour 
of sustainable development, which is the main focus of the NPPF in relation to 
both the plan-making and decision making process. However, the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development does not apply where development requires 
an appropriate assessment under the Conservation of Birds Directive and the 
Habitats Directive.

5.2 The NPPF does not contain specific waste policies as these are published in the 
National Planning Policy for Waste (Oct 2014) as part of the National Waste 
Management Plan for England and decisions on waste applications should have 
regard to policies in the NPPF so far as they are relevant.

5.3 The following chapters within the NPPF are most relevant to the application.

Page 118



7

Chapter 1: Building a strong, competitive economy

5.4 Paragraph 19 of the NPPF states that ‘the Government is committed to ensuring 
that the planning system does everything it can to support sustainable economic 
growth’ and that ‘planning should operate to encourage and not act as an 
impediment to sustainable growth. Therefore significant weight should be placed 
on the need to support economic growth through the planning system.’

Chapter 7: Requiring Good Design 

5.5 The opening paragraph in Chapter 7 sets out the merits of good development 
design and states: 

“The Government attaches great importance to the design of the built 
environment.  Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is 
indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to making places 
better for people”.

Chapter 11- Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

5.6 The initial paragraph in Chapter 11 sets out the broad aims of policy relating to 
the natural environment and states: 

“The planning system should contribute to and enhance the natural and local 
environment by: 

- protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, geological conservation 
interests and soils;

- recognising the wider benefits of ecosystem services;

- minimising impacts on biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity 
where possible, contributing to the Government’s commitment to halt the 
loss in biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological networks 
that are more resilient to current and future pressures;

- preventing both new and existing development from contributing to or 
being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by 
unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability; 
and

- remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated 
and unstable land, where appropriate.”

5.7 The overall objective of government policy on waste is to protect human health 
and the environment by producing less waste and using it as a resource 
wherever possible. The hierarchical approach to waste management is 

Page 119



8

reinforced as a means of achieving more sustainable waste management and of 
breaking the link between economic growth and the environmental impact of 
waste.

National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) (adopted October 2014)

5.8 In discharging its responsibilities the WPA has had regard to the policies within 
the NPPW during its consideration of the merits of the proposal to change the 
use of the former hay barn from agricultural building to Use Class B2 and 
installation of proposed incinerator for the disposal of equine carcasses.

5.9 By virtue of the nature of the incinerator, its location and proximity to residential 
and commercial properties and the nearest sensitive wildlife designations the 
WPA has had particular regard for Locational Criteria c, d, g and h in Appendix B 
of the NPPW.

Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy 2012 (WCS) (Adopted November 
2012)

5.10 Under Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004,
planning applications should be determined in accordance with the Development 
Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan 
relevant to this planning application will be the Gloucestershire Waste Core 
Strategy (adopted Nov 2012); Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan (adopted Oct 
2004) and the Stroud District Local Plan (adopted November 2015).  

5.11 Gloucestershire’s Waste Core Strategy (WCS) was adopted 21st November 
2012 and forms a central plank of the Development Plan relevant to waste 
development proposals, providing a planning framework for waste management 
across the county of Gloucestershire in the period 2012 - 2027. It identifies a 
vision, objectives and strategy relevant to Gloucestershire and also identified 
strategic sites for waste management.

5.12 The following policies from the WCS are considered to be most relevant to the 
proposal.

WCS1- Presumption in favour of sustainable development         
WCS10 - Cumulative Impact
WCS14 - Landscape
WCS17 – Design

Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan (Saved Policies)

5.13 The following saved policies are relevant to the proposed development and 
considered to be NPPF compliant:

Page 120



9

Saved Policies
Policy 33 – Water Resources (Pollution Control)
Policy 37 – Proximity to Other Land Uses 
Policy 38 – Hours of Operation

Stroud District Local Plan (adopted Nov 2015)

5.14 In determining the proposed development Stroud District Council asked that the 
‘determining Authorities’ consider the following Local Plan policies:

Core Policies
Policy CP1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy CP3: Settlement hierarchy
Policy CP14: High quality sustainable development
Policy CP15: A quality living and working countryside

Delivery Policy
Policy EI4: Development on existing employment sites in the countryside
Policy ES1: Sustainable construction and design
Policy ES3: Maintaining quality of life within our environmental limits
Policy ES6: Providing for biodiversity and geodiversity
Policy ES7: Landscape character
Policy ES9: Equestrian development

The wording of each policy listed within paragraphs 5.12 to 5.14 have been 
reproduced in full as Appendix 1.

5.15 Having reviewed the policies suggested by Stroud District Council, it is the 
opinion of the WPA that the list of policies set out in paragraph 5.14 above are 
applicable in whole or in part to the development to which this application relates.

5.16 There is no adopted or emerging Neighbourhood Plan for the area in which the 
application site is located.

5.17 Consideration of Development Plan policies is not a legalistic forensic exercise. 
Often policies will pull in different directions. Decision makers need to consider 
whether the proposal broadly accords with those policies as confirmed in the 
case of R. on the application of Laura Cummins and London Borough of 
Camden, SSETR and Barrett Homes Limited [2001] in which Ouseley J. cited R. 
v Rochdale MBC ex parte Milne [2000]. As Sullivan J. said in the Milne case:

“It is not at all unusual for development plan policies to pull in different directions. 
A proposed development may be in accord with development plan policies 
which, for example, encourage development for employment purposes, and yet 
be contrary to policies which seek to protect open countryside. In such cases 
there may be no clear cut answer to the question: “is this proposal in accordance 
with the plan?”

Page 121



10

The local authority has to make a judgement bearing in mind such factors as the 
importance of the policies which complied with or infringed, and the extent of 
compliance or breach.”

5.18 Citing City of Edinburgh Council v. Secretary of State for Scotland [1997]
Sullivan J. went on to say that:

“I regard it as untenable to say that if there is a breach of any one policy in a 
development plan, a proposed development cannot be said to be “in accordance 
with the plan”. Given the numerous conflicting interests that development plans 
seek to reconcile: the needs for more housing, more employment, more leisure 
and recreational facilities, for improved transport facilities, the protection of listed 
buildings and attractive landscapes et cetera, it would be difficult to find any 
project of any significance that was wholly in accord with every relevant policy in 
the development plan. Numerous applications would have to be referred to the 
Secretary of State as departures from the development plan because one or a 
few minor policies were infringed, even though the proposal was in accordance 
with the overall thrust of development plan policies. For the purposes of section 
54A it is enough that the proposal accords with the development plan when 
considered as a whole. It does not have to accord with each and every policy 
therein.”

5.19 More recently, in Dignity Funerals Ltd v Breckland District Council [2017] EWHC 
1492 (Admin) Mr Justice Holgate rejected the claimant’s argument that because 
the council had found that the proposal conflicted with certain policies, and only 
accorded with others, it was legally impossible for it to conclude that the scheme 
accorded with the development plan as a whole, unless it identified compliance 
with one or more policies providing positive support for the scheme, 
finding that:

“Conflict with one particular policy may be treated as having an adverse impact 
and yet of relatively little weight. At the same time, the decision-maker may 
consider that compliance with other policies designed to secure that 
development in general takes place without causing significant harm to a range 
of environmental factors, does involve a greater degree of compliance with the 
development plan than the non-compliance. The decision-maker is entitled 
to regard compliance with those policy considerations (even in the sense of 
simply avoiding harm) as having a greater priority or importance than the 
noncompliance with a policy designed to protect one other aspect, such as the 
landscape.”

6.0 PUBLICITY

6.1 The publicity that was undertaken upon validation of the application included:

Page 122



11

- Six site notices displayed and site visit conducted on 13.09.2017 (site visit 
conducted in the presence of the applicant and planning agent).

- Newspaper advertisement taken out on 13.09.2017. Expiry date for 
representation was the 04.10.2017.

- Seventeen neighbour notification letters were sent out 07.09.2017. Expiry 
date for representations was the 05.10.2017.

6.2 A change in the description of development to include a change of use of the 
former hay barn from agricultural use to Use Class B2 and installation of 
proposed equine incinerator resulted in the following additional publicity:

- On the 17.10.2017 six replacement site notices dated 18.10.2017 were 
displayed in the same locations as those originally displayed, the expiry 
date for representations was the 08.11.2017.

- On the 18.10.2017 a second newspaper advertisement was taken out. 
The expiry date for representations was the 08.11.2017.

- On the 16.10.2017 two hundred and twenty seven notification letters were 
sent out to neighbours and contributors. Expiry date for representations 
was the 13.11.2017.

7.0 REPRESENTATIONS

7.1 Of the 225 public representations received at the time of writing this report, there 
are 120 objections and 105 in support of the proposal.

7.2 The grounds for objection raised by those contributors who object to the proposal 
are set out below:

- Noise generated by the incinerator;
- Adverse impact upon the character and setting of the Cotswolds Area of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty;
- Odour from the carcasses in transit and whilst loading the incinerator.
- ‘The incinerator at Lyppiatt's emissions can be smelled by the residents at 

Lyppiatt Manor and other houses in that lane.’
- Fumes from the incineration process that would result in ‘people with 

asthma or breathing difficulties’ being ‘adversely affected’;
- Weather inversion events and the perceived potential adverse impact 

upon human health;
- Industrial process (Use class B2) that is not in keeping with the rural 

economy and open to expansion. ‘Farms are not industrial they are 
agricultural’. ‘A precedent in increased commercial enterprise should not 
be set’;

- Highway safety: perception that the country lanes are unsuitable for the 
type of additional vehicle movements proposed for the delivery of diesel 

Page 123



12

used by the incinerator and for transporting equine carcasses;
- Farm diversification away from traditional agriculture;
- Catchment area for veterinary practice too large and provides services 

outside the local area;
- Other facilities for the disposal of equines already exists;
- Inappropriate activity in a residential area;
- Incinerator would be ‘an eyesore and produce upsetting images of dead 

horses being transported into the site.’;
- Adverse impact on tourism, ‘causing financial hardship’ for local 

businesses.

7.3 Those contributors who support the proposal raised the following points:

- Traffic would be minimal;
- Proposal is in the ‘heart of equine country’;
- Previous owner of Fourways Farm bred pigs, which involved ‘large 

livestock and feed lorries trundling up the track, pigs squealing day and 
night, and the pungent smell of manure. It was certainly not pleasant 
around the farmyard and bridle path.’

- ‘The use of an on-site incinerator with afterburner represents best 
available technique for animal remains disposal.’

- Many of the ‘traditional routes’ for disposing of fallen stock locally are 
‘no longer available’, ‘making disposal a costly exercise often with dead 
animals travelling long distances in unsuitable vehicles.’

- Proposal would ‘enable a swift and safe removal of dead horses and 
ponies.’

- ‘Not enough facilities like this in the area.’
- Proposed facility would be housed in an existing building.

7.4 In assessing the proposal due regard has been given to local residents’ 
comments as material planning considerations. Nevertheless, I am also mindful 
that decisions should not be made solely on the basis of the number of 
representations, whether they are for or against a proposal. The Localism Act 
has not changed this, nor has it changed the advice that local opposition or 
support for a proposal is not in itself a ground for refusing or granting planning 
permission unless it is founded on valid planning reasons.

8.0 CONSULTATIONS

8.1 On the 07.09.2017 notification letters were issued to the following consultees: 
Stroud District Council; Bisley with Lypiatt Parish Council; Local Member (Cllr 
Keith Rippington); County Highways; Atkins (technical advisor on noise and air 
quality); County Council’s Principal Ecologist; Environment Agency; Natural 
England; Severn Trent Water; County Public Health; Cotswold Conservation 
Board and Public Health England. Consultation expired on the 28.09.2017.

Page 124



13

8.2 Number of consultees who object (1): Bisley-With-Lypiatt Parish Council. 
Reasons for objecting are as follows:

1. Increase in transport on the country lanes.
2. Insufficient local carcases arising in longer journeys to transport the carcases.
3. Not suitable for residential area.
4. Concerns regarding pollution, smell and noise.  
5. Industrial facility not in line with Local Plan.

8.3 Consultees with no objection (10): Stroud District Council; County Highways; 
Principal Acoustic Advisor; Principal Air Quality Advisor; Principal Ecologist; 
Environment Agency; Natural England; Severn Trent Water; Cotswolds 
Conservation Board; Public Health England.

8.4 Consultees who did not respond (1):  County Public Health.

8.5 Following the change in description of development the consultees listed above 
were re-consulted on the 12.10.2017. The expiry date for representations was 
the 26.10.2017.

8.6 This planning application has been brought to Planning Committee for a decision 
as the local member requested that the concerns of local residents needed to be 
considered in detail.

8.7 Consultee comments have been reproduced in full as Appendix 2.

9.0 PLANNING OBSERVATIONS.

9.1 Taking the above matters into account it is considered that the main issues 
raised by the proposal are:
- The principle of development and whether it accords with the 

Development Plan, and;
- whether the development would be sustainable, having regard to the 3

dimensions of sustainability set out in the Framework: economic, social 
and environmental, in particular with regard to:

1. The economic role:
- Waterlane Equine Vets;
- catchment area;
- throughput.

2. The social role:
- residential amenity: hours of operation; noise.

Page 125



14

3. The environmental role:
- visual impact on Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural 

Beauty;
- drainage and protection of groundwater;
- biodiversity and protested species;
- proposed mode of transport;
- proposed vehicular access routes;
- air quality and emissions;
- weather inversion;
- proposed control of odour and pests related to reception and 

storage of carcasses;
- environmental regulation
- ashes
- drainage

Other matters:
- human rights issues;
- public sector equality duty.

These issues will now each be considered in turn.

1. The economic role
Waterlane Equine Vets

9.2 ‘Horses and related activities make a vital contribution to rural life, supporting 
many allied businesses and providing much needed employment. On a national 
basis the economic value of the equestrian sector stands at £4.3 billion and 
reflects 19 million consumers. There are an estimated 944,000 horses in the UK, 
2.7 million riders and 446,000 horse-owning households.’

9.3 ‘Waterlane Equine Vets is an ambulatory equine practice looking after horses, 
ponies and donkeys throughout Gloucestershire, from Thornbury in the south to 
Winchcombe in the north, Cinderford in the west to Lechlade in the east. It was 
founded by [the applicants] in April 2013 and now serves over 2,500 clients and 
employs two full-time and one part-time veterinary surgeon as well as a practice 
manager and part-time office administrator. In an era when there has been 
amalgamation of equine veterinary practices (e.g. Willesley and Bushy to form 
B&W Equine Vets, Woodlands Equine Vets and Dragon Equine Vets to form 
Cheltenham Equine Vets), as well as sale of practices to large corporate bodies 
such as CVS and IVC, Waterlane Equine Vets offer a personal but highly 
professional service and continue to be fully independent of corporate influence.’ 
[ applicants’ supporting statement ]

Catchment Area
9.4 The ‘catchment area’ for the equine veterinary practice is shown on the 

applicant’s submitted map (10.11.2017) to have a radius of 20 miles from 
Fourways Farm.  As stated in paragraph 1.8 on page 3 of the applicant’s 

Page 126



15

additional amended supporting statement received 19.12.2017, ‘the only equine 
incinerator in Gloucestershire is operated by Equine & Pet Services at Fosse 
Cross, Chedworth’, which offers an ‘ashes back’ service.

9.5 Waterlane Equine Vets may, on occasion, visit horses outside this area for 
specific purposes (e.g. pre-purchase examinations, lameness investigation or 
treatment) but does not provide primary veterinary services in these areas. Thus, 
for the purposes of equine carcass collection, the maximum radius from 
Fourways Farm would be 20 miles.

Throughput
9.6 The maximum burn rate of the incinerator would be <50kg per hour, which is the  

maximum burn rate sought by the Environmental Protection Manager at Stroud 
District Council in their representation dated 8th September 2017. Planning 
conditions would restrict the use of the incinerator for the cremation of equine 
carcasses only. The incinerator can only cremate one adult equine carcass at a 
time. Therefore, the maximum number of adult carcasses that can be cremated 
in a 24hr period is two. A lack of a time restriction on the hours of operation of 
the proposed incinerator would not result in an increase in throughput.

2. The social role
Residential Amenity
Hours of operation

9.7 The applicant is seeking a 24/7 operation on the grounds that there is a desire 
on the part of the applicant ‘to dispose of carcasses in a timely manner without 
unnecessary delay or storage.’

9.8 Within the applicant’s supporting email dated 13.11.2017 they provide an 
example of a situation whereby the applicant had need to euthanase a horse late 
on Good Friday and was unable to arrange its cremation until the following 
Tuesday because of it being the Easter bank holiday weekend.  The applicant 
states that ‘this caused the owners some distress and led to unnecessary and 
potential hazardous carcass deterioration at the owner's premises’.  It is such 
situations that the applicant’s business is ‘endeavouring to avoid’.

9.9 The applicant contends that to restrict operational hours would go against the 
applicant’s business pledge to dispose of horses locally and without delay and 
would necessitate storage of carcasses, which would in turn require refrigeration 
facilities that would generate additional noise and potential issues associated 
with carcass deterioration, odour and pests.

9.10 ‘In 2017 the practice euthanased and, or, arranged disposal of 64 horses. This is
equivalent to a weekly mean of 1.2 with a range of 0 to 5 per week.’ Based upon 
the applicant’s own records the number of weekend cremations required would 
be 6 per annum and limited to those infrequent cases where there has been 
emergency euthanasia or sudden death of a horse.

Page 127



16

9.11 The applicant states that the majority of collections would be for pre-planned 
elective euthanasia in normal practice working hours (Mon to Fri, 08.30 to 17.00) 
and can be organised so that collection and the large part of incineration takes 
place during the day.

9.12 To establish context to the scale of the proposed operation the case officer 
asked the applicant for an approximation on the number of equines in 
Gloucestershire. The applicant responded as follows:

‘There are no specific or reliable data on numbers of horses, ponies and donkeys 
in Gloucestershire. Nationally there were an estimated 944,000 horses and 
446,000 horse-owning households in the UK in the most recent survey,1 but 
these figures were not broken down on a county-by-county basis.

An epidemiological study of the size and spatial distribution of the equine 
population within Great Britain, reported in 2012, indicated that the South West 
region had a median estimate of 61 horses per 10km2, with a range of 39-76 per 
10km2. Assuming Gloucestershire occupies an area of 3,150km2, this would 
suggest the county’s equine population is some between 12,285 and 23,940, 
with a median estimate of 19,215.

This number might appear a reasonable guesstimate given that the Facebook 
group Gloucestershire Horse Riders has 21,261 members even though it is 
uncertain how this equates to numbers of equines. Members of this group may 
not own or might have several horses, all owners of horses in Gloucestershire 
are not in the group, and some members may be from outwith the county.’

9.13 On the question of how many equines there are within a 20-mile radius 
(collection area) of Fourways Farm, the applicant stated that ‘this number is not 
known but may be approximated using the 2012 data on spatial distribution of 
horses within the UK. Assuming a median estimate of 61 horses/10km2 in the 
South West, this would predict 19,774 horses within a 20 mile (32.1km) radius 
(an area of 3241.6km2) of Fourways Farm, with a range of between 12,642 and 
24,636.’

Noise
9.14 The proposed development would introduce a noise generating activity within 

122 metres of the curtilage of the nearest residential property as a result of the 
activities associated with the incineration process and vehicle movements to and 
from the site. The noise generated by the proposed incinerator would be 65 
decibels measured at one metre distance. 

9.15 In considering noise impact, the Authority is mindful of the guidance in NPPG: 
Noise and related policy set out in paragraph 123 of the NPPF:

“123. Planning policies and decisions should aim to:

Page 128



17

- avoid noise from giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and 
quality of life as a result of new development

- mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts on health and 
quality of life arising from noise from new development, including through 
the use of conditions

- recognise that development will often create some noise and existing 
businesses wanting to develop in continuance of their business should not 
have unreasonable restrictions put on them because of changes in nearby 
land uses since they were established

- identify and protect areas of tranquillity which have remained relatively 
undisturbed by noise and are prized for their recreational and amenity 
value for this reason.”

9.16 The DEFRA Noise Policy Statement for England (NPSE) is referred to in the 
NPPF and this sets out that government policy is to “avoid significant adverse 
impacts on health and quality of life” due to noise.

9.17 At the request of the WPA’s acoustic advisor the applicant was asked to submit 
an environmental noise survey, which was undertaken on behalf of the applicant 
by Venta Acoustics. The survey determined the background noise levels at the 
surrounding noise sensitive premises as well as the sound levels generated by 
the proposed incinerator to be installed. These levels were then used to 
undertake an assessment of the likely impact with reference to the methodology 
in BS4142:2014 Methods for rating and assessing industrial and commercial 
sound, BS8233: 2014 Guidance on sound insulation and noise reduction for 
buildings and the World Health Organisation Guidelines for Community Noise 
(1999).

9.18 In their review of the submitted Noise Impact Assessment by Venta Acoustics 
the WPA’s technical advisor for Acoustics, Noise and Vibration advise that ‘no 
objection should be made to this application on the grounds of noise or vibration.’

9.19 The proposed site is located on a working farm in a rural area of Gloucestershire, 
surrounded by agricultural fields. To the north of the site at a distance of 122m is 
the curtilage of Highfield house, at 142m to the north-west is the curtilage of 
Spinneywell Farmhouse, with the curtilage of Fourways Farmhouse 158m to the 
north, which is owned and occupied by the applicant. These form the nearest 
and most affected noise sensitive receptors. Other dwellings to the south-west 
(259m) and east (403m) are at greater distances.

9.20 The prevailing wind blows from the north-north-east to the south-south-west.

9.21 Although it is likely that the incinerator will typically only be operated during the 
day, the application seeks unrestricted hours of operation to allow for night time 
operation on occasions as may be required. The assessment made by Venta 
Acoustics considered the proposal as a 24-hour operation.

Page 129



18

9.22 The guidance on internal noise levels provided within the WHO Guidelines for 
Community Noise (1999) is the same as that provided in BS8233, but it also 
provides advice regarding maximum noise levels inside during the night-time 
period.

For a good sleep, it is believed that indoor sound pressure levels should not 
exceed approximately 45dB LAmax more than 10-15 times a night (Vallet & 
Vernet 1991).

When assessed using BS4142, noise from most activities on site have been 
shown to have a low impact. The proposals are therefore not expected to have 
an adverse noise impact on the amenity of the surrounding areas.

9.23 Based upon the supporting information submitted in connection with noise, no 
objection has been raised by consultees such as the WPA’s technical acoustic 
advisor, the Environmental Protection Manager at Stroud District Council, 
Environment Agency, County Public Health and Public Health England, all of 
whom advise on matters pertaining to public health and environmental control.

3. The environmental role
Landscape and Visual Impact

9.24 Core Policy WCS14 (Landscape) of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Core 
Strategy is of particular relevance as it relates to waste proposals within or 
affecting the setting of Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 

9.25 Delivery Policy ES7 (Landscape Character) of the Stroud District Local Plan 
requires that development proposals are appropriate and integrate with the 
character of the landscape and conserve the important landscape 
characteristics.

9.26 Paragraph 17 of the Framework recognises the intrinsic character and beauty of 
the countryside as a core planning principle. Chapter 11 of the NPPF makes 
reference to the protection and enhancement of valued landscapes, the weight to 
be given to criteria based policies, such as landscape character designations, 
and the need to create, protect, enhance and manage green infrastructure.

9.27 Whilst the nature of the activities within the former hay barn would change, the 
size, character and appearance of the building would remain unaltered, except 
for the provision of a single 450mm diameter metal flue stack that would be 
painted in a suitable non-reflective finish and project 300mm above the ridgeline 
of the barn in which the proposed incinerator would be housed.

9.28 In assessing the visual impact of the proposal upon the character and setting of 
the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, no objection was raised by 
Stroud District Council, Cotswolds Conservation Board, Natural England or the 
WPA’s Principal Landscape Advisor. Whilst there are multiple references from 
objectors to the adverse visual impact the proposal would have upon the 

Page 130



19

Cotswolds AONB, Bisley-With-Lypiatt Parish Council made no reference to such 
concerns within their grounds of objection.

Protection of ground and surface waters from potential contaminants
9.29 Within the former hay barn the proposal makes provision for an impervious 

concrete wash down area adjacent to the proposed incinerator, the water from 
which would be caught in a drainage channel and sump from where it would be 
vaporised through the incinerator.

Biodiversity and protected species 
9.30 Relevant legislation includes the Wildlife and Countryside Act (1981) (as 

amended); the Countryside and Rights of Way Act, 2000; the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act (NERC, 2006); and the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations (2010) and the EU Habitats Directive. Local 
planning authorities have a legal obligation to consider whether European 
protected species are likely to be affected by a proposed development.

9.31 The NERC Act 2006 requires that “Every public authority must, in exercising its 
functions, have regard, so far as is consistent with the proper exercise of those 
functions, to the purpose of conserving biodiversity.” Further, The Conservation 
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010), 
Regulation 9(5) provides that “a competent authority, in exercising any of their 
functions, must have regard to the requirements of the Habitats Directive so far 
as they may be affected by the exercise of those functions”. The WPA is a 
competent authority for the purpose of these regulations and is exercising a 
function in deciding whether or not to grant a planning permission.

9.32 Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that the planning system should contribute to 
the natural and local environment by protecting and enhancing valued 
landscapes and minimising impacts on biodiversity. In addition, paragraph 118 of 
the Framework seeks to ensure that development proposals incorporate 
measures for biodiversity enhancement. Policy ES6 of the Stroud District Local 
Plan seeks to protect wider biodiversity and is consistent with the Framework in 
so far as the planning system is required to perform an environmental role in 
protecting and enhancing the natural environment.

9.33 The County Council’s Principal Ecologist is of the opinion that ‘there are unlikely 
to be significant effects on biodiversity arising from the proposal.’ The air quality 
advice from the WPA’s technical advisors also comes to the same conclusion.

9.34 ‘The development footprint is unlikely to have a significant impact on valued 
biodiversity as it is to be situated within existing buildings with little or no 
alterations. The building is unlikely to support protected species such as 
breeding birds or bats but a precautionary advice note to cover this is 
recommended.’

Page 131



20

Proposed Mode of Transport
9.35 Deceased horses would be collected using a standard Ifor Williams horsebox 

trailer (HB511; external length 4.65m, width 2.26m). At present it is planned that 
this will be towed by a Land Rover Discovery 4 (length 4.83m, width 2.20m).  
The trailer would be modified internally to include a winch as well as sealed 
floor/sump tank to meet relevant Animal and Plant Health Agency requirements.

Proposed Vehicular Access Route
9.36 For all vehicular routes, the collection vehicle will turn left out of Fourways Farm 

to the crossroads towards Oakridge. It would then turn right and proceed along 
Holloway Road to the junction with Cheltenham Road. This is the route taken by 
the school and public bus services to Oakridge and avoids narrower roads in and 
around Waterlane, Far Oakridge and Tunley.

9.37 For collections south of the practice, the vehicle would then turn left following 
Toadsmoor Hill down to the A419 and on towards Stroud or Cirencester.

9.38 For collections to the north, the vehicle would turn right and along the 
Cheltenham Road through Bisley.

9.39 At the request of the County Highway Authority a Traffic Survey was carried out 
to which no objection was raised on highway grounds, subject to certain planning 
conditions. Furthermore, Para.32 of the Framework states that “Development 
should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the residual 
cumulative impacts of development are severe”.

Air Quality and Emissions
9.40 Within the applicant’s additional supporting information they drew attention to

data on emissions contained within the study commissioned by the Department 
for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs that was published in 2002, together 
with modelling of this data undertaken by Peter Brett Associates LLP in 2014 on 
behalf of Anglian Fallen Stock Company.

1. ‘The TB-AB incinerator is a two-stage unit comprising primary loading 
and secondary after burner chambers. The after burner draws hot 
gases from the primary chamber and ensures a clean and compliant 
burn at temperatures of 850-1150oC. The incinerator is CE Certified to 
BS EN 746-2:1997 and emissions are below EC limits. The thermal 
capacity of 190 kW; domestic boilers have capacities of 20-70 kW. The 
incinerator therefore has the thermal input of several domestic boilers 
and this puts into context the perceived potential for this equipment to 
cause unacceptable levels of pollution.

2. Operation of the incinerator falls under the auspices of animal by 
products legislation and will be enforced by the Animal and Plant Health 
Agency (APHA). The Addfield TB-AB has Type Approval from the 
APHA: a key criterion for approval is that gas from the process is raised 

Page 132



21

in a controlled and homogeneous fashion, even under the most 
unfavourable conditions, to a temperature of 850oC. There is no 
requirement for an environmental permit. It is a condition of APHA that 
temperature measurement requirements are specified and will be 
subject to inspection.

3. Low capacity incinerators of this type are exempt from other 
environmental regulations, such as Waste Incineration Directive (now 
incorporated into Industrial Emissions Directive), or Environmental 
Permitting requirements. It can be inferred from this that they cannot 
cause significant harm to the environment. In addition there are no 
emissions limits set for these incinerators and no requirement to 
monitor emissions, and therefore manufacturers do not generally hold 
or provide emissions data. Emission limits are set for larger scale 
incinerators in Process Guidance Note 5/03(13) [of the Statutory 
guidance Animal carcase incineration: process guidance note 5/03]. 
Because of exemption from these regulations manufacturers do not 
generally hold or provide extensive emissions data and hence there is 
little to add to the details already provided by the applicants in respect 
of the Addfield TBAB machine.

4. There are some published data in respect of atmospheric emissions 
from small carcase incinerators, which was produced for the 
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs by AEA 
Technology Environment and published in 2002. This included eight 
incinerators with afterburners fuelled by propane (n=5), kerosene (n=1) 
and diesel (n=2). Mass concentrations of total particulate matter ranged 
from 27 to 749 mg.m3 and were below the limit set for of larger scale 
incinerators (100 mg.m3) for five of the incinerators (27, 36, 58, 68 and 
90 mg.m3) and marginally in excess (106 mg.m3) in one other. It should 
be noted that it is now more than 15 years since this study was 
published and it clearly relates to incinerators that were prevalent at 
that time and does not take into account advances in combustion 
technology in the intervening period.

5. Peter Brett Associates LLP assessed the potential impact of the 
Masterburn 750 incinerator, which was the subject of the planning 
application by Anglian Fallen Stock Company and also has Type 
Approval from the APHA. The temperature (950oC) and residence time 
(2 sec) are similar to the Addfield TB-AB and meet the requirements of 
APHA regulations. Annual average concentrations of emissions were 
calculated on the basis of continual, year round operation (equating to 
438 tonnes) and represented a ‘worst case scenario’. Their calculations 
indicated that predicted short-term concentrations of hydrogen chloride 
and carbon monoxide are below levels that would be regarded as 
significant within Environment Agency H1 guidance. The data also 
predicted there would be no breaches of nitrogen dioxide and 

Page 133



22

particulate assessment levels. Their conclusion was that there was very 
little risk of harm to human health or the environment as a result
from emissions from the incinerator. These calculations were 
undertaken assuming an effective stack height of 0 m. It should also be 
borne in mind that these data relate to mass concentrations and that 
the output from low capacity incinerators is substantially lower than 
from larger scale industrial machines.

6. There is the possibility of running the incinerator on LPG and this would
remove any concerns over diesel as the fuel. However, in the AEA 
Technology Environment study one of the propane- fuelled incinerators 
had total particulate matter emissions of 373 mg.m3.’

9.41 Within their consultation response (dated 22.08.2017) the WPA’s technical 
consultant on air quality advises that ‘the main pollutants associated with such 
combustion plant are oxides of nitrogen, formed during the high temperature 
combustion process, and particulate matter PM10. However, the PM10 
emissions are likely to be of negligible concentrations due to the high 
temperatures achieved.’ Furthermore, the WPA are advised that ‘the oxides of 
nitrogen emissions thus discharged from this 360 kW incinerator are not 
considered likely to have any significant air quality effects on the environment in 
terms of the subsequent formation of nitrogen dioxide and the potential effect on 
human health. This small facility is not likely to adversely affect the achievement 
of the air quality objectives for nitrogen dioxide concentrations at relevant 
receptor locations.’

9.42 On the issue of odour, the WPA’s technical advisor on air quality is of the opinion 
that ‘there should be no concerns with regards to odour due to the stack 
emissions.’ This is due to the incinerator having an after burner, where ‘the 
temperature and flue gas residence time is such that any potentially odorous 
organic compounds would be completely combusted.’ It is also noted by the 
WPA’s technical advisor that ‘the incinerator combustion air will be drawn in from 
within the building, thus providing further containment and elimination of potential 
odours from material handling operations.’

9.43 With regards to the potential for the proposal to have an impact upon Juniper Hill, 
Strawberry Banks and Daneway Banks Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), 
it is noted that Natural England are of the opinion that the ‘proposal falls into the 
category of “general combustion” and the rated thermal input is 360 kW which 
puts the proposal into the under 200MW category. Combustion up to 200MW can 
impact designated sites up to 500m from the pollution source and the closest 
SSSI (Juniper Hill) is 1.4km away. Therefore our assessment concludes that the 
proposal will not impact upon Juniper Hill, Strawberry Banks or Daneway Banks 
SSSI’s.’

9.44 In the absence of any evidence to the contrary and based upon the advice 
received from the WPA’s technical advisors, it is the considered opinion of the 

Page 134



23

WPA that the proposal accords with policy WCS10 (Cumulative Impact) of the 
adopted Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy, saved policy 37 (Proximity to 
Other Land Uses) of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan, Core Policy CP15 of 
the Stroud District Local Plan and the aims and interests that the Framework 
seeks to protect and promote.

Weather Inversion
9.45 Following receipt of a telephone call from a local resident who objected on the 

grounds that the installation of the equine incinerator would give rise to potential 
adverse effects upon human health on the “infrequent occasions” when a 
“weather inversion” occurs that could “push smoke from the flue stack down into 
the valley”, a precautionary approach was taken in the form of an additional 
consultation with the Environmental Protection Manager (EPM) at Stroud District 
Council. Whilst no concerns were raised, the EPM at Stroud District Council 
commented that ‘statutory nuisance provisions would still exist to deal with any 
additional smoke/smell issues’. 

9.46 Although the EPM at Stroud District Council is of the opinion that the proposal 
‘would fall outside any requirement for an Environmental Permit’, they do expect 
the operator of the proposed incinerator to produce a Management Plan that 
would cover the following matters:

- ‘Control of potential odour and noise impacts related to the reception and 
storage of carcasses at the facility;

- Control of pests at the facility i.e. rodents and insects;
- Undertaking operation of the incinerator to ensure that it meets the 

specified emissions criteria set out in the submitted TB-AB document;
- Monitoring for smoke and smell in the locality of the incinerator;
- Control over the disposal of waste from the incinerator and associated 

equipment;
- Undertaking the maintenance and servicing of the incinerator and 

associated equipment; and
- Undertaking the maintenance and servicing of the incinerator and 

associated equipment in line with the manufacturer's instructions.

As the objector notes, weather inversion would be expected to be infrequent and 
Atkins’ Memo response reinforces that emissions are not considered likely to 
produce significant air quality effects with a stack of suitable height discharging 
above the roof ridge line and unimpeded by cowls or caps.’

Proposed control of odour and pests related to reception and storage of 
carcasses

9.47 The applicant states that the on-site storage of carcases would be ‘short-term’, 
which the applicant maintains would result in negligible carcase deterioration and 
minimal odour and noise at the facility by virtue of the following:

Page 135



24

- All horses would be euthanased by injection. As such there is no leakage 
of blood that can be a source of malodour and attraction for pests.

- Leakage of fluids from the carcass during transport would be collected 
and contained within the sump tank fitted to the collection trailer. Any 
solids would be removed manually from the trailer prior to unloading the 
equine carcass. Both wastes would be incinerated along with the carcass.

- Carcases would be unloaded in the following manner: the collection trailer 
would be reversed into a bay adjacent to the incinerator and the horse's 
hind legs attached via a strap to a hook in the floor. The trailer would then 
be advanced so that the carcase slides out. The carcass would then be 
lifted directly into the incinerator using an agricultural loader. Noise would 
only relate to use of the vehicle that tows the collection trailer and an 
agricultural loader.

- There would be a maximum of two horses at the proposed facility at any 
one time and the applicants are willing for this to be a conditioned as part 
of any consent. 

- In the event that there is a carcase in the incinerator when another horse 
is collected, the latter will remain in the collection trailer inside the former 
hay barn until the incinerator is available to accept the carcass, which 
would be for a maximum period of 12 hours. During this time there would 
be ‘negligible deterioration of the carcase and it will not create malodour’.

- The applicants have considered the value of a refrigeration unit for storing 
any carcase awaiting cremation but feel that, given the limited period (<12 
hours) of storage, it is not necessary. This thinking also avoids any 
additional noise.

- As there would be no, or only short-term storage of carcases with minimal 
deterioration, the applicant is of the opinion that there would be no issue 
with pests at the facility. The incinerator itself is a closed unit and 
impervious to flies, birds and vermin.

- The collection trailer is impermeable to birds and vermin, and will be 
washed down immediately after use. It should not therefore represent an 
attractant to pests.

9.48 There are undoubtedly occasions when some horses may have been dead for a 
number of days prior to collection or have suffered catastrophic injuries with 
blood and exposure of body tissues, such that they are likely to be a source of 
malodour and attract pests. Such cases are extremely rare in the applicant's 
considerable veterinary experience of over 30 years. If, however, a horse is 
found in this state it would only be brought to the proposed facility at Fourways 
Farm when the incinerator is available for its immediate cremation.

Page 136



25

Environmental Regulation
9.49 Subject to a standard pollution prevention condition for a bunded compound 

around the proposed fuel storage tank, the Environment Agency has no 
objection to the proposed development. The activity proposed is exempt and not 
regulated by the Environment Agency under the Environmental Permitting 
Regulations. The WPA would control the activity through the imposition of 
planning conditions and post development checks as part of the WPA’s 
monitoring regime.

9.50 The EPM at Stroud District Council (SDC) has no objection to the proposal, 
subject to the operator submitting an Environmental Control Manual (ECM), the 
detail of which would require the prior written approval of the WPA following 
consultation with the EPM at SDC. A planning condition requiring the submission 
of an ECM can be found in section 10 of this report.

9.51 The EPM at SDC also advises that ‘statutory nuisance provisions would still exist 
to deal with any additional smoke/smell issues.’

9.52 In response to a question from the case officer regarding environmental 
regulatory controls, the applicant has provided the following information:

‘Low capacity carcase incinerators of the type proposed for Fourways Farm
are exempt from environmental regulations, such as Waste Incineration Directive
(now incorporated into Industrial Emissions Directive), or Environmental 
Permitting requirements. Instead they are controlled through animal by-products 
legislation and are inspected, approved and regulated by the Animal and Plant 
Health Agency (APHA), an executive agency of the Department for Environment, 
Food and Rural Affairs.

The incinerator at Fourways Farm (Addfield TB-AB) has Type Approval from the
APHA: a key criterion for approval is that gas from the process is raised in a
controlled and homogeneous fashion, even under the most unfavourable 
conditions, to a temperature of 850oC. It is a condition of APHA that temperature 
measurement requirements are specified and will be subject to inspection.

The site and incinerator at Fourways Farm have been visited by representatives 
of the APHA and, subject to formal application, they see no issue with licensing 
of the proposed facility.’

Ashes
9.53 Ash would be the only waste generated at the proposed facility, which represents 

1-3% of material combusted (5-15 kg per horse), and this would be transferred to 
a sealed bin or skip and collected by a waste management company. This 
material is classed as non-hazardous waste by the APHA and would be 
disposed to a permitted landfill site. The ash would not be disposed of on the 
farm.

Page 137



26

9.54 ‘Ashes will not be returned to owners and as such the facility will not have a 
cremulator for grinding bone fragments into a fine powder. Owners wishing to 
have ashes returned will be referred [by the operator] to the existing service 
offered by Equine & Pet Services at Fosse Cross, Chedworth.’

Drainage
9.55 Severn Trent Water are of the opinion that ‘the proposal has minimal impact on 

the public sewerage system’ and that they have ‘no objections to the proposals’ 
and ‘do not require a drainage condition to be applied.’

Other Matters
Human Rights Issues

9.56 As part of the consideration of this application, human rights issues have been 
considered in so far as they are relevant. It is considered that an appropriate 
balance between the interests and rights of the applicants (to enjoy their land 
subject only to reasonable and proportionate controls by a public authority in the 
public interest) and the interests and rights of those potentially affected by the 
proposal (to respect for private life and the home and peaceful enjoyment of their 
properties) has been achieved with conditions controlling the development where 
necessary.

Public Sector Equality Duty
9.57 In making this decision, the council has had due regard to the requirements of 

Section 149 of the Public Sector Equality Act 2010, which introduced a public 
sector equality duty that public bodies must, in the exercise of their functions, 
have due regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, 
victimisation; (b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and (c) foster 
good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it. Protected characteristics are: age, disability, 
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. In this regard, and in coming 
to a recommendation it is considered that there would be no adverse impact on 
protected persons arising from the proposed change of use of an agricultural 
building to Use Class B2 and the installation of a proposed incinerator for the 
disposal of equine carcasses.

Conclusions and summary reasons for grant of planning permission and 
relevant development plan policies and proposals.

9.58 The NPPF identifies a series of the components that are considered critical to 
achieving sustainable development. In the opinion of the WPA, the above 
assessment of the planning application proposals against the planning policy 
framework demonstrates that the application responds to, and is in accordance 
with, the requirements of the adopted planning policy within the development 
plan and material considerations relevant to the determination of the application.

Page 138



27

9.59 Whilst the assessment is not an exhaustive list of all policies that are potentially 
applicable to this site, it seeks to address how the proposals respond to the key 
planning criteria in the planning policy framework against which the planning 
application will be determined.

9.60 Where a development is found to be sustainable development, a presumption in 
favour applies. In accordance with policy WCS1 of the adopted Gloucestershire 
Waste Core Strategy and Core Policy CP1 of the Stroud District Local Plan the 
decision taker should grant planning permission for such developments, unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise or, where specific policies in the 
Development Plan or material considerations indicate development should 
be restricted.

9.61 Having regard for the policies in the Framework, it is the opinion of the WPA that 
the proposed development is sustainable when looking at its social, economic 
and environmental credentials. The adverse impacts of the development (taking 
into account the considerable importance and weight to be given to the less than 
substantial harm to the significance of the heritage assets) do not significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. Overall it is considered that the 
proposal constitutes an environmentally, socially and economically sustainable 
form of development that accords with the Framework and the Development 
Plan as a whole.

Positive and Proactive Statement

9.62 In determining this planning application, the WPA has worked with the applicant 
and planning agent in a positive and proactive manner based on seeking 
solutions to problems arising in relation to dealing with the planning application 
by liaising with consultees, respondents and the applicant/agent and discussing 
changes to the proposal where considered appropriate or necessary. This 
approach has been taken positively and proactively in accordance with the 
requirement in the NPPF, as set out in the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) (Amendment No.2) Order 
2012.

10 RECOMMENDATION

10.1 That planning permission be GRANTED for the summary reasons set out in 
paragraphs 9.58 – 9.61 and subject to the following conditions:

Conditions

Commencement
1. The development hereby approved shall commence not later than 3 years 

beginning with the date of this permission. 

Page 139



28

Reason: To comply with section 91 of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act, 
as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Scope of the Development
2. Unless otherwise required by conditions attached to this permission, the 

development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
submitted planning application 17/0084/FDMAJW its accompanying supporting 
statements; Noise Impact Assessment produced by Venta Acoustics dated 26 
September 2017; Incinerator Data Sheet for the TB-AB Animal Waste Incinerator 
produced by Addfield; data sheet for BUS.2700 bunded fuel tank along with 
approved drawings: 

-  Location Plan;
-  Site Plan: drawing No.TW/17/02D dated Oct 2017;
-  Visibility Splays: drawing No.TW/17/03.

Reason:  In order to define the scope of this permission in accordance with 
Policy WCS1, WCS10, WCS14 and WCS17 of the adopted Gloucestershire 
Waste Core Strategy, saved Policy 33, 37 and 38 of the Gloucestershire Waste 
Local Plan 2002-2012, along with policies CP1, CP3, CP14, CP15, EI4, ES1, 
ES3, ES6, ES7 and ES9 of the adopted Stroud District Local Plan (2015) and the 
aims and objectives that the National Planning Policy Framework seeks to 
protect and promote.

Nature and Volume of Waste
3. The incinerator hereby approved shall be restricted to the disposal of equine 

carcasses and no other waste type.

Reason:  In the interests of neighbouring amenity and in accordance with saved 
policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan, policy CP15 of the Stroud 
District Local Plan and the aims and interests that the National Planning Policy 
Framework seeks to protect and promote.

4. The total annual throughput of equine carcasses incinerated at the site shall not 
exceed 250 tonnes per annum and the incinerator capacity shall be no more 
than 50kg per hour.

Reason:  In the interests of neighbouring amenity and in accordance with saved 
policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan, policy CP15 of the Stroud 
District Local Plan and the aims and interests that the National Planning Policy 
Framework seeks to protect and promote.

Page 140



29

5. No more than one equine carcass shall be left outside the incinerator’s 
combustion chamber for more than 12 hours.

Reason: In the interests of neighbouring amenity and for the avoidance of 
attracting pests and vermin in pursuant to saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire 
Waste Local Plan, policy CP15 of the Stroud District Local Plan and the aims 
and interests that the National Planning Policy Framework seeks to protect and 
promote.

Noise
6. No development shall take place until an assessment to show that the rating 

level of any plant & equipment, as part of this development, will be below the 
background level at all times has been submitted to and been approved in writing 
by the Waste Planning Authority. 

The assessment must be carried out by a suitably qualified acoustic 
consultant/engineer and be in accordance with BS4142: 2014 Methods for rating 
and assessing industrial and commercial sound. 

Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the occupiers of nearby residential 
properties and the character of the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty, pursuant to saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan, 
policy CP15 of the Stroud District Local Plan and the aims and interests that the 
National Planning Policy Framework seeks to protect and promote.

Hours of Construction and Installation
7. No works to facilitate the construction and installation of the incinerator shall take 

place except between the hours of 8:00 and 18:00 hours Mondays to Fridays 
and 9:00 to 17:00 hours on Saturdays and not at all on Sundays, Bank Holidays 
or public holidays.

Reason: In the interests of neighbouring amenity and in accordance with saved 
policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan, policy CP15 of the Stroud 
District Local Plan and the aims and interests that the National Planning Policy 
Framework seeks to protect and promote.

Hours of Delivery
8. Activities related to the servicing of the business (unless it is an emergency and 

which shall be notified to the Waste Planning Authority as soon as practicable), 
and deliveries of equine carcasses or goods related to the operation of the site, 
deliveries shall be made to the site only between 07:30 and 18:00 hours 
Mondays to Fridays, 08:00 to 17:00 hours Saturdays and at no time on Sundays 
or Bank Holidays or public holidays.

Page 141



30

Reason:  In the interests of neighbouring amenity and in accordance with saved 
policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan, policy CP15 of the Stroud 
District Local Plan and the aims and interests that the National Planning Policy 
Framework seeks to protect and promote.

Handling of Equines
9. All handling of equines shall be carried out within the building edged in red as 

shown on drawing TW/17/02D dated Oct 2017.

Reason:  In the interests of safeguarding neighbouring amenity and in 
accordance with saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan, policy 
CP15 of the Stroud District Local Plan and the aims and interests that the 
National Planning Policy Framework seeks to protect and promote.

Materials
10. Prior to the installation of the external flue, details of these materials and finishes 

to be used shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning 
Authority. Thereafter the development shall be implemented in accordance with 
the approved details.

Reason:  To ensure the use of appropriate materials in the interest of visual 
amenity and the character and setting of the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty in accordance with policy WCS14 of the adopted Gloucestershire 
Waste Core Strategy and policy CP14 and ES7 of the Stroud District Local Plan 
(November 2015).

Permitted Development
11. Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 2, Class C; Part 7, Class I; 

Part 7, Class L; Part 14, Class O and Part 16, Class A of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order 
replacing, amending or re-enacting that order), no extension or alterations to the 
building or the external appearance of the flue stack hereby permitted whether or 
not for a temporary period shall take place on any part of the flue stack without 
planning approval from the Waste Planning Authority.

Reason: There is a need to maintain control over additional plant and machinery 
in the interests of the amenity of the area, nature conservation and in 
accordance with saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 
(adopted Oct 2004), policy WCS10 and WCS14 of Gloucestershire's adopted 
Waste Core Strategy (adopted Nov 2012), saved policy 37 of the 
Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and policy ES7 of the Stroud District Local 
Plan, along with the aims and objectives that the National Planning Policy 
Framework seeks to protect and promote.

Page 142



31

12. Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 3, Class I of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or 
any order replacing, amending or re-enacting that order), no other activity within 
Use Class B2 shall be carried out within the red line shown on approved drawing 
TW/17/02D other than that approved by this permission.

Reason: There is a need to maintain control over the introduction any additional 
plant and machinery or inappropriate activity in the interests of the amenity of the 
area, nature conservation and in accordance with saved policy 37 of the 
Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan (adopted Oct 2004), policy WCS10 and 
WCS14 of Gloucestershire's adopted Waste Core Strategy (adopted Nov 2012), 
saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and policy ES7 of the 
Stroud District Local Plan, along with the aims and objectives that the National 
Planning Policy Framework seeks to protect and promote.

Highways
13. The vehicular access hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the 

existing roadside frontage boundaries have been set back to provide visibility 
splays extending from a point 2.4m back along the centre of the access
measured from the public road (between Waterlane and Oakridge Lynch) 
carriageway edge (the X point) to a point on the nearer carriageway edge of
the public road 52m distant in both directions (the Y points). The area between 
those splays and the carriageway shall be reduced in level and thereafter 
maintained so as to provide clear visibility between 1.05m and 2.0m
at the X point and between 0.26m and 2.0m at the Y point above the adjacent
carriageway level.

Reason:- To reduce potential highway impact by ensuring that adequate
visibility is provided and maintained and to ensure that a safe, suitable and 
secure means of access for all people that minimises the conflict between traffic 
and cyclists and pedestrians is provided in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework paragraph 35.

14. The use hereby permitted shall only be associated and ancillary to the wider farm 
site and to the maximum number of movements stated within the supporting 
information.

Reason:- To reduce potential highway impact by ensuring that the site does not 
result in a significant increase in vehicle trips to ensure safe, suitable means of 
access for all people that minimises the conflict between traffic and cyclists, 
pedestrians and highway users in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework paragraph 32 and 35.

Page 143



32

Defunct Apparatus
15. The flue stack to the incinerator shall be removed within 2 months of the 

cessation of the incinerator or in the event that the flue stack becomes obsolete 
and/or no longer required for the purpose for which the flue stack was installed.

Reason: To protect the amenity of the local environment, and in accordance with 
Policy WCS10 and WCS14 of the Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy (adopted 
Nov 2012), saved Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan (adopted 
Oct 2004) and Policy CSP15 of the Stroud District Local Plan (2015) and the 
aims and objectives that the National Planning Policy Framework seeks to 
protect and promote.

External Lighting
16. No new external lighting shall be installed on the building edged in red as shown 

on drawing TW/17/02D dated Oct 2017 until an external lighting scheme has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. 

The details shall include: 
(a) the position, height and type of all external lighting; 
(b) the periods of day and night (throughout the year) when such external lighting 
is likely to be used. 

The approved scheme shall be implemented for the duration of the development 
and maintained thereafter in accordance with the scheme.

Reason: To safeguard the amenity of neighbouring residents in accordance with 
policy WCS10 and WCS14 of the Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy, saved 
policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan, along with policy  CP14 and 
ES7 of the adopted Stroud District Local Plan (November 2015).

Environmental Control Manual
17. Prior to the incinerator being brought into use, an Environmental Control Manual 

shall be submitted to and be approved in writing by the Waste Planning 
Authority, which shall set out the steps to be taken on an ongoing basis to:-

a) control the potential odour and noise impacts related to the reception and 
storage of carcasses at the facility;
b) control pests at the facility, i.e. rodents and insects;
c) undertake operation of the incinerator to ensure that it meets the specified 
expected emissions criteria set out in the submitted TB-AB document;
d) monitor for smoke and smell in the locality of the incinerator;
e) control the disposal of waste from the incinerator and associated equipment; 
and
f) undertake maintenance and servicing of the incinerator and associated 
equipment in line with the manufacturer's instructions.

Page 144



33

The approved details shall remain in force for the duration of the development 
hereby approved.

Reason:  To ensure that appropriate environmental control measures are in 
place in the interest of safeguarding the amenity of neighbouring residents and 
occupiers, along with the character and setting of the Cotswolds Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty in accordance with policy WCS10 of the adopted 
Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy, saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire 
Waste Local Plan, along with policy CP14 of the adopted Stroud District Local 
Plan (November 2015).

Pollution Control
18. Any facilities for the storage of oils, fuels or chemicals shall be sited on 

impervious bases and surrounded by impervious bund walls. The volume of the 
bunded compound shall be at least equivalent to the capacity of the tank plus 
10%. If there is multiple tankage, the compound shall be at least equivalent to 
the capacity of the largest tank, vessel or the combined capacity of 
interconnected tanks or vessels plus 10%. All filling points, associated pipework, 
vents, gauges and sight glasses must be located within the bund or have 
separate secondary containment. The drainage system of the bund shall be 
sealed with no discharge to any watercourse, land or underground strata. 
Associated pipework shall be located above ground and protected from 
accidental damage. All filling points and tank/vessels overflow pipe outlets shall 
be detailed to discharge downwards into the bund.

Reason:  To protect ground and surface waters (‘controlled waters’ as defined 
under the Water Resources Act 1991).

Advice Notes:
1. Prior to use of the incinerator, the applicant is advised to contact the 

Environment Agency to ensure that the correct waste exemptions to lawfully 
undertake the activity are in place.

2. This informative is given as a reminder of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended) which makes it an offence to kill, injure or take any wild bird, and to 
intentionally remove, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird while that nest 
is in use or being built. It is also an offence to take or destroy any wild bird eggs. 
Bats and their roosts are protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 
(as amended) and also the Conservation (Natural Habitats & c.) Regulations 
2010 (as amended). Bats and birds can sometimes be found in or on many 
buildings, even those that initially appear to be unsuitable.

3. The site is traversed by a public right of way and this permission does
not authorise additional use by motor vehicles, or obstruction, or diversion

Page 145



34

which would require separate approval by the Public Rights of Way (MBL76)
section of the County Council.

BACKGROUND PAPERS: 
Planning Application Forms and accompanying plans
Consultation Reponses
Letters of Representations

CONTACT OFFICER:
Case Officer – Marcus Sparrow Senior Planning Officer
Gloucester 01452 425652

Page 146



35

Appendix 1
Applicable Development Plan Policies

Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy 2012 (WCS)

Core Policy WCS1 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
When considering development proposals the Council will take a positive approach that 
reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the National 
Planning Policy Framework. It will always work proactively with applicants jointly to find 
solutions which mean that proposals can be approved wherever possible, and to secure 
development that improves the economic, social and environmental conditions in the 
area.

Planning applications that accord with the policies in the WCS (and, where relevant, 
with policies in neighbourhood plans) will be approved without delay, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Where there are no policies relevant to the application or relevant policies are out of 
date at the time of making the decision then the Council will grant permission unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise – taking into account whether:

- Any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the 
National Planning Policy Framework taken as a whole;
or

- Specific policies in that Framework indicate that development should be 
restricted.

Core Policy WCS10 – Cumulative Impact
In determining proposals for waste related development for new or enhanced waste 
management facilities the Council will have regard to the cumulative effects of previous 
and existing waste management facilities on local communities alongside the potential 
benefits of co-locating complimentary facilities together. Planning permission will be 
granted where the proposal would not have an unacceptable cumulative impact.

In considering the issue of cumulative impact, particular regard will be given to the 
following:

1. Environmental quality;
2. Social cohesion and inclusion; and
3. Economic potential.

Within these broad categories this will, subject to the scale and nature of the proposal, 
include an assessment of the following issues: noise, odour, traffic (including 
accessibility and sustainable transport considerations), dust, health, ecology and visual 
impacts.

Page 147



36

Core Policy WCS14 – Landscape
General Landscape
Proposals for waste development will be permitted where they do not have a significant 
adverse effect on the local landscape as identified in the Landscape Character 
Assessment* or unless the impact can be mitigated. Where significant adverse impacts 
cannot be fully mitigated, the social, environmental and economic benefits of the 
proposal must outweigh any harm arising from the impacts.

Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB)
Proposals for waste development within or affecting the setting of the Cotswolds, Wye 
Valley and Malvern Hills Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) will only be 
permitted where it can be demonstrated that:

- There is a lack of alternative sites not affecting the AONB to serve the market 
need; and

- The impact on the special qualities of the AONB as defined by the relevant 
management plan (including the landscape setting and recreational 
opportunities) can be satisfactorily mitigated; and

- The proposal complies with other relevant development plan policies.

In the case of major development within the AONB, a proven public interest must be 
demonstrated. Planning permission will only be granted in exceptional circumstances 
following the most rigorous examination and subject to the criteria above.

The County Council will continue to work in partnership with the respective
AONB Conservation Boards and/or Joint Advisory Committees to help deliver
the vision and objectives of the AONB Management Plans and Waste Core
Strategy (WCS).

Core Policy WCS17 – Design
Subject to compliance with other relevant development plan policies, planning 
permission will be granted for waste related development that achieves a high standard 
of design that is clearly robust and articulated through a Design and Access Statement.

Particular issues to address will include:

- How the proposal reflects, responds and is appropriate to its local environment 
and surroundings within Gloucestershire;

- The durability, adaptability and sustainability of the proposal including
the use of sustainable drainage to reduce the impact of surface water
run-off;

- How the proposal makes the most efficient use of the site; and
- The use of high quality architecture and landscaping.

Poor quality design which fails to reflect or contribute positively to the character and 
quality of the area in which the proposal is located will be rejected.

Page 148



37

Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan (Saved Policies)

Policy 33 – Water Resources Pollution Control
Proposals for waste development will only be permitted where there would be no 
unacceptable risk of contamination to surface watercourses, bodies of water or 
groundwater resources. 

Policy 37 – Proximity to other land uses
Proposals for waste development will be determined taking into account such matters 
as the effect on the environment, occupants’ and users’ amenity and health, the 
countryside, the traditional landscape character of Gloucestershire, the local highway 
network, any hazardous installation or  substance and any adverse cumulative effect in 
combination with other development in the area. Where appropriate, suitable 
ameliorative measures shall be incorporated in the proposals to mitigate, attenuate and 
control noise, dust, litter, odour, landfill gas, vermin, leachate and flue emissions. 

Policy 38 – Hours of Operation
The Waste Planning Authority will where appropriate impose a condition restricting 
hours of operation on waste management facilities to protect amenity. 

Stroud District Local Plan (adopted Nov 2015)

Core Policy CP1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development
When considering development proposals the Council will take a positive approach that 
reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the National 
Planning Policy Framework. It will always work proactively with applicants jointly to find 
solutions which mean that proposals can be approved wherever possible, and to secure 
development that improves the economic, social and environmental conditions in the 
area.

Planning applications that accord with the policies in this Local Plan (and, where 
relevant, with polices in neighbourhood plans) will be approved without delay, unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. Where there are no policies relevant to the 
application or relevant policies are out of date at the time of making the decision then 
the Council will grant permission unless material considerations indicate otherwise – 
taking into account whether:

1. Any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the National Planning 
Policy Framework taken as a whole; or

2. Specific policies in that Framework indicate that development should be restricted. 

Page 149



38

Core Policy CP3 – Settlement Hierarchy
Proposals for new development should be located in accordance with the District's 
settlement hierarchy. This will ensure that development reduces the need to travel and 
promotes sustainable communities based on the services and facilities that are 
available in each settlement. The use of previously developed land and buildings
will be encouraged.

Accessible Local Service Centres - First Tier
Cam and Dursley, Stonehouse, Stroud
These are the District’s main towns. They are the primary focus for growth and 
development to safeguard and enhance their strategic roles as employment and service 
centres. They will continue to provide significant levels of jobs and homes, together with 
supporting community facilities and infrastructure to meet their economic potential in the 
most sustainable way.

Local Service Centres – Second Tier
Berkeley, Frampton on Severn, Hunts Grove (anticipated)
Minchinhampton, Nailsworth, Wotton Under Edge
These market towns, large villages and planned urban extension have the ability to 
support sustainable patterns of living in the District because of their current levels of 
facilities, services and employment opportunities. They have the potential to provide for 
modest levels of jobs and homes in order to help sustain and, where necessary, 
enhance their services and facilities, promoting better levels of self containment and 
viable, sustainable communities.

Accessible Settlements with Limited Facilities – Third Tier
Amberley, Bisley, Brimscombe, Chalford, Coaley, Eastington, Hardwicke, 
Horsley, Kings Stanley, Kingswood, Leonard Stanley, Manor Village, Newtown / 
Sharpness, North Nibley, North Woodchester, Oakridge Lynch, Painswick, 
Slimbridge, Uley, Upton St. Leonards Whiteshill / Ruscombe, Whitminster.

These villages possess a limited level of facilities and services that, together with 
improved local employment, provide the best opportunities outside the Local Service 
Centres for greater self containment. They will provide for lesser levels of development 
in order to safeguard their role and to provide through any Neighbourhood Plans some 
opportunities for growth and to deliver affordable housing.

Accessible Settlements with Minimal Facilities – Fourth Tier
Box, Brookthorpe, Bussage, Cambridge, Eastcombe, France
Lynch, Middleyard, Newport, Nympsfield, Randwick, Selsley,
South Woodchester, Stinchcombe, Stone, Thrupp

Accessible Settlements with minimal facilities are defined as settlements with a very 
limited range of employment, services and facilities. Small villages have a low level of 
services and facilities and few employment opportunities. Development will be limited to 
that needed to help meet the housing needs of settlements and to improve employment 
opportunities, services and facilities. As such there is some limited scope for 

Page 150



39

development within these settlements, should this be required to meet specific needs 
identified by these communities in any Neighbourhood Plans.

Unclassified – Fifth Tier
Arlingham, Cranham, Haresfield, Hillesley, Longney, Saul, Sheepscombe,

These remaining settlements have a lack of basic facilities to meet day to day 
requirements. However, there could be scope for very limited development, should this 
be required to meet a specific need identified by these communities in any 
Neighbourhood Plans.

Core Policy CP14 – High Quality Sustainable Development
High quality development, which protects, conserves and enhances the built and 
natural environment, will be supported. Development will be supported where it 
achieves the following:

1. Sustainable construction techniques, including facilities for the recycling of water and 
waste, measures to minimise energy use and maximise renewable energy production

2. No unacceptable levels of air, noise, water, light or soil pollution or exposure to 
unacceptable risk from existing or potential sources of pollution. Improvements to soil 
and water quality will be sought through the remediation of land contamination, the 
provision of SuDS and the inclusion of measures to help waterbodies to meet good 
ecological status

3. Adequate water supply, foul drainage and sewage capacity to serve the development 
and satisfactory provision of other utilities, transport and community infrastructure

4. No increased risk of flooding on or off the site, and inclusion of measures to reduce 
the causes and impacts of flooding as a consequence of that development

5. An appropriate design and appearance, which is respectful of the surroundings, 
including the local topography, built environment and heritage

6. Re-use of previously developed land and/or the adaptation of existing buildings that 
make a positive contribution to the character of the site and surroundings, unless 
demonstrably unviable

7. No unacceptable adverse affect on the amenities of neighbouring occupants

8. Contribute to the retention and enhancement of important landscape & geological 
features, biodiversity interests (including trees, hedgerows and other natural features)

9. Contribute to a sense of place both in the buildings and spaces themselves and in 
the way in which they integrate with their surroundings including appropriate 
landscaping, biodiversity enhancement, open space and amenity space

Page 151



40

10. A design and layout that aims to assist crime prevention and community safety, 
without compromising other design principles

11. Efficiency in terms of land use, achieving higher development densities in locations 
that are more accessible by public transport and other non-car modes and where higher 
densities are compatible with the character of the area and the setting of the 
development

12. It is not prejudicial to the development of a larger area in a comprehensive manner

13. Safe, convenient and attractive accesses on foot and by cycle and suitable 
connections with existing footways, bridleway, cycleways, local facilities and public 
transport

14. It is at a location that is near to essential services and good transport links to 
services by means other than motor car.

Major development should contribute to the provision for allotments and/or community 
gardens where there is an identified need.

Development proposals will be required to demonstrate how they have responded to 
the above criteria through the submission of Design and Access Statements and 
relevant technical reports. It is important that the applicant provides clear and 
informative plans, elevations and street scenes and, where required, Masterplans, 
Development Briefs, Concept Statements and Design Codes to show how these criteria 
have been taken into account where necessary.

Core Policy CP15 – A Quality Living and Working Countryside
In order to protect the separate identity of settlements and the quality of the countryside 
(including its built and natural heritage), proposals outside identified settlement 
development limits will not be permitted except where these principles are complied 
with:

1. It is essential to the maintenance or enhancement of a sustainable farming or forestry 
enterprise within the District; and/or

2. It is essential to be located there in order to promote public enjoyment of the 
countryside and support the rural economy through employment, sport, leisure and 
tourism; and/or

3. It is a ‘rural exception site’, where development is appropriate, sustainable, affordable 
and meets an identified local need; and/or

4. It is demonstrated that the proposal is enabling development, required in order to 
maintain a heritage asset of acknowledged importance; and/or

Page 152



41

5. It is a replacement dwelling; and/or

6. It will involve essential community facilities.

Where development accords with any of the principles listed above, it will only be 
permitted in the countryside if:

i) it does not have an adverse impact on heritage assets and their setting;

ii) it does not lead to excessive encroachment or expansion of development away from 
the original buildings;

iii) in the case of proposals to re-use an existing building or buildings, these are 
appropriately located and capable and worthy of conversion. Any such conversion will 
involve a building that positively contributes to an established local character and sense 
of place. In the case of replacement buildings they must bring about environmental 
improvement; or

iv) in the case of extensions to buildings, it does not result in an inappropriate increase 
in the scale, form or footprint of the original building; or

v) in the case of replacement dwellings the proposal must bring about environmental 
improvements and not result in an inappropriate increase in the bulk, scale, form or 
footprint of the original building; or

vi) in the case of new buildings for essential community facilities, they cannot be 
accommodated within the identified settlement development limits or through the re-use 
or replacement of an existing building.

Delivery Policy EI4 – Development on existing employment sites in the 
countryside
On existing employment sites in the countryside, the extension of buildings and the 
provision of new buildings, including infilling between existing buildings, will be 
acceptable provided that:
1. The proposal facilitates the retention or growth of local employment opportunity

2. The proposal would not cause an unacceptable visual impact on the local character 
in terms of its siting, scale, materials or site coverage

3. There are no suitable alternative buildings or sites that can be used adjacent to the 
site or locality

4. The proposal can avoid harm to local amenities and adjoining land uses

Page 153



42

5. The proposal would not generate significant traffic movement and volume that would 
lead to unacceptable environmental impacts or detriment to road safety.

Proposals will be expected to include measures to secure environmental improvements 
such as landscaping, enhancing biodiversity and incorporating SuDS.

Delivery Policy ES1 – Sustainable Construction and Design
Sustainable design and construction will be integral to new development in Stroud 
District. All planning applications should include evidence that the matters below will be 
addressed:

1. Maximising energy efficiency and integrating the use of renewable and low carbon 
energy (i.e. in the form of an energy strategy)

2. Minimisation of waste and maximising the recycling of any waste generated during 
construction and in operation

3. Conserving water resources and minimising vulnerability to flooding

4. Efficiency in materials use, including the type, life cycle and source of materials to be 
used

5. Flexibility and adaptability, allowing future modification of use or layout, facilitating 
future refurbishment and retrofitting

6. Consideration of climate change adaptation

7. Applications for all development will need to be accompanied by a Stroud District 
Sustainable Construction Checklist.

All development will be built in accordance with the approved plans and the Sustainable 
Construction Checklist.

Delivery Policy ES3 – Maintaining Quality of Life within our Environmental Limits
Permission will not be granted to any development which would be likely to lead to, or 
result in an unacceptable level of:

1. Noise, general disturbance, smell, fumes, loss of daylight or sunlight, loss of privacy 
or an overbearing effect

2. Environmental pollution to water, land or air and an unacceptable risk to the quality 
and quantity of a water body or water bodies

3. Noise sensitive development in locations where it would be subject to unacceptable 
noise levels

Page 154



43

4. Increased risk of flooding on or off the site, and no inclusion of measures to reduce 
the causes and impacts of flooding

5. A detrimental impact on highway safety

6. An adverse effect on contaminated land where there is a risk to human health or the 
environment.

Delivery Policy ES6 – Providing for biodiversity and geodiversity
European Sites
Development will safeguard and protect all sites of European and Global importance, 
designated as Special Area of Conservation (SAC), Special Protection Area (SPA) and 
Ramsar sites. Development must not result in significant adverse effects on these 
internationally important nature conservation sites, either alone or in combination with 
other projects and plans. The Council will expect development proposals to 
demonstrate and contribute to appropriate mitigation and management measures to 
maintain the ecological integrity of the relevant European site(s).

With specific regard to recreational impacts, the Council will use core catchment zones 
that identify potential impact areas which extend beyond the relevant European site 
itself. Development proposals within such areas will take account of any relevant
published findings and recommendations. There will be further assessment work on the 
Severn Estuary SPA and SAC that shall include recreational pressure.

National Sites
Nationally important sites, including Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and 
National Nature Reserves (NNR), will be safeguarded from development, unless the 
benefits of the development can be demonstrated to outweigh the identified national 
importance of the nature conservation interest or scientific interest of the site.

Local Sites
Local sites, including Local Nature Reserves (LNR), Key Wildlife Sites (KWS) and 
Regionally Important Geological and Geomorphalogical Sites (RIGS) will be 
safeguarded from development, unless the benefits of the development outweigh the 
nature conservation or scientific interest of the site. Where development is considered 
necessary, adequate mitigation measures or, exceptionally, compensatory measures, 
will be required, with the aim of providing an overall improvement in local
biodiversity and/or geodiversity. Opportunities will be sought to access and enhance the 
value of such sites for educational purposes, particularly in relation to promoting public 
awareness as well as appreciation of their historic and aesthetic value.

New Development and the Natural Environment
All new development will be required to conserve and enhance the natural environment, 
including all sites of biodiversity or geodiversity value (whether or not they have 
statutory protection) and all legally protected or priority habitats and species. The 

Page 155



44

Council will support development that enhances existing sites and features of nature 
conservation value (including wildlife corridors and geological exposures) that 
contribute to the priorities established through the Local Nature Partnership. 
Consideration of the ecological networks in the District that may be affected by 
development should take account of the Gloucestershire Nature Map, river systems and 
any locally agreed Nature Improvement Areas, which represent priority places for the 
conservation and enhancement of the natural environment. In this respect, all 
developments should also enable and not reduce species’ ability to move through the 
environment in response to predicted climate change, and to prevent isolation of
significant populations of species.

The District will have a number of undesignated sites, which may nevertheless have 
rare species or valuable habitats. Where a site is indicated to have such an interest, the 
applicant should observe the precautionary principle and the Council will seek to ensure 
that the intrinsic value of the site for biodiversity and any community interest
is enhanced or, at least, maintained. Where an impact cannot be avoided or mitigated 
(including post-development management and monitoring), compensatory measures 
will be sought. The Council may, in exceptional circumstances, allow for biodiversity 
offsets, to prevent loss of biodiversity at the District level.

Protected Species
Development proposals that would adversely affect European Protected Species (EPS) 
or Nationally Protected Species will not be supported, unless appropriate safeguarding 
measures can be provided (which may include brownfield or previously developed
land (PDL) that can support priority habitats and/or be of value to protected species).

Delivery Policy ES7 – Landscape Character
Within the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), or on land that may 
affect its setting, priority will be given to the conservation and enhancement of the 
natural and scenic beauty of the landscape whilst taking account of the biodiversity 
interest and the historic and cultural heritage. Major development will not be permitted 
unless it is demonstrated to be in the national interest and that there is a lack of 
alternative sustainable development sites.

In all locations development proposals should conserve or enhance the special features 
and diversity of the different landscape character types found within the District. Priority 
will be given to the protection of the quality and diversity of the landscape character.
Development will only be permitted if all the following criteria are met:

1. The location, materials, scale and use are sympathetic and complement the 
landscape character; and

2. Natural features including trees, hedgerows and water features that contribute to the 
landscape character and setting of the development should be both retained and 
managed appropriately in the future.

Page 156



45

Opportunities for appropriate landscaping will be sought alongside all new 
development, such that landscape type key characteristics are strengthened.

The Stroud District Landscape Assessment will be used when determining applications 
for development within rural areas.

Delivery Policy ES9 – Equestrian development
The keeping of horses for leisure and recreational purposes or as part of commercially 
based equestrian activity shall be considered acceptable where development that, 
through its environmental impact, either enhances or does not diminish environmental 
quality of those rural areas in which it is to take place. The level of activity generated by 
a proposal will be taken into account.

Such development shall be integrally connected with wider land management and be 
development requiring a countryside location. In particular, a longer term landholding 
management and maintenance plan will be expected to accompany any equestrian
development proposal.

Any proposal for the conversion or change of use of existing equestrian establishments 
to a non-equestrian use will be discouraged, unless there is a strong case setting out 
why an exception should be made.

Page 157



46

Appendix 2
Consultee Comments

Comments received from those consultees consulted in connection with EIA 
Screening between the 15.08.2017 and 29.08.2017:

County Council’s Principal Ecologist (comments received 17.08.2017):
The ecological matters to consider are the footprint of the development and risks of 
pollution (from stored fuel, horse carcasses and ash to water/land plus from flue 
emissions to air). Pollution is mainly a matter for the Environment Agency to consider 
but we need to determine if the proposal could be likely to have significant effects on 
the environment before determining this planning application. The development 
footprint is unlikely to have a significant impact on valued biodiversity as it is to be 
situated within an existing building with little or no alterations required.

The definition that this is a low capacity incinerator by the applicant seems valid when 
looking at guidance which indicates that an animal carcass incinerator burning less than 
1 tonne per hour is considered a small one (Sector Guidance Note IPPC SG10 July 
2005, Defra). The proposed facility (looking at the data sheet) is not capable of burning 
more than 0.1t per hour. The incinerator type has a secondary 'after burner' chamber 
for hot gases and such design usually produces less emissions of concern. The 
submitted data sheet for the incinerator says that emissions from the stack for carbon, 
water, oxygen, nitrogen and smoke will be predicted to be well below EC limits. This is 
presumably near to or at the flue exit before dispersion to the air occurs. 

In considering small animal incinerators it is usual to consider dispersion to SSSIs and 
International Sites within 2 km of the proposed facility (Process guidance Note 5/03[13], 
July 2013, Defra). Within 2km of the proposed development the following SSSIs occur:

-  Juniper Hill SSSI (about 1.4km away to the north east)
-  Daneway Banks SSSI (about 1.6km away to the west south east)
-  Strawberry Fields SSSI (about 1.6km away to the south west)

This facility will produce considerably less than 20MW of output (no more than 1MW 
probably). Given the SSSIs being more than 0.5km away Natural England will not need 
to be consulted (Impact Risk Zone [IRZ] data as at July 2017).

Conclusion
There are unlikely to be significant effects on biodiversity arising from this proposal and 
therefore no need for an EIA to be requested under the Regulations for ecological 
reasons (alone). However we should defer to the specialist advice being sought from 
Atkins if that raises issues of adverse impact on ecology being likely which I may have 
missed.

Page 158



47

Technical advisor to Waste Planning Authority for Acoustics, Noise and Vibration 
(comments received 17.08.2017):
Thank you for your screening letter regarding the above application. In respect of noise 
matters, we have reviewed the application documents and would comment as follows:

-  The number of movements (2 per day with 4x4 & a specialised trailer) does not raise 
any noise concerns. It is assumed these vehicle movements would be during daytime 
only (and should be conditioned as such). 

-  The proposal is based on the horses having died or been euthanized before being 
brought to site. This obviously lowers the potential noise impact that might arise if 
horses were brought to site live and then euthanized. Again we would suggest this is 
conditioned.

-  No details are provided of noise from the incinerator itself. It is also started that the 
incinerator could work through the night. Because of this it would be prudent to request 
that a BS4142 assessment be provided by the applicant, detailing noise emissions from 
the proposed plant, including penalties as required for any attention attracting 
characteristics of the sound (tonality, hum, switching on and off etc), and comparing this 
to the existing background noise level at the closest noise sensitive receptors.

Beyond this, we do not believe a formal EIA under the regulations is required on noise 
grounds.

Additional comments from the Technical advisor to the Waste Planning Authority 
for Acoustics, Noise and Vibration (comments received 22.08.2017):
Dan Pope, our noise expert has reviewed this and comments as follows:

The planning agent's response only states 65 dB at 1m, it does not say whether that is 
a weighted dB(A) value, as it should be, or an unweighted dB value. Noise levels from 
the top of the external stack should also be provided. As it is that figure is not usable for 
a noise assessment. A BS4142 survey would require a correct, operational dB(A) noise 
level, including penalties if the source is also considered to be tonal, and this should be 
compared to the background noise level at the nearest NSR(s). For a source level of 65 
inside of a building it should not be too difficult to demonstrate that this will not exceed 
background noise levels at the NSRs.

I would still request that a BS4142 assessment be provided. 

I hope that clarifies but do contact me if you wish to discuss further.

Technical advisor to Waste Planning Authority on Air Quality (comments 
received 22.08.2017):
Atkins Limited have been asked to comment on the air quality implications of the above 
planning application, and whether it is considered that the proposed development would 

Page 159



48

be likely to have any significant air quality effects on the environment.  This will inform 
the County Council as to the need for an environmental statement to support the 
application.  

Proposed development
The application submitted by Dr T Watson & S Williams, of the veterinary practice 
Waterlane Equine Vets, is for an incinerator for the disposal of equine carcasses.  
The proposed equipment is a “low capacity” animal waste incinerator, i.e. capable of a 
throughput of less than 50 kg/h.  This category of incinerator is deemed to be exempt 
from the requirements of Part B Local Air Pollution Control.  The rated thermal input is 
stated to be 360 kW.

The proposed unit, a TB-AB 200 kg animal waste incinerator manufactured by Addfield 
Environmental Systems Limited, has a diesel fuelled fired primary chamber (2 off 120 
kW burners) and a fired secondary chamber (1 off 120 kW burner) that ensures the 
combustion gases attains 850 C for two seconds at a burn rate of 50 kg/h.  The 
applicant provides a certificate of compliance with the relevant EU regulation and the 
provisions of the Animal By-Products Enforcement (England/Wales/Scotland) 
Regulations 2011 that specify this temperature and residence time. 

Environs
The proposed site is in a predominantly rural location with isolated residential 
properties, the closest being Highfield 135 m to the north and Spinneywell Farm 180 m 
to the west north west.  

It is noted that the County Council’s Principal Ecologist advises that there are three 
SSSIs within two kilometres of the application site.  Juniper Hill is 1.4 km from the site 
and Daneway Banks and Strawberry Fields are both 1.6 km from the site.  

Potential emissions and discharge stack
The main pollutants associated with such combustion plant are oxides of nitrogen, 
formed during the high temperature combustion process, and particulate matter PM10.  
However, the PM10 emissions are likely to be of negligible concentrations due to the 
high temperatures achieved.  

The manufacturer’s data sheet does not state the anticipated oxides of nitrogen 
emission concentrations or the mass emission rate of this pollutant.  The data sheet 
shows a generic design drawing with a 3.47 m stack height, obstructed at the point of 
discharge by a chimney cap. It states that the chimney duct height may be increased.  

The application site plan drawing includes an inset plan and elevation of the building to 
contain the incinerator.  There is no clear indication of the proposed stack height on this 
drawing, nor is it apparently stated elsewhere.  

The Chimney Height Memorandum and Environment Agency guidance  provide 
guidance on stack heights and other overriding considerations, inter alia: 

Page 160



49

-  A discharge should be vertically upwards and unimpeded by cowls or any other 
fixture on top of the stack;  

-  No discharge stack should be less than 3 m above the ground or any adjacent area to 
which there is general access;  

-  A discharge should never be less than the height of any building…

Conclusions
It is recommended that a stack of suitable height. discharging above the roof ridge line 
and unimpeded by cowls or caps, is installed to assist dispersion.  The oxides of 
nitrogen emissions thus discharged from this 360 kW incinerator are not considered 
likely to have any significant air quality effects on the environment in terms of the 
subsequent formation of nitrogen dioxide and the potential effect on human health.  
This small facility is not likely to adversely affect the achievement of the air quality 
objectives for nitrogen dioxide concentrations at relevant receptor locations.  

The County Council’s Principal Ecologist concluded that there are unlikely to be 
significance effects on biodiversity and we concur with this view, particularly given the 
considerable distance to the nearest designated SSSIs. 

There is no need for an EIA to be requested to address the above issues.  

Stroud District Council
No comments received.

County Highways
County Highways were approached by the case officer on the 14.08.2017 and invited to 
comment on the proposal as part of the EIA screening consultation. County Highways 
stated that by virtue of the scale and nature of the proposal it was not necessary to 
consult them for EIA screening purposes.

Page 161



50

Comments received from consultees in connection with consultation that took 
place between 07.09.2017 to 28.09.2017:

Stroud District Council (comments received 08.09.2017):
Consultation response received from Stroud District Council on 8th September 2017:  

OFFICER'S REVIEW
BACKGROUND AND INTRODUCTION
The application site is remote and not contained within any development limits.

Due to the limited level of information submitted, it is not possible to fully consider if the 
proposed incinerator would have any significant effects on the environment. However, 
the following points are considered to be vital in order to form a judgement:

Further details regarding:

-  Controlling the potential odour and noise impacts related to the reception and storage 
of carcasses at the facility,
-  Controlling pests at the facility i.e. rodents and insects;
-  Undertaking operation of the incinerator to ensure that it meets the specified 
emissions criteria set out in the submitted TB-AB document;
-  Monitoring for smoke and smell in the locality of the incinerator;
-  Controlling the disposal of waste from the incinerator and associated equipment; and
-  Undertaking maintenance and servicing of the incinerator and associated equipment; 
and
-  Undertaking maintenance and servicing of the incinerator and associated equipment 
in line with the manufacturer's instructions.

The Environmental Health Officer for Stroud District Council has recommended that the 
incinerator should only be used for the incineration of animal carcasses and the 
maximum rate shall not exceed 50kg per hour.

Furthermore, due to the limited level of information submitted, it is not possible to 
comment on whether the proposal would be harmful to the Cotswold AONB Landscape.

Bisley with Lypiatt Parish Council (comments received 05.10.2017):
PC Recommendation - Object

Comments - If the Council is minded to allow this incinerator we would recommend the 
following conditions are attached:-

1. The incinerator should only take horses from the local area, within a radius of 10 
miles.

2. The incinerator should not operate at weekends.

Page 162



51

3. The incinerator should operate under Best Available Technology conditions for 
emissions and end of burn waste, this should be checked and audited by the Local 
Authority for compliance.

4. As the incinerator is adjacent to a bridle path and footpath a condition should be 
attached to ensure there is no evidence of waste or waste handling visible from this 
highway.   

5. Installation and operation of the incinerator must not disturb existing wildlife on the 
site, or passing through site, a proposal needs to be submitted to show how this 
condition can be met.

In response to a question raised by the case officer in respect of the reasons for 
the parish’s objection, the following additional response was received from 
Bisley with Lypiatt Parish Council on the 10.10.2017:
There were nineteen members of the public present and following a lengthy debate the 
decision to object was carried.

There were several reasons of concern as follows.

Increase in transport on the country lanes.
Insufficient local carcases arising in longer journeys to transport the carcases.
Not suitable for residential area.
Concerns regarding pollution, smell and noise.  
Industrial facility not in line with Local Plan.

Local Member (comments received 12.12.2017):
Local member requested that the application be brought to Planning Committee for a 
decision because the concerns of local residents needed to be considered in detail.

Highways Development Management (comments received 04.10.2017):
The proposed incinerator based on the small number of vehicle movements described 
would not be considered to result in a significant intensification in potential vehicle trips 
and use of the site access subject to the following conditions;

The use hereby permitted shall only be associated and ancillary to the wider farm site 
and to the maximum number of movements stated within the supporting information.

Reason:- To reduce potential highway impact by ensuring that the site does not result in 
a significant increase in vehicle trips to ensure safe, suitable means of access for all 
people that minimises the conflict between traffic and cyclists, pedestrians and highway 
users in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 32 and 35 
and the Local Plan.

Page 163



52

The vehicular access hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the existing 
roadside frontage boundaries have been set back to provide visibility splays extending 
from a point 2.4m back along the centre of the access measured from the public road 
(between Waterlane and Oakridge Lynch) carriageway edge (the X point) to a point on 
the nearer carriageway edge of the public road 52m distant in both directions (the Y 
points). The area between those splays and the carriageway shall be reduced in level 
and thereafter maintained so as to provide clear visibility between 1.05m and 2.0m at 
the X point and between 0.26m and 2.0m at the Y point above the adjacent carriageway 
level.

Reason:- To reduce potential highway impact by ensuring that adequate visibility is 
provided and maintained and to ensure that a safe, suitable and secure means of 
access for all people that minimises the conflict between traffic and cyclists and 
pedestrians is provided in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
paragraph 35 and the Local Plan.

Note: The site is traversed by a public right of way and this permission does not 
authorise additional use by motor vehicles, or obstruction, or diversion which would 
require separate approval by the Public Rights of Way (MBL76) section of the County 
Council.

Additional comments received from County Highways on 20.09.2017:
The proposed incinerator may result in an increase in daily vehicle trips to and from the 
site therefore visibility splays of 2.4m x 54m or based on DMRB 22/81 onto the byeway 
and 2.4m x 215m south and to the 30mph speed limit sign north onto Water Lane would 
be sought to be illustrated on scaled site plans to nearside vehicle track edge as per 
Manual for Streets figure 10.2 online in the absence of speed surveys. However as it 
appears 2.4m x 215m would not be available within applicant or highway land south of 
the access onto Water Lane it should be confirmed with a DMRB 22/81 guidance 
(online) compliant survey that northbound speeds are slower than 60mph to justify a 
suitable reduced splay south.

Additional comments received from County Highways on 04.10.2017:
The proposed incinerator based on the small number of vehicle movements described 
would not be considered to result in a significant intensification in potential vehicle trips 
and use of the site access subject to the following conditions;

The use hereby permitted shall only be associated and ancillary to the wider farm site 
and to the maximum number of movements stated within the supporting information.

Reason:- To reduce potential highway impact by ensuring that the site does not result in 
a significant increase in vehicle trips to ensure safe, suitable means of access for all 
people that minimises the conflict between traffic and cyclists, pedestrians and highway 
users in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 32 and 35 
and the Local Plan.

Page 164



53

The vehicular access hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the existing 
roadside frontage boundaries have been set back to provide visibility splays extending 
from a point 2.4m back along the centre of the access measured from the public road 
(between Waterlane and Oakridge Lynch) carriageway edge (the X point) to a point on 
the nearer carriageway edge of the public road 52m distant in both directions (the Y 
points). The area between those splays and the carriageway shall be reduced in level 
and thereafter maintained so as to provide clear visibility between 1.05m and 2.0m at 
the X point and between 0.26m and 2.0m at the Y point above the adjacent carriageway 
level.

Reason:- To reduce potential highway impact by ensuring that adequate visibility is 
provided and maintained and to ensure that a safe, suitable and secure means of 
access for all people that minimises the conflict between traffic and cyclists and 
pedestrians is provided in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
paragraph 35 and the Local Plan.

Note: The site is traversed by a public right of way and this permission does not 
authorise additional use by motor vehicles, or obstruction, or diversion which would 
require separate approval by the Public Rights of Way (MBL76) section of the County 
Council.

Technical advisor to Waste Planning Authority for Acoustics, Noise and Vibration 
(comments received 13.09.2017):
Our Acoustics, Noise and Vibration team have reviewed the information submitted by 
the applicant in support of the above application. They advise that there is insufficient 
information regarding noise emissions to determine the application for the following 
reasons:

- The application documents do not adequately address the potential noise impacts 
associated with the proposed incinerator. The stated noise levels do not appear to have 
been measured in line with any appropriate standards. The lack of any A-weighting in 
the quoted source level makes use of the stated value suspect. The value is also 
quoted as being "at 1m" from the plant but does not specify what part of the plant, what 
direction, what height, under what load, etc.

- There is also no attention paid to any potential attracting characteristics of the sound, 
or mention of whether penalties should be applied for tonality, hum, intermittency, etc.

- The incinerator is to be housed in an enclosed building with a discharge stack to 
outside. Noise levels at the discharge stack are not stated.

- There is also no survey of existing background noise levels at the nearest noise 
sensitive receptors, which should be included to establish the lowest LA90, 5min 
background noise level over the night time operational period.

Page 165



54

A noise assessment in line with the methodology set out in BS4142:2014 should be 
carried out to establish whether the proposed use would lead to any adverse noise 
impacts at nearby noise sensitive receptors. This assessment should be submitted to 
support the application and this would then address all the concerns raised above.

Please note that feedback from the Air Quality team will follow in due course.

Technical advisor to Waste Planning Authority on Air Quality (received 
27.09.2017:
Our Air Quality Team have reviewed the information submitted by the applicant in 
support of the above application. They advise that no objection should be made to this 
application on the grounds of Air Quality and Emissions, with the following 
observations:

The description of the operation of the facility in “Proposed Control of Odour and Noise” 
provides reassurance that there would be minimal odour associated with the facility. 
The incinerator itself has an after burner; the temperature and flue gas residence time is 
such that any potentially odorous organic compounds would be completely combusted. 
It is also noted from the Site Plan that the incinerator combustion air will be drawn in 
from within the building, thus providing further containment and elimination of potential 
odours from material handling operations. There should be no concerns with regards to 
odour due to the stack emissions.

Section 3 of the Additional Supporting Information confirms this information and states: 
“It is a two stage incinerator unit comprising a primary loading chamber and secondary 
after burner. No smoke or odour is emitted under standard operating conditions ... This 
machine fits with the 2002 Defra report's recommendation on best available technique 
and is on the APHA list of approved incinerators.”

County Council’s Principal Ecologist (comments received 11.09.2017)
I refer you to my previous memo date 17th August on EIA screening which provides 
background information to my advice here. My EIA conclusion was there are unlikely to 
be significant effects on biodiversity arising from this proposal and therefore no need for 
an EIA to be requested under the Regulations for ecological reasons (alone). The air 
quality advice from the WPA's advisors Atkins also comes to the same conclusion 
although make comments on lack of information on the stack height. The top of the 
stack must be 4m or more from ground level looking at the plans and incinerator 
specifications submitted.

The development footprint is unlikely to have a significant impact on valued biodiversity 
as it is to be situated within existing buildings with little or no alterations. The building is 
unlikely to support protected species such as breeding birds or bats but a precautionary 
advice note to cover this is recommended. 

Page 166



55

The proposal for 'the installation of a low capacity horse carcase incinerator' and air 
emissions are modest and unlikely to affect designated sites in the vicinity. In 
considering small animal incinerators it is usual to consider dispersion to SSSIs and 
International Sites within 2 km of the proposed facility (Process guidance Note 5/03[13], 
July 2013, Defra). Within 2km of the proposed development the following designated 
sites occur:

-  Juniper Hill SSSI (about 1.4km away to the north east)
-  Daneway Banks SSSI (about 1.6km away to the west south east)
-  Strawberry Fields SSSI (about 1.6km away to the south west) In addition the following 
Key Wildlife Sites (KWSs) are present within 2km:
-  Under 1km (Frith Wood, Frith Cottage Wood, Smart's Grove, Limbrick's Farm Wood, 
Ile's Green Meadow & Oakridge Recreation Ground)
-  Between 1 and 2km (Trillis, Madam's Grove, Litteridge Wood, Tanner's Wood, Tunley 
Farm Wood, River Frome, Daneway wood, Lower Daneway grassland, Siccaridge 
Wood, Penny Grove & Peyton's Grove, Hillhouse Wood, The Valley, Moley & Gt. Moley, 
Three grove Wood and Pontin's Farm)

The nearest KWS is Frith's Wood (0.3km to the east) and the closest in the prevailing 
wind direction that would take dispersed emissions to or over are Smart's Grove, 
Limbrick's Farm Wood and Madam's Grove. In addition for completeness within 2km 
there is one Conservation Road Verge to the north (Waterlane), another to the east 
(Tunley-Danelane) and a third to the south east (Daneway Banks Lane).

This facility is at the lower end of the definition of small incinerators (0.1t per hour and 
probably generating less than 1MW). On inspecting the Natural England's IRZ data I 
note that for the distances to the SSSIs concerned Natural England do not need to be 
consulted. This IRZ data also implies that for nearer Key Wildlife Sites such as Frith 
Wood and Frith Cottage Wood a significant impact is unlikely via air quality changes 
whilst the incinerator is in operation. Further information on the height of the stack to be 
employed would not alter this conclusion due to the small throughput and distances 
involved.

Recommendations
Subject to any contrary further specialist advice on air quality, the informative below 
should be attached to any consent that may be granted:

1.  Advice Note - This informative is given as a reminder of the Wildlife & Countryside 
Act 1981 (as amended) which makes it an offence to kill, injure or take any wild bird, 
and to intentionally remove, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird while that nest 
is in use or being built. It is also an offence to take or destroy any wild bird eggs. Bats 
and their roosts are protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended) and also the Conservation (Natural Habitats & c.) Regulations 2010 (as 
amended). Bats and birds can sometimes be found in or on many buildings, even those 
that initially appear to be unsuitable.

Page 167



56

It is my view that the above advice is in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework, ODPM Circular 06/2005, Natural England's Standing Advice, and with 
Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 which confers 
a general biodiversity duty upon Local Authorities whilst exercising their functions.

Additional comments received from the County Council’s Principal Ecologist on 
14.09.2017:

At the request of the case officer the County Council's Principal Ecologist was asked 
(14.09.2017) to respond to an objector's query regarding the potential for the proposal 
to have an adverse effect upon bats. The Principal Ecologist commented as follows:

'The design of this modern building and the materials used in its construction make it 
extremely unlikely that bats would roost in this building. Nesting birds or other protected 
species are also unlikely to use the building at certain times. However as a very 
precautionary measure I am recommending an informative on protected species. It is 
definitely very unreasonable to request a bat assessment or ecological appraisal in this 
planning case. You may wish to quote government circular 06/2005 which at paragraph 
99 says:

"…bearing in mind the delay and cost that may be involved, developers should not be 
required to undertake surveys for protected species unless there is a reasonable 
likelihood of the species being present and affected by the development." 

Severn Trent Water Limited (comments received 15.09.2017)
With Reference to the above planning application the company's observations 
regarding sewerage are as follows.

As the proposal has minimal impact on the public sewerage system I can advise we 
have no objections to the proposals and do not require a drainage condition to be 
applied.

Public Health England (comments received 19.09.2017)
Thank you for sending us the planning application detailed above. The application is for 
an incinerator to be used to dispose of equine carcasses. The application states that 
“This category of incinerator is deemed to be exempt from the requirements of Part B 
Local Air Pollution Control.” As this application does not require an Environmental 
Permit it appears to be a fairly small scale operation. As such the application does not 
include detailed information about the air emissions to be released from the proposed 
operation, therefore we cannot comment on whether there will be a risk to public health.

Following on from our discussion you may want to liaise with Stroud District Council’s 
Environmental Protection Team for any further assistance. The Environmental Health 

Page 168



57

Team or Atkins may also have further information about what air emissions they would 
expect to be produced by such an operation.

The Department for Environment and Rural Affairs has also produced a Process 
Guidance Note, entitled “Statutory guidance for animal carcase incineration” which may 
be of interest to you.

Please feel free to consult Public Health England again, if you obtain more detailed air 
emission data which is above public health standards and is of cause for concern.

Environment Agency (comments received 28.09.2017)
Thank you for referring the above application which was received on 7 September 
2017. The Environment Agency has no objections to the proposed development but 
wishes to make the following comments.
 
The activity proposed is not regulated by the Environment Agency under the 
Environmental Permitting Regulations and the Local Authority would regulate this 
activity. We note there are limited environmental receptors within the vicinity that fall 
within our remit, with the exception of groundwater (the site is located upon a principal 
aquifer.) Accordingly we would only make the following general pollution prevention 
comments in the interests of protecting groundwater: 

Pollution Prevention:
Developers should incorporate pollution prevention measures to protect ground and 
surface water. We note the proposed drainage arrangements and that there is a fuel 
store associated with the proposal that is to be bunded. There should be no foul or 
contaminated water infiltrating to the ground or entering the water environment. Where 
oils, fuels or chemicals are to be stored on site they should benefit from double skinned 
tanks/impermeable bunding. The following condition is for your consideration (we would 
not seek to comment on any details submitted in relation to this matter):

CONDITION: Any facilities for the storage of oils, fuels or chemicals shall be sited on 
impervious bases and surrounded by impervious bund walls. The volume of the bunded 
compound shall be at least equivalent to the capacity of the tank plus 10%. If there is 
multiple tankage, the compound shall be at least equivalent to the capacity of the 
largest tank, vessel or the combined capacity of interconnected tanks or vessels plus 
10%. All filling points, associated pipework, vents, gauges and sight glasses must be 
located within the bund or have separate secondary containment. The drainage system 
of the bund shall be sealed with no discharge to any watercourse, land or underground 
strata. Associated pipework shall be located above ground and protected from 
accidental damage. All filling points and tank/vessels overflow pipe outlets shall be 
detailed to discharge downwards into the bund.

REASON:  To protect ground and surface waters ('controlled waters' as defined under 
the Water Resources Act 1991).

Page 169



58

Cotswolds Conservation Board (comments received 09.10.2017):
The Cotswolds Conservation Board (the Board) wishes to make the following 
comments on this proposal.

The site lies within the Cotswolds AONB. Section 85 of the CRoW Act 2000 states that 
"a relevant authority shall have regard to the purpose of conserving and enhancing the 
natural beauty of the area of outstanding natural beauty". Furthermore, Paragraph 115 
of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) advises that 'great weight' should be 
given to conserving landscape and scenic beauty in AONBs. 

The site for the incinerator is located within an existing agricultural building within a farm 
yard.  It is the Board's opinion that should Gloucestershire County Council be minded to 
approve the application consideration should be given to the following:

-  The proposed flue should be painted a dark colour in order to minimise the impact on 
the surrounding landscape and reduce glint which could result from a galvanised flue.

-  All exterior lighting should be kept to a minimum.  The cumulative impact of local 
lighting schemes, for example for security purposes, can lead to loss of dark skies, 
which the Board are keen to retain wherever possible.  Please refer to our Tranquillity 
and Dark Skies Position Statement.

Natural England (comments received 11.10.2017):
Thank you for your consultation on the above dated 07 September 2017 which was 
received by Natural England on 07 September 2017.

Natural England is a non-departmental public body. Our statutory purpose is to ensure 
that the natural environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed for the benefit of 
present and future generations, thereby contributing to sustainable development.

SUMMARY OF NATURAL ENGLAND’S ADVICE

NO OBJECTION

Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed 
development will not have significant adverse impacts on designated sites and has no 
objection.

Natural England’s advice on other natural environment issues is set out below.

Juniper Hill, Strawberry Banks and Daneway Banks Sites of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSI)

Page 170



59

Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed 
development will not damage or destroy the interest features for which the site has 
been notified and has no objection.

Justification:
The application is within an impact risk zone for air quality for the above three SSSI’s. 
We have applied Natural England’s air quality assessment criteria to determine the 
impact this application may have on nearby designated sites.

This proposal is falls into the category of “general combustion” and the rated thermal 
input is 360 kW which puts the proposal into the under 200MW category. Combustion 
up to 200MW can impact designated sites up to 500m from the pollution source and the 
closest SSSI (Juniper Hill) is 1.4km away. Therefore our assessment concludes that the 
proposal will not impact upon Juniper Hill, Strawberry Banks or Daneway Banks SSSI’s.

Other advice

Further general advice on the consideration of protected species and other natural 
environment issues is provided at Annex A.

Should the proposal change, please consult us again.

Page 171



60

Comments received from consultees in connection with re-consultation that took 
place between 12.10.2017 to 26.10.2017:

County Council’s Principal Ecologist (comments received 16.10.2017):
In respect of the change in the description of this proposed development I can confirm 
that I have no further comments to make.

Environment Agency (comments received 17.10.2017):
We are in receipt of the amended consultation for the above proposal. Please note we 
have no further comments to make in addition to those made in our previous (attached) 
response.

Natural England (comments received 26.10.2017):
Thank you for your consultation dated and received by Natural England on 12 October 
2017.

Natural England is a non-departmental public body. Our statutory purpose is to ensure 
that the natural environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed for the benefit of 
present and future generations, thereby contributing to sustainable development.

Natural England has previously commented on this proposal and made comments to 
the authority in our letter dated 11 October 2017.

The advice provided in our previous response applies equally to this amendment 
although we made no objection to the original proposal.

Should the proposal be amended in a way which significantly affects its impact on the 
natural environment then, in accordance with Section 4 of the Natural Environment and 
Rural Communities Act 2006, Natural England should be consulted again. Before 
sending us the amended consultation, please assess whether the changes proposed 
will materially affect any of the advice we have previously offered. If they are unlikely to 
do so, please do not re-consult us.

Stroud District Council (comments received 04.12.2017):
It is noted that the sole amendment to the application relates to the change in 
description of development from: 'proposed incinerator for disposal of equine carcasses' 
to' Change of use of agricultural building to Use Class B2 and installation of proposed 
incinerator for the disposal of equine carcasses.'  Whilst the description of development 
has been amended, the previous comments from the LPA (Local Planning Authority) 
still stand.  

In addition to the previous comments made, the LPA would like to draw the determining 
Authorities attention to the relevant adopted Local Plan policy and further comments 
from the District Councils Environmental Protection Manager.  

Page 172



61

In determining the proposed development, please consider the following Local Plan 
Policy:

CP1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
CP3 - Settlement hierarchy
EI4 - Development on existing employment sites in the countryside
CP14 - High quality sustainable development
CP15 - A quality living and working countryside
ES1 - Sustainable construction and design
ES3 - Maintaining quality of life within our environmental limits
ES6 - Providing for biodiversity and geodiversity
ES7 - Landscape character
ES9 - Equestrian development

{\b Environmental Matters}
The proposed scheme is a small scale operation such that, for example, it would fall 
outside any requirement for an Environmental Permit. It is expected that the operator 
should produce a Management Plan that would cover the following matters:-

-  Control of potential odour and noise impacts related to the reception and storage of 
carcasses at the facility;
-  Control of pests at the facility i.e. rodents and insects;
-  Undertaking operation of the incinerator to ensure that it meets the specified 
emissions criteria set out in the submitted TB-AB document;
-  Monitoring for smoke and smell in the locality of the incinerator;
-  Control over the disposal of waste from the incinerator and associated equipment; 
and
-  Undertaking the maintenance and servicing of the incinerator and associated 
equipment; and
-  Undertaking the maintenance and servicing of the incinerator and associated 
equipment in line with the manufacturer's instructions.

As the objector notes, weather inversion would be expected to be infrequent and Atkins' 
Memo response reinforces that emissions are not considered likely to produce 
significant air quality effects with a stack of suitable height discharging above the roof 
ridge line and unimpeded by cowls or caps. It should also be noted that statutory 
nuisance provisions would still exist to deal with any additional smoke/smell issues.

Technical advisor to Waste Planning Authority for Acoustics, Noise and Vibration 
(comments received 11.01.2018):
Our Acoustics, Noise and Vibration team have reviewed the Noise Impact Assessment 
prepared by Venta Acoustics and submitted by the applicant in support of the above 
application. (Report reference VA1963.170925.NIA, dated 26 September 2017). They 
advise that no objection should be made to this application on the grounds of noise or 
vibration with the following observations:

Page 173



62

A condition should be applied to any permission that requires that operational noise 
levels, including the suggested 5dB penalty for tonality and intermittency, fall below the 
measured background noise levels at the nearby noise sensitive receptors at all times 
of day. The Venta Acoustics report of 26 September 2017 shows that this condition 
should not be problematic.

Page 174



Delegated Decisions made between 14th July 2017 and 10th January 2018

County Matter Applications
Application Ref Proposal Site Location Decision 

Issue Date
Decision

15/0110/CWMAJW Variation of condition 4(duration) of planning 
permission CT/5189/L dated 23/04/2007.  Continue 
recycling facility to 2027. 

Shorncote Quarry
Ewen Road South Cerney
Cirencester
Gloucestershire GL7 6DE 

16/10/2017 Consent

16/0075/CWMAJM Temporary storage of sand & gravel and extraction of 
cornbrash limestone.

Shorncote Quarry
Ewen Road, South Cerney
Cirencester
Gloucestershire, GL7 6DE

09/10/2017 Consent

16/0077/CWMAJM Variation of condition 16 (HGV Movements) of 
planning consent 15/0042/CWMAJM dated 
08/06/2016. The applicant seeks to increase the 
permitted number of movements.

Land East Of Spratsgate Lane 
And Adjacent To Keynes 
Country Park 
Spratsgate Lane
Siddington
Gloucestershire

27/07/2017 Consent

16/0117/CWMAJW Use of agricultural land for waste recycling operations, 
erection of waste recycling building and associated 
office building

H T Waste Recycling Ltd
Buckle Mill
Honeybourne Road
Weston Subedge
Gloucestershire WR11 7QE 

28/11/2017 Consent

17/0011/TWMAJW Retrospective change of use of an agricultural barn 
(part of) to a waste transfer operation (sui generis)

Long Meadow Farm
Stoke Road, Stoke Orchard
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire GL52 7RY

14/08/2017 Consent

17/0041/COMPLI Compliance with conditions 5 (External materials) and 
23 (Foul & surface water drainage design) relating to 
appeal APP/T1600/A/13/2200210 Allowed 
16/01/2015.  GCC Public Access appeal ref. 
13/0001/INQUIR. (Original planning ref. 
12/0008/STMAJW.

Javelin Park EFW
Bath Road
Haresfield
Stonehouse
Gloucestershire
GL10 3ET

02/08/2017 Complian
ce with 
Condition
(s)

P
age 175

A
genda Item

 9



Delegated Decisions made between 14th July 2017 and 10th January 2018

17/0052/COMPLI Compliance with conditions 8(Archaeology), 16(Noise), 
17(Dust), 19(Biodiversity) and 30(MOD) of planning 
consent 13/0097/CWMAJM dated 15/05/2017.

Manor Farm Quarry
Washpool Lane
Kempsford
Gloucestershire GL7 4NJ 

06/12/2017 Complian
ce with 
Condition
(s)

17/0056/CWMAJM Variation of condition 38 (Landscaping, Restoration 
and Aftercare) relating to planning consent 
00/5004/CWROMP dated 21/06/21012.

Thornhill Farm Pit
Claydon Pike, London Road
Lechlade
Gloucestershire GL7 3DT

17/08/2017 Consent

17/0060/FDMAJM Erection of 2.4 metre high entrance gates and 
boundary fencing.

Drybrook Quarries Ltd
Hawthorns Road
Drybrook
Gloucestershire GL17 9BT 

24/08/2017 Consent

17/0062/FDCERT Lawful development certificate for proposed works to 
replace underperforming plant and upgrades to meet 
a phosphorous discharge consent of 2mg/l into the 
Valley Brook.

Sewage Works
Laundry Lane
Newland
Gloucestershire GL16 8NQ 

21/09/2017 Lawful 
Develop
ment

17/0066/TWMAJW Variation of condition 20 (Hours of Operational) of 
planning consent 09/0028/TWMAJW dated 
11/11/2011

Wingmoor Farm
Stoke Orchard Road
Bishops Cleeve, Cheltenham
Gloucestershire, GL52 7DG

19/10/2017 Consent

17/0075/TWMAJW Variation of condition 4 (Scope of the permission) and 
10 (detailed plan of the skip waste processing area) of 
planning consent 15/0053/TWMAJW dated 
19/10/2016 [Retention of the Waste Transfer Station 
by removal of condition 2 of temporary planning 
permission 14/0046/TWMAJW dated dated 
21/08/2014 which limited the life of the site until 21 
August 2015].

Land At Shurdington Road
Shurdington
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire

03/10/2017 Consent

17/0077/COMPLI Compliance with conditions 7 (surface water drainage) 
and 18 (Landscape) relating to 14/0105/STMAJW 
dated 19/04/2017.

Building 107 South
Aston Down
Cowcombe Lane
Chalford
Gloucestershire, GL6 8HR

08/12/2017 Complian
ce with 
Condition
(s)

P
age 176



Delegated Decisions made between 14th July 2017 and 10th January 2018

17/0081/TWMAJW Erection of a picking station (retrospective) Land At Shurdington Road
Shurdington, Cheltenham
Gloucestershire

03/10/2017 Consent

17/0084/FDMAJW Retrospective application for the retention of flue 
stack approximately 19.5 metres high.

Rose Hill Farm
Leominster Road
Dymock
Gloucestershire, GL18 2EF

01/11/2017 Consent

17/0090/NONMAT Non-material amendment to accellerate restoration 
process as insufficient inert waste available relating to 
planning consent 17/0056/CWMAJM dated 
17/08/2017.

Thornhill Farm Pit
Claydon Pike, London Road
Lechlade
Gloucestershire, GL7 3DT

17/10/2017 Non 
Material 
Amendm
ent

17/0093/COMPLI Compliance with conditions 14 (Dust), 18 (Highways), 
20 (Wheel Wash), 22 (Signs upon Exit), 23(Lorry 
Routing Plan), 27 (Construction Method Statement) 
and 32 (Irrigation Pond) of planning consent 
16/0101/CWMAJW dated 06/07/2017.

Cotswold Hills Golf Club
Ullenwood Manor Road
Ullenwood
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire, GL53 9QT

09/11/2017 Complian
ce with 
Condition
(s)

17/0100/NONMAT Non-material amendment to revise the restoration 
scheme relating to planning consent 
17/0056/CWMAJM dated 17/08/2017 to retain 3 small 
ponds shown in drawing C1/CP/1200-3.

Thornhill Farm Pit
Claydon Pike
London Road, Lechlade
Gloucestershire, GL7 3DT

17/10/2017 Non 
Material 
Amendm
ent

17/0115/COMPLI Compliance with condition 12 (details of drainage 
system) of planning consent 17/0011/TWMAJW dated 
14/08/2017.

Long Meadow
Stoke Road, Stoke Orchard
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire, GL52 7RY

14/12/2017 Complian
ce with 
Condition
(s)

17/0118/COMPLI Compliance with condition 4 (Colour finish of picking 
station) of planning consent 17/0081/TWMAJW dated 
29/09/2017.

Land At Shurdington Road
Shurdington, Cheltenham
Gloucestershire

17/11/2017 Complian
ce with 
Condition
(s)

P
age 177



Delegated Decisions made between 14th July 2017 and 10th January 2018

Regulation 3 Applications
Application Ref Proposal Site Location Decision 

Issue Date
Decision

17/0010/NONMAT Non-material amendment to roofing detail for blocks 
4 & 5, including roofing material related to planning 
consent 15/0122/GLREG3 dated 24/03/2016.

Shire Hall, Westgate Street
Gloucester
Gloucestershire, GL1 2TG

03/08/2017 Non 
Material 
Amendm
ent

17/0021/NONMAT Non-material amendments to fenestration, 
rooflights and air conditioning units, along with 
internal alterations including changes to disabled WC 
relating to planning consent 16/0042/STREG3 dated 
02/12/2016.

Thrupp Primary School
Thrupp Lane, Thrupp
Stroud
Gloucestershire
GL5 2EN

21/07/2017 Non 
Material 
Amendm
ent

17/0022/COMPLI Compliance with conditions 5, 6, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 
14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20 of application 
16/0042/STREG3, decision dated 2.12.16

Thrupp Primary School
Thrupp Lane, Thrupp
Stroud
Gloucestershire, GL5 2EN

29/09/2017 Complian
ce with 
Condition
(s)

17/0043/CWREG3 Two storey extension and associated alterations to 
provide replacement facilities.

Paternoster School
Watermoor Road
Cirencester
Gloucestershire, GL7 1LF

26/07/2017 Consent

17/0048/GLREG3 Erection of a three storey extension; single storey 
extensions; external shelter; new pitched roof; new 
cladding, window openings; creation of a pedestrian 
access to Severnvale Drive and associated works

Severnvale School
School Lane, Quedgeley
Gloucester
Gloucestershire, GL2 4PR

14/07/2017 Consent

17/0055/COMPLI compliance with condition 2 (notification of the date 
of commencement), 4 (details of materials), 6 
(construction traffic), 10 (tree protection), and 11 
(drainage) of planning consent 16/0123/STREG3 
dated 10/01/2017

Chalford Hill Primary School
Randalls Green
Chalford Hill
Stroud
Gloucestershire, GL6 8LG

17/07/2017 Complian
ce with 
Condition
(s)

P
age 178



Delegated Decisions made between 14th July 2017 and 10th January 2018

17/0065/NONMAT Non-material amendment for alterations to 
fenestration patterns, additional lift and ramp, along 
with changes to colours of the louvers and pattern of 
BIPV's relating to planning consent 15/0122/GLREG3 
dated 24/03/2016.

Shire Hall
Westgate Street
Gloucester
Gloucestershire
GL1 2TG

12/10/2017 Non 
Material 
Amendm
ent

17/0068/CHREG3 Proposed change of use from education (D1) to 
library storage and distribution (B8) and proposed 
new access off Clyde Crescent

Oakwood Children Centre
Clyde Crescent
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire, GL52 5QH

06/12/2017 Consent

17/0070/CHREG3 Proposed Demolition of existing timber classroom 
structure and construction of new classrooms and 
ancillary accommodation.

Gardners Lane Primary School
Gardners Lane
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire, GL51 9JW

24/10/2017 Consent

17/0071/CHREG3 Installation of a Multi Use Games Area Naunton Park Primary School
Naunton Lane, Cheltenham
Gloucestershire, GL53 7BT

24/07/2017 Consent

17/0074/TWREG3 Single storey extensions to school hall to provide 
additional classrooms, flexible hall storage/seating 
area, toilets and circulation space.  Changes to 
external appearance of existing buildings.  Provision 
of a Multi-Use Games Area, additional car and 
bicycle parking and associated works.

Shurdington Primary School
Badgeworth Lane
Badgeworth
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL51 4UQ

24/10/2017 Consent

17/0076/COMPLI Compliance with conditions 9 (Demolition 
management plan), 12 (Asbestos removal disposal), 
15 (Written scheme of investigation) & 17 (Site 
waste management plan) relating to planning 
consent 17/0023/GLR3MJ dated 05/06/2017.

Oxleaze Wing & Quayside 
House
The Quay
Gloucester
Gloucestershire

15/09/2017 Complian
ce with 
Condition
(s)

17/0078/NONMAT Non-material amendment to landscaping, relocation 
of existing lamp post & alterations to front entrance 
door relating to planning consent 15/0106/TWREG3 
dated 15/11/2016.

Alderman Knight School
Ashchurch Road
Tewkesbury
Gloucestershire, GL20 8JJ

11/08/2017 Non 
Material 
Amendm
ent

P
age 179



Delegated Decisions made between 14th July 2017 and 10th January 2018

17/0080/COMPLI Compliance with conditions 1 (Commencement), 4 
(Working Hours), 5 (Design & Materials), 6 (Highways 
- Path Width), 7 (Highways - Parking Spaces), 8 
(Highways Pedestrian Guard Rails) and 10 (Works to 
Trees), 11 (Planting) relating to planning consent 
16/0087/GLREG3 dated 27/01/2017.

Hempsted C Of E Primary 
School
St Swithuns Road
Gloucester
Gloucestershire
GL2 5LH

11/08/2017 Complian
ce with 
Condition
(s)

17/0086/COMPLI Compliance with condition 14 (Construction Method 
Statement) of planning consent 16/0120/TWR3MJ 
dated 27/07/2017.

Cleeve School
Two Hedges Road
Bishops Cleeve, Cheltenham
Gloucestershire, GL52 8AE

14/08/2017 Consent

17/0089/COMPLI Compliance with condition 15 (Materials) of planning 
consent 16/0119/GLR3MJ dated 19/06/17.

Beaufort Co-operative 
Academy Windsor Drive
Gloucester
Gloucestershire, GL4 0RT

27/09/2017 Complian
ce with 
Condition
(s)

17/0097/COMPLI Compliance with condition 9 (Soft Landscape and 
Aftercare Scheme) of planning consent 
16/0119/GLR3MJ dated 19.06.2017.

Beaufort Co-operative 
Academy, Windsor Drive
Gloucester
Gloucestershire, GL4 0RT

16/10/2017 Complian
ce with 
Condition
(s)

17/0104/NONMAT Non-material amendment for alterations to 
fenestration patterns to First and Second floors, 
installation of additional lift, changes to colours of 
the louvers and brick colour on Block 6, along with 
amendments to the police entrance roof approved 
under planning consent 15/0122/GLREG3 dated 
24/03/2016.

Shire Hall
Westgate Street
Gloucester
Gloucestershire
GL1 2TG

27/12/2017 Non 
Material 
Amendm
ent

17/0105/COMPLI Compliance with conditions 6 (Ecology) and 7 
(External lighting) relating to planning consent 
17/0003/CWREG3 dated 22/03/2017.

Leighterton County Primary 
School, Boxwell Road
Leighterton
Gloucestershire, GL8 8UH

22/12/2017 Consent

17/0107/COMPLI Compliance with conditions 3 & 4 (Ecology) relating 
to planning consent 17/0048/GLREG3 dated 
14/07/17.

Severnvale School
School Lane, Quedgeley
Gloucester
Gloucestershire, GL2 4PR

27/11/2017 Complian
ce with 
Condition
(s)

P
age 180



Delegated Decisions made between 14th July 2017 and 10th January 2018

17/0126/COMPLI Compliance with condition 9(Ecology) relating to 
planning consent 16/0087/GLREG3 dated 
27/01/2017.

Hempsted C Of E Primary 
School
26 St Swithuns Road
Gloucester
Gloucestershire, GL2 5LH

11/12/2017 Complian
ce with 
Condition
(s)

P
age 181



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Enforcement Summary from 14/07/2017 to 08/01/2018

Complaint Number Site address Nature of Complaint Date 
Received

Officer Ward Status Reason Close

17/00102/COND St Whites Primary School
Sneyd Wood Road
Cinderford
Gloucestershire
GL14 3GD

Fail to comply with 
approved parking 
policy.

14/07/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Cinderford Division Case Closed Referred to 
other County 

Dept.

17/00103/UNL Land Adjacent To:
The Old School
High Street
Arlingham
Gloucestershire
GL2 7JN

Planning permission 
query concerning foul 
water drainage in 
respect of a former 
County Council 
property.

16/07/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Hardwicke and 
Severn Division

Case Closed Not a County 
Planning Matter

17/00104/UNL Stow Skips Yard
Maugersbury Road
Stow-On-The-Wold
Gloucestershire

Unauthorised storage 
of skips.

19/07/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Stow-on-the-Wold Case Closed Not 
substantiated

17/00105/UNL Wilderness Quarry
Gloucester Road
Mitcheldean
Gloucestershire
GL17 0DS

Unauthorised waste 
activity.

21/07/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Mitcheldean Division Case Closed Advice given

17/00106/COND Rose Hill Farm
Leominster Road
Dymock
Gloucestershire
GL18 2EF

Unauthorised flue 
stack.

24/07/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Newent Division Case Closed Application 
under 

preparation
/submitted.

P
age 183

A
genda Item

 10



2

Complaint Number Site address Nature of Complaint Date 
Received

Officer Ward Status Reason Close

17/00107/COND Aggregate Industries
Manor Farm Pit
Washpool Lane
Kempsford
Gloucestershire
GL7 4NJ

Unauthorised 
landscaping.

26/07/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Fairford and 
Lechlade On 

Thames Division

Case Closed Advice given

17/00108/UNL Land Adjacent To
Hobbs Lane
Dursley Cross
Longhope
GL17 0ND

Unauthorised waste 
site.

27/07/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Mitcheldean Division Pending 
Consideratio

n

17/00109/UNL Cleeve School
Two Hedges Road
Bishops Cleeve
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL52 8AE

Early morning working. 28/07/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Bishops Cleeve 
Division

Case Closed Not 
substantiated

17/00110/COND Aggregate Industries
Manor Farm
Washpool Lane
Kempsford
Gloucestershire
GL7 4NJ

Unauthorised works. 28/07/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Fairford and 
Lechlade On 

Thames Division

Pending 
Consideratio

n

17/00111/UNL Jubilee Farm
Hill End Road
Twyning
Tewkesbury
Gloucestershire
GL20 6DW

Unauthorised skip-
waste yard and outside 
storage facility.

01/08/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Tewkesbury Division Pending 
Consideratio

n

P
age 184



3

Complaint Number Site address Nature of Complaint Date 
Received

Officer Ward Status Reason Close

17/00112/UNL Shurdington WTS
The Former Sand Pit
Shurdington Road
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL51 5UR

Windblown litter and 
fly-tipping.

02/08/2017 Linda 
Townsend

Brockworth Division Case Closed Advice given

17/00113/UNL Shurdington WTS
The Former Sand Pit
Shurdington Road
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL51 5UR

Unauthorised storage 
of skips (outside the 
site).

03/08/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Brockworth Division Pending 
Consideratio

n

17/00114/UNL Shurdington Nurseries
Little Shurdington
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL51 4TX

Unauthorised green 
waste facility.

03/08/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Brockworth Division Pending 
Consideratio

n

17/00115/UNL Leadon Meadow
Over

Unauthorised waste 
deposits.

04/08/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Highnam Division Pending 
Consideratio

n

17/00116/UNL Kayte Lane
Bishops Cleeve
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire

Unauthorised waste 
importation.

04/08/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Winchcombe and 
Woodmancote 

Division

Case Closed Not a County 
Planning Matter

P
age 185



4

Complaint Number Site address Nature of Complaint Date 
Received

Officer Ward Status Reason Close

17/00117/UNL Kayte Lane
Bishops Cleeve
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire

Unauthorised 
importation of tarmac 
waste.

10/08/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Winchcombe and 
Woodmancote 

Division

Case Closed Not a County 
Planning Matter

17/00118/UNL Tredington House
Tredington
Tewkesbury
Gloucestershire
GL20 7BU

Unauthorised waste 
storage.

10/08/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Bishops Cleeve 
Division

Case Closed Not 
substantiated

17/00119/UNL Grangefield Primary 
School
Voxwell Lane
Bishops Cleeve
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL52 8GL

Unauthorised 
development.

15/08/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Bishops Cleeve 
Division

Case Closed Referred to 
other County 

Dept.

17/00120/COND Cheltenham Spa Skips
Long Meadow
Stoke Road
Stoke Orchard
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL52 7RY

Breach of planning 
conditions - more than 
one lorry being used.

16/08/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Bishops Cleeve 
Division

Pending 
Consideratio

n

P
age 186



5

Complaint Number Site address Nature of Complaint Date 
Received

Officer Ward Status Reason Close

17/00121/COND Smiths (Gloucester) Ltd
The Old Airfield
Moreton Valence
Gloucester
Gloucestershire
GL2 7NG

Stockpiles above the 
height of the screening 
bund.

20/08/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Hardwicke and 
Severn Division

Pending 
Consideratio

n

17/00122/COND Brooklands
Coaley
Gloucestershire
GL11 5DP

Unauthorised activity. 21/08/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Dursley Division Pending 
Consideratio

n

17/00123/UNL Severnside Farm
Walham Lane
Gloucester
Gloucestershire
GL2 9NF

Unauthorised waste 
activity.

22/08/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Kingsholm and 
Wotton Division

Case Closed Not a County 
Planning Matter

17/00124/COND Javelin Park
Bath Road
Haresfield
Stonehouse
Gloucestershire
GL10 3ET

Breach of planning 
permission.  Use of 
unauthorised access 
into the site. (Main, 
authorised access 
blocked by a peaceful 
demonstration.)

22/08/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Hardwicke and 
Severn Division

Case Closed Advice given

17/00125/COND Grangefield Primary 
School
Voxwell Lane
Bishops Cleeve
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL52 8GL

Breach of a Section 
106 Legal Agreement.

22/08/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Bishops Cleeve 
Division

Case Closed Referred to 
other County 

Dept.

P
age 187



6

Complaint Number Site address Nature of Complaint Date 
Received

Officer Ward Status Reason Close

17/00126/COND Cheltenham Spa Skips
Long Meadow
Stoke Road
Stoke Orchard
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL52 7RY

Breach of planning 
permission (use of two 
lorries rather than the 
permitted one 7.5 tonne 
lorry).

22/08/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Bishops Cleeve 
Division

Pending 
Consideratio

n

17/00127/COND Grangefield Primary 
School
Voxwell Lane
Bishops Cleeve
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL52 8GL

Further unauthorised 
development in breach 
of a Section 106 Legal 
Agreement.

23/08/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Bishops Cleeve 
Division

Case Closed Referred to 
other County 

Dept.

17/00128/UNL Kayte Lane
Bishops Cleeve
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire

Unauthorised waste 
use.

23/08/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Winchcombe and 
Woodmancote 

Division

Case Closed Referred to 
District Council

17/00129/COND Shurdington WTS
The Sand Pit
Shurdington Road
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL51 5UR

Fail to comply with 
planning conditions.

24/08/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Brockworth Division Pending 
Consideratio

n

P
age 188



7

Complaint Number Site address Nature of Complaint Date 
Received

Officer Ward Status Reason Close

17/00130/COND Cleeve School
Two Hedges Road
Bishops Cleeve
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL52 8AE

Alleged construction 
noise.

01/09/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Bishops Cleeve 
Division

Case Closed Not 
substantiated

17/00131/COND St Whites Primary School
Sneyd Wood Road
Cinderford
Gloucestershire
GL14 3GD

Fail to comply with 
planning conditions.  
(The development 
breaches an 
undertaking whereby 
parents and other 
school visitors use the 
entrance in Sneyd 
Wood Road rather than 
the Buckshaft Road 
entrance.  This issue 
has now been 
aggravated by the 
County Council selling 
land in Buckshaft Road 
for housing.)

01/09/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Cinderford Division Case Closed Referred to 
other County 

Dept.

17/00132/COND Shurdington WTS
The Sand Pit
Shurdington Road
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL51 5UR

Excessive noise from 
the site.

06/09/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Brockworth Division Case Closed Advice given

P
age 189



8

Complaint Number Site address Nature of Complaint Date 
Received

Officer Ward Status Reason Close

17/00133/UNL Kayte Lane
Bishops Cleeve
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire

Unauthorised 
importation of waste.

06/09/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Bishops Cleeve 
Division

Case Closed Referred to 
District Council

17/00134/COND Shurdington Waste 
Recycling Site
The Sand Pit
Shurdington Road
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL51 5UR

Mud on the highway. 11/09/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Brockworth Division Case Closed Advice given

17/00135/COND Shurdington Waste 
Recycling Site
The Sand Pit
Shurdington Road
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL51 5UR

Noise and bleeper 
noise.

11/09/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Brockworth Division Case Closed Breach 
complied with

17/00136/COND Sand Pit
Bell Lane
Bromsberrow Heath
Gloucestershire
HR8 1NX

Unauthorised activity 
(importation of compost 
to mix with indigenous 
sand to produce top 
soil).

14/09/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Newent Division Complaint 
Received/Inv

estigation 
Started

17/00137/COND Sand Pit
Bell Lane
Bromsberrow Heath
Gloucestershire
HR8 1NX

Unauthorised skip-
waste operation.

19/09/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Newent Division Complaint 
Received/Inv

estigation 
Started

P
age 190



9

Complaint Number Site address Nature of Complaint Date 
Received

Officer Ward Status Reason Close

17/00138/UNL Barnhill Quarry
Speech House Road
Broadwell
Gloucestershire
GL16 7EG

Excessive bleeper 
noise.

27/09/2017 Nick 
Bainton

Coleford Division Case Closed Advice given

17/00139/UNL Grangefield Primary 
School
Voxwell Lane
Bishops Cleeve
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL52 8GL

Excessive School 
Noise

03/10/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Bishops Cleeve 
Division

Case Closed Referred to 
other County 

Dept.

17/00140/UNL Land At Kidnappers Lane
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire

Unauthorised activity.  
(Tenant/sub-letting 
matters.)

06/10/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Leckhampton And 
Warden Hill

Case Closed Referred to 
other County 

Dept.

17/00141/UNL Guiting Manor Farms
Road From Sheep Hill To 
The Square
Guiting Power
Gloucestershire

Unauthorised 
quarrying.

12/10/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Stow-on-the-Wold Case Closed No further 
action

P
age 191



10

Complaint Number Site address Nature of Complaint Date 
Received

Officer Ward Status Reason Close

17/00142/UNL Cotswold Hills Golf Club 
Ltd
Ullenwood Manor Road
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL53 9QT

Suggested use of 
unsuitable material

12/10/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Bourton On-the-
Water & Northleach

Case Closed Not 
substantiated

17/00143/UNL Land At 
Far Wells Road
Bisley
Gloucestershire

Deposit of spoil. 18/10/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Bisley & Painswick 
Division

Case Closed Referred to 
District Council

17/00144/COND Oxleaze Quarry
Hawling Road
Hawling
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL54 5AP

Extraction and 
restoration issues.

20/10/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Winchcombe and 
Woodmancote 

Division

Case Closed Subject to 
Minerals 

Monitoring 
Regime

17/00145/COND Jon Daunter 
(Chepstow Ltd)
Cannop Road
Parkend
Gloucestershire
GL15 4JR

Potential planning 
breach.

23/10/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Blakeney & Bream 
Division

Case Closed Advice given

17/00146/UNL Street Record
Wesley Road
Whitecroft
Gloucestershire

Unauthorised 
development.

23/10/2017 
11:58:00

Stephen 
Harris

Blakeney & Bream 
Division

Case Closed Referred to Glos 
Highways

P
age 192



11

Complaint Number Site address Nature of Complaint Date 
Received

Officer Ward Status Reason Close

17/00147/COND Clearwell And Stowe Hill 
Quarries
Stowe Green
St Briavels
Gloucestershire
GL15 6QH

Complaint of blast 
vibration.

02/11/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Sedbury Division Case Closed Not 
substantiated

17/00148/COND Clearwell And Stowe Hill 
Quarries
Stowe Green
St Briavels
Gloucestershire
GL15 6QH

Mud on the highway. 03/11/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Sedbury Division Case Closed Advice given

17/00149/UNL Land At 
82 Valley Road
Cinderford
Gloucestershire

Fly tipping and 
unauthorised 
development.

03/11/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Cinderford Division Case Closed Not a County 
Planning Matter

17/00150/COND Cotswold Hill Quarry
Ford
Temple Guiting
Gloucestershire
GL54 5RU

Wheel-wash not 
functioning.

03/11/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Stow-on-the-Wold Case Closed No further 
action

17/00151/UNL Tinkley Farm
Tinkley Lane
Nympsfield
Gloucestershire
GL10 3UW

Unauthorised mineral 
extraction.

15/11/2017 Nick 
Bainton

Dursley Division Case Closed Not 
substantiated

P
age 193



12

Complaint Number Site address Nature of Complaint Date 
Received

Officer Ward Status Reason Close

17/00152/UNL Dinglewell Infants School
Dinglewell
Gloucester
Gloucestershire
GL3 3HS

Unauthorised tree 
house/play platform.

17/11/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Barnwood & 
Hucclecote

Case Closed Referred to 
District Council

17/00153/COND Manor Farm Quarry
Washpool Lane
Kempsford
Gloucestershire
GL7 4NJ

Unauthorised extraction 
of mineral.

17/11/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Fairford and 
Lechlade On 

Thames Division

Case Closed Advice given

17/00154/UNL Stanleys Quarry
Greenway Road
Blockley
Gloucestershire

Allegation of 
unauthorised 
restoration activity.

20/11/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Fairford and 
Lechlade On 

Thames Division

Case Closed Not 
substantiated

17/00155/COND Thrupp Primary School
Thrupp Lane
Thrupp
Stroud
Gloucestershire
GL5 2EN

Unauthorised works. 20/11/2017 Marcus 
Sparrow

Minchinhampton 
Division

Case Closed Referred to 
other County 

Dept.

17/00156/COND Manor Farm Quarry
Washpool Lane
Kempsford
Gloucestershire
GL7 4NJ

Unauthorised mineral 
extraction.

22/11/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Fairford and 
Lechlade On 

Thames Division

Case Closed Advice given

P
age 194



13

Complaint Number Site address Nature of Complaint Date 
Received

Officer Ward Status Reason Close

17/00157/COND Manor Farm Quarry
Washpool Lane
Kempsford
Gloucestershire
GL7 4NJ

Complaint of standing 
water on the site.

23/11/2017 Linda 
Townsend

Fairford and 
Lechlade On 

Thames Division

Case Closed Advice given

17/00158/UNL Bream Sports Club
High Street
Bream
Gloucestershire
GL15 6JF

Mud on the highway. 30/11/2017 Stephen 
Harris

Blakeney & Bream 
Division

Case Closed Referred to Glos 
Highways

17/00373/IMPORT Land To The Rear Of 
Over Farm Market,
Over Gloucester
GL2 8DB

Importation of materials 
to agricultural land.

07/12/2017 Nick 
Bainton

Highnam Division Case Closed Case closed

P
age 195



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of previous meeting
	6 Members Site Visit
	2018 Extra Objections and  responses
	Points regarding site visit  18.01.18
	Planning addendum 2015

	7 APPLICATION NO: 13/0042/STMAJW SITE: LAND ADJACENT TO FOLLY FARM, KINGSWOOD, WOTTON UNDER EDGE, GLOUCESTERSHIRE GL12 7QX
	8 APPLICATION NO: 17/0082/STMAJW SITE: FOURWAYS FARM, WATER LANE, OAKRIDGE, STROUD, GLOS GL6 7PH
	9 DELEGATED DECISIONS BETWEEN 14TH JULY 2017 & 10TH JANUARY 2018.
	10 ENFORCEMENT SCHEDULE

